
_50TH CoNGRESS,} HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES. 
2d Session. · 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

{
REPORT 
No. 3685. 

JANUARY 12, 1889.-pommit,ted to tho Committee of the Whole House and ordered 
to be printed. 

lVIr. 1\fANSYR, from tlte Committee on Claims, submitted the following 

[To accompany bill H. R. 2249.] 

'l'he Committee on Claims, to whom was referred the bill·(H. R. 2249) 
for the relief of D. H. Mitchell, h:1.ve harl the same under consideration 
and report it back with the recommendation that it pass, wit,h amend­
ments. 

David H. l\fitchell, a resident of Leavenworth, Kans., was, prior to 
the year 18()8, at divers times a contractor of the Federal Government, 
fur tlw delh·cr,y of grain for the use of troops engaged upon our front­
ier. 1 t would seem from a mass of papers submitted that Mr.l\'litchell 
i.::; a rmtu of loose business habits and never kept his own accounts with 
tlw Government, but depended entirely npon the books kept and records 
mnde hy the n1rionR officers of the (~uarterma.ster's Department with 
wit om lie <1 i<l business; and in this report all statements of grain fur 
nh·dJ ·. d, t·xel'pt weights aml the times when and places where delivered, 
are tai\en from the various reports made by the officers of the Govern­
ment. 

Upon inquiring of Mr. Mitchell as to wily he kept no papers or ac­
counts he stated tllat prior to the difficulties that led to this controversy 
he had always found the reports of the officers of the Quartermaster's 
Department correct and satisfactory to him, and that he had simply 
drifted into tl1e habit of permittiug them to do all the book-keeping. 

l\lr. l\Iitehell elaims $1U,939.26 for corn delivered between November, 
1868, and May, 1869. 

The origin of this claim may fairly be said to grow out of a modifi­
cation of a contract entered into by Mr. Mitchell with the Government 
of the U11iteJ. States dated November 9, 1868, for the delivery of 16,000 
bushels of oats at Fort Harker, Kans., a copy of which contract may be 
seen in the appendix filed with this report. 

During that winter General Sheridan was preparing for a campaign 
against tl10 Indians of western Kansas, an<l was in need of large amounts 
of g-rain aml forage. and his necessities were imperative. Owing to 
bad weather and bad roads, it became impossible for Mitchell to get 
oats transported to the railroad fast enough to supply the demands 
of the Government. Mitchell had at that time large amounts of corn 
stored at various points along the railroad. Lieutenant Cook was act­
ing quartermaster as a substitute for Major Inman, who was at the 
time in the field with General Sheridan. 

Lieutenant Cook, with the knowledge and approval of Major In man 
~~uthorized Mitchell to :QJl tQ.e s~id co~tr~ct witq corll iiJ Heq. of oats, a 
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the same rate per pound that he was receiving for oats, it being con­
sidered at that time and in that country that a pound of corn was worth 
as much as a pound of oats. Pursuant to this instruction, Mitchell · 
shipped large amounts of corn to Fort Harker on the Union Pacific 
Railway. 

In January, 1869, Mitchell met Major Inman, the quartermaster at 
Fort Harker, and was informed by said Inman that Genentl Sheridan 
wished large amounts of corn to be furnished at Fort Harker for use in 
his then pending expedition against the Indians and authorized Mitchell 
to ship all the corn that B.e had to Fort Harker, and that the Govern­
ment would pay for it -at the same rate that he was then receiving £or 
oats, pound for pound, which was at the price of 87 cents for each and 
every bushel of 32 pounds of oats delivered and accepted. Pursuant 
to said instructions of Lieutenant- Oook and Major Inman, Mitchell pro­
ceeded to furnish from various stations along the railroad a large 
amount of corn at Fort Harker, and delivered from Fairmount, Will­
iamstown, Grantville, Leavenworth, and other stations thirty-three 
car-loads of corn, which were billed, under the uniform custom.of the 
railroad in regard to shipping, and the price of car-loads of freight, at 
18,000 pounds each, but from the evidence shown to your committee of 
Fred. Zimmerman, the forage-master of the United States, whose duty 
it was to receive and weigh all grain received by the Government at 
Fort Harker, also about one car-load additional, shipped in sacks at three 
different times with oats, your committee believe that said thirty-four 
cars contained in reality about 24,000 pounds to the car, making in all 
about 816,000 pounds of corn furnished by Mitchell to the Government 
at Fort Harker. The shipments of corn made by Mitchell as being in 
lieu of oats under the contract were disallowed by Quartermaster-Gen. 
~ral Easton on February 24, 1869, by special instructions from his head­
quarters at Fort Leavenworth, and Mitchell was required to fill out his 
contract with oats according to the terms of the written instrument, 
which 1\iitchell proceeded to do by furnishing 1G,OOO bushels of oats for 
which he afterwards received full pay. The corn that had been shipped 
to Fort Harker by Mitchell was consumed by the Government as fast 
as delivered. The entire amount of corn paid for by the Government 
was only 400,666 pounds, which was paid for by the Secretary of War, 
at the rate of $1.25 per bushel, and it was then agreed by the Secre­
tary of War that Mitchell might at any future time show what the corn 
had cost him, and he made protest against accepting $1.25 per bushel as 
full compensation; whereupon it was agreed that if he could show that 
the corn had cost him more than $1.25 per bushel of 56 pounds, he 
should be paid the excess of its cost, as well as a reasonable amount for 
profit and expense ; and on this ground Mitchell claims the further sum 
of $1,956.19. 

'l'he testimony appertaining to this claim is very voluminous and is 
mainly of record. The various statements of accounts rendered, finan­
cial exhibits, and partial statements of the Government from time to 
time seem to be conflicting and in almost inextricable confusion. There 
are many depositions, affidavits, and copied records enough to make 
a printed volume of 400 to 500 pages, and by reason of confusion 
in the purchase-books of the Government at Fort Harker and the 
mode and manner in which the items of purchase were recorded by 
Major Inman and his representatives for the time being, it is almost 
impossilJle to determine the exact amount of corn that was delivered. 
Your committee believe that the best mode to determine the amount 
that was delivered by Mr. Mitchell at Fort Harker is to take tl1e num-
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ber of car-loads shown to have been delivered by the railroad company 
for and on account of Mitchell to the Govcrnme11t authorities at Fort 
Harker. From the testimony of agents who are impartial and without 
any interest in the matter we believe that substantial justice can best 
be done by taking the estimate of the several car-loads at 24,000 pounds 
per car-load than in any other way. 

Many of tlte difficulties environing this case grow out of the fact that 
Mr. Mitchell, for a time, sought to claim that the corn was delivered to 
the Government under a modification of the contract of November 9, 
1860, which called for oats only. 

The position of tlte Government may be stated in the la11guage of a 
report made by Major-General Swayne to the Secretary of vVar, of date 
January 11, 1870, as follows: 

That the agreement of the acting quartermaster to receive corn in lien of oati:i, about 
the amount of which there is some doubt, was iu no sense binding on the United Sta.tes. 
The Court of Claims havt:J repeatedly held that the law of general and special agents 
is applicable to superior and inferior agents in the matter of contracts in their reL1-
tion to the United States and to tlle public. Tbe special agent can not exceed the reg­
ulations of Lis principal, nor tlle inferior officer the regulation~:! of his superior. 

The foregoing is conclusive in its applicatiou to this case, says Major­
General Swayne, and l1is report in its entirety was approved by the 
uonorable Secretary of vVar. 

Mr. Mitchell brought his suit in the Court of Claims to determine his 
rights in this matter, which suit was finally adjudicated in 188-. See 
vol. 19, Reports Court of Claims, p. 39, in which it was held as follows: 

There is but a single question of law involved, and that arises upon these facts 
concisely stated. The contract expressly provided that it -;hould he subject to the 
approval of both the commanding general of the Division of the Missouri and the com­
manding general of the Department of the Missouri. · It was so approved and was also 
approved by General Easton, the superior officer of General Card. It was clearly the 
purpose oftllat provision to secure to the high commanding officers a supervision over 
the matter and to control or prevent the making of such a contract on the part of an 
inferiorofficer, if they or either of them saw fit to do so. When thus made the con­
tract could not be afterwards altered by any officer inferior to those whose approval 
had been n~cessary in the first place to give it va1idity. They were the officer:; who 
were acting for the United States in giving the consent of the defendants to tbe terms 
of the contract, and none below them in authority had a right to change the terms of 
their agreement. And yet the post quartermaster at Fort Harker, ·who was bnt a 
receiving officer to take such oats as the contractor had agreed witl1 his superior of­
ficer to deliver at that post, entered into an oral agreement with the claimant tL~tt 
he might deliver corn instead of oats at the same price per bushel of 3~ pounds as ll.e 
was to be paid for oats. Upon this oral agreement thus made the elaimant relies as 
establishing the price to which he was entitled for all the corn delivered. 

In the South Boston Iron Company's Case (18 C. Cls. R., 165), W 6 held that this 
provision requires a formal written contract in every ca8e to be signed by the parties 
at the end thereof, and that not even written correspondence ·contaiuing proposals on 
the one side and acceptance on the other, separately signed by the re8pective parties, 
is sufficient to make a valid contract. 

It will thus be seen that the decision of the Court of Claims, how­
ever thoroughgoing and valuable as to technical and legal considera­
tions, by no means involves the justice of the claim as to any surplus 
over and above the 400,666 pounds of corn which alone is in controversy 
in this claim. The fact is patent that Mr. Mitchell, whether by due 
authority or not of the acting officers of the Government, in an emer­
gency both of time and peril to our troops upon the frontier, obeyed 

. their. directions and did furnish a large amount of corn, which was re­
ceived and used by the officers of the Government and, as your commit· 
tee believes, has not yet been fully paid for. For whatever amount may 
yet be found due for the corn thus furnished and used by the Govern-
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ment there can be no doubt that the dignity and honor of the G 
ment alike demand that a fair compen~ation for all the corn so furni 
should be paid, even at this date, to Mr. Mitchell. 

Your committee therefore shall not attempt to discuss the q 
whether the adjudication made by tLe Gm~erument on tllis 
Court of Claims was adequate or inadequate, or whether Quan,jf'.I"IIJ!f;lj 
ter-Genera1 Easton in his findings and instruction~ to his su 
officers to refuse to issue vouclwrs for it, as not beiug in compl 
with the contract to deliver oats, is correct or incorrect; or wileti.J.er 
surplus delivery at Fort Hays, amounting to 65,100 pounds, on a 
tract for the delivery of 10,000 l.mshels of corn maue tile same day 
the oats contract, at Fort Harker, should be paid for at contract 
or not; but we are content with the position that the Governm 
ing recPived and used Mr. Mitchell's corn, should in justice pay 
same, and this upon the doctrine of an implied assump~it iudepe 
of any written contract. (Burchill's Case, 4 C. Cis. R., 549; 
fiehl's Case, 8 C. Cls. R., 213; Solomon's Case, 19 Wall., 17, and 9 
Cis. H., 54.) 

This claim has been prolific of litigation. Mr. Mitchell was in 
in the Uuited States court of the district of Kansas under the cb 
of presenting fraudulent vouchers for corn delivered at Fort H 
which it was alleged had already bel'n paid for in the 400,066 
settled for by the Secretary of vVar at $1.25 per bushel. Mr. Mi 
was convieted and sentenced to pay a .fine of $1,000. Afterwards, 
an elaborate investigation by the authorities at Washington and 
the advice of the Attorney-General, Mr. Mitchell was pardoned by 
President of the United States and the $1,000 fine which he had 
was refunded to him, the Government being fully satisfied from its 
investigation that if there was ansthing in the conviction it was 
result of a mere error in presenting a voucher for corn at a time 
d.:..ting eertain payments made to him by the Government, and it 
a harmless mistake on th~ part of Mr. Mitchell, arising out of the 
as stated by your committee at the beginuing of tltis report, lhat Ile 
an unlettered man, kept no accounts, and depended almost entirely 
the books, accounts, and records kept by the Government tl:.rong 
Quartermaster Department; it being practically conceded by tile 
ernment, by the finding of its own officers upon the investigation 
by them, tLat, thnre were other large amounts of corn received by 
Government for which no payment had yet been made to Mr. Mi 
It may be also said that in 1872 Major Inman, the quarteru1 
charge, and under: or with whom all this business was done, 
awl court-martialed by the Government on charges of emue<~z;u~mtlP: 
and rrregnlarities in his book-keeping. 

Inasmuch as, according to the custom prevailing with your com 
no interest will be allowed to Mr. J\tfitcb.ell for the long p~riod of 
that has elapsed since the furnishing of this corn, your committee 
disposed to bf'. fairly liberal in its estimates of the amounts furuished 
of the price that was paid to him. · 

The hardest problem your committee have to solve in this case is 
amonnt of corn delivered by .Mr. Mitchell, and not yet paid for. It is 
mitted by 1\ir. Mitchell that he bas been paid for 400,66G pounds, at $1 
per busllel. ~.rilere are many couf:licting and contradictory statem 
certified to your committee, and comi11g from the propert.y returns 
:tvlnj. Henry Inman. In one place he states that the amount of corn 
ceived in the month of January, 1869, was 349,744 pounds. In 
it is given as 331,000 pounds. In other places a less amount is given/ 
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some statements no return is shown for deliveries of corn in the months 
of February and March, 1869, but in other statements returns are given, 
not unfrequently conflicting returns. The telegrams sent from Fort 
Harker at this period by the subordinate officers to their superior officers 
at Fort Leavenworth exhibit many conflicts with the property returns 
taken from Captain Inman's purchase-books. Therefore your committee 
have decided to discard all statements emanating from the books and 
property returns of Major Inman and adopt the car-load method of ar­
riving at the aggregate amount of grain shipped by Mitchell to Fort 
Harker. · 

We find from copies of bills of lading furnished by the Union Pacific 
Railroad that Mitchell shipped between November 21, 1868, and March 
6, 1869, twenty-six car-loads and 360 bushels of corn. We also find that 
John A. Gaston, in his deposition taken at Deadwood, Dak., December 
14, 1881, testifies twice that he shipped for Mr. Mitchell to Fort Harker, 
Kans., from Leavenworth, Kans., either seven or eight car-loads of corn, 
and reiterates the second time that he thinks this was before January 
1, 1869. He further states that all his books and papers were destroyed 
by fire, and that he can not produce records relating to this matter, but 
gives his testimony solely from memory. He testifies that his residence 
was Leavenworth, Kans., and that he was engaged in the grain business 
there at the time. A careful examination of all the bills of lading re­
ferred to (twenty-six full car-loads and several partial car-loads) show 
that they relate to corn shipped from other points in Kansas and none 
of them embrace corn shipped from Leavenworth. For safety, taking 
seven car-loads, the least number testified to by Mr. Gaston, added to 
the twenty-six full car-loads, including also the 360 bushels shipped in 
three different cars with oats, making about one car-load, that Mr. Mitch­
ell furnished thirty-four car-loads of corn in alL 

It is within the knowledge of divers of your committee that, in com­
mon parlance, 400 bushels of corn, at 56 pounds to the bushel, consti­
tute an ordinary car-load. This ofitselfwould be 22,400; but we have the 
positive evidence of Mr. Zimmerman that he remembers that these cars 
averaged 24,000; and when we consider that the evidence shows great 
difficulty in getting cars to use on the Union Pacific Rail way at that 
time, and the urgent press and necessity to ship it as rapidly as possible, 
we can see reasons that would induce heavy loading of the cars. In 
addition to this, we have this fact that Mr. Mitchell had shipped six 
car-loads of corn to Fort Hays on the same road, 70 miles farther out, 
and that he applied to Major Easton to buy this corn, which was in ex­
cess of a contract on Mr. Mitchell's part. Quartermaster-General Easton 
telegraphed back to take the same. This was on February 10, 1869. 
General Easton afterwards, on March 15, 1869, telegraphed back that 
when he agreed to receive six car-loads he meant at the rate of lading 
fixed by the railroad company, at 18,000 pounds-108,000 pounds for the 
six car-loads-and refused to authorize a voucher to be receh-ed for the 
quantity contained in the six cars over and above the 108,000. The said 
six cars actually weighing the amount of 173,600 pounds, which, divided 
by 6, shows that each car had about 29,000 pounds. 

It is true that General Easton states in his letter that this is a larger 
amount than can be loaded on a car; yet, it would seem, from his own 
letter, that the real reason why he declined the extra amount was that 
the price of corn at that time had fallen and that he could obtain it at 
a less cost than taking it at the price of the contract entered into with 
Mr. Mitchell. 
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Again, Col. Rufus Saxton, deputy quartermaster-general, on Novem­
ber 19, 1877, iu one of his reports in this case, states: 

Regarding the average weight of car-loads of grain received at Fort Harker, I con· 
elude from an examination of the items taken up that l!~orage-master Zimmerman 
must be in error as to what they averaged. His statement appears disproved by the 
fact that many entries to Mitcl1ell's credit on the purchase-book show quantities of 
graiu received (evideut.ly car-loads, one, two, or more ca1·s), which do not reach 1~,000 
ponuds, man~' tlta.t fall short of 20,000 pounds, and a very few over 2:3,000 ponuds 
(see lines 4, 5, 6, 7, 14, 15, 16, 17, and others). Many instances will be noticed (upon :in 
examination of my abstract), which will show they did not average 24,000 pounds. 
I do not think they averaged over 20,000 pounds. They were billed as 1~,000 pounds 
by the Kansas Pacific Railroad. 

Here is a distinct admission on the part of an officer of the Govern· 
ment specially appointed to examine this claim, that 18,000 is not cor­
rect, and evidently he thinks '' 20,000 pounds would be much nearer." 

Also as corroborative of the view that 18,000 pounds was not an ave-r­
age weight tor corn shipped, we quote from the evidence of F. C. 
Buckley, a Government contractor furnishing corn to the Government 
during this same period, to wit, 1868 and 1869: 

I was a Government contractor during the year 1868 and up to June, 1869. I hauled 
a great deal of grain during that time 'for the Government, and was familiar with the 
busim~ss. " .,. " At tllat time the cars were generally billed at 18,000 pounds and 
we were charged by the car, but we always put on what we could get on and got paid 
by the Government for what we had on the car; we frequently put on more sacks 
than the way-Lill showed. 

Also this extract from the evidence of Mr. Ege, station agent of the 
Union Pacifie Railroad Company at Fort Harker duriug 186S and 1869, 
to wit: 

Eighteen thousand pounns was the usual billing weight, but in most all cases the 
actual weight wal:l in excess of that amount. 

And M~jor Inman iu his evidence states as follows : 
Q. 16. State whether or not you know of any grain being on band on your return 

(i. e., from service in the field), or having been delivered in your auseuce to your de­
partment, the names of the deliverers unknown, and which had not been settled for 
lly the Government!-A. I think there was; it was a large amount. I have an im­
pression that it wa8. 

And again-
At the <late of the delivery of said voucher and previous thereto, Mr. Mitchell be­

came perHisteut for a larger amount than his voucher called for. 

This refers to voucher for December, 1868, and January and February, 
1869, for 352,009 pounds corn, a part of the 400,066 afterwards paid 
for. 

Again, Mr. Addison Jones, who in 1883 had charge of the freigllt 
records of the Union Pacific Railroad, testifies in his deposition, in re­
ply to the question, '' What was the true measure of the contents of a 
car a.t that time:" 

'l'he tariff book at that time accepted 18,000 pounds as a car-load. They often put 
as high as 26,000 and 29,000 pounds in a car. 

Your committee is aware that this finding is in conflict with there­
port of Chief (~uartermaster Saxon and others. Yet, we believe, under 
all the circumstances of the case, that it is the nearest approximation 
to the amount of corn actually delivered by Mr. Mitchell and used by 
the Government possible to make. 

It now remains to determine what shall be allowed, per bushel, for 
this corn. Mr. Mitchell claims $1.59 a bushel, on the basis that he 
slJ_ould receive the same pay for it as for oats. 
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Quartermaster-General Easton was only willing to allow him $1.01 
per bushel. It will be observed, from the tenor of this report, that your 
committee declines to enforce, as legal, the understanding reacheu be­
tween Mr. Mitchell and Lieutenant Cook, as ratified by Major Inman, 
but puts the liability of the Government upon the simple ground of au 
assumpsit, and that the Government having used the corn, should pay 
its reasonable value at that time for the same. Under these circum­
stances, your committee believe that the price per bushel paid for 
400,666 pounds of corn by the order of the honorable Secretary of War 
was just and correct, and the amount must be deducted from the total 
amount that may be found hereafter to be contained in the thirty-four 
car-loads; and under all the circumstances of this case, looking at it in 
a spirit of equity and justice for the Government and for Mr .. Mitchell, 
we believe this to be a fair price, and therefore recommend that he be 
allowed $1.25 per bushel. The claim then would stand as follows: 

Thirty-four car-loads, at 24,000 pounds each, make the amount of 
816,000 pounds; take from this 400,06fj pound~, for which he has been 
paid, and there remains 415,334 pounds, or 6,416 bushels and 32 pounds, 
which, at $1.25 per bushel, was worth $9,260.85. · 

This aspect of the case disposes of the claim of Mr. Mitchell for 
$1,!.>56.1!.>, which amount is not found in his favor. 

Your committeee also report adversely on the item $1,323.16, which 
amount it is-claimed by Mr. Mitchell was withheld by the Governmeut on 
a later contract of his for wood, delivered at Fort WaUace, Kans., in 
A. D.1875, as your committee do not find the preponderance of evidence 
in his favo;r to overturn the showing of the Government that he had 
been twice paid this sum, for the same corn, to wit, once as an inde­
pendent payment for corn, and again, for same corn as a part of the 
400,666 pounds paid for 'by order of the Secretary of War in January, 
1870. • 

Your committee recommend that the bill be amended by inserting in 
the first blank in line 6 the words, "nine thousand two hundred and 
sixty and eighty-five oPe-hundred," and again amended 'by striking 
out the word ''bushels," in said line 6, and substituting therefor the 
words" thirtv-four car-loads," and again amend by striking out in line 
7 the words ''and --- bushels of oats," and the other words ''under 
contract;" and that it be further amended 'by striking out all that part 
of the bill remaining, commencing on line 12, with the words, "and the 
farther sum, &c." · 



APPENDIX· 

COURT OF CLAIMS. 

D. H. MITCHEL ~ 
vs. No. 11940. 

THE UNITED STATES. 

This contract, made and entered into at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, on this ninth 
day of November, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty­
eight, hy and between B'v't Brig. Gen'l B. C. Card, ass't q'rm'r U. S. Army, acting 
chief quartermaster Department of the Missouri, for and on behalf of the United 
States of America, of the first part, and D. H. Mitchell, of the city anrl county of 
Leavenworth, State of Kan8as, of the second part, witnesseth: 

That the said D. H. Mitchell agrees to furnish and deliver at Hays City, Kansas, 
ten thousand (10,000) bushels old corn of the best quality, free from dirt, cobs, or 
other foreign matter, and securely sacked in good sacks; that he will deliver one­
third (t) of the quantity contracted for on or before November eighteenth (18th), 
one-third (t) on or before November twenty-seventh (2-:th), and the remainder on or 
before Deceml»er fifth (5th), 1868. 

And the said party of the second part further agrees that the said corn shall be 
subject to the inspection, acceptance, or rejection of the quartermaster at Fort Hays, 
Kansas, or such person or persons as he may designate,; and further, that if the corn 
presented for delivery under this contract ehall be of an inferior character to what 
is hereinbefore stipulated to be furnished by the said party of the second part, the 
said party of the second part shall thereupon forthwith furnish other corn of the 
proper cha.racter in place thereof; and that if default shall be made by the said party 
of the second part in the time of the delivery of the said corn, or in any of the pro­
visions of this contract, the said party of the first part shall have power to supply any 
deficiency that may exist by purchasing in open market, or in such manner as he 
may elect, and the said party of the second part shall be charged with the difference 
in cost. . 

And it is further hereby expressly stipulated and agreed by ancl between the par­
ties to this contract, that if default shall be made as foresaid, or in any other way, 
the said party of the first part shall have power to retain from the sum hereinafter stipu­
lated to be paid to the said party of the second part such amount as may be neces­
sary to indemnify the said party of the first part in the premises and against all and 
any defects and deficiency in the execution of the terms of this contract by the said 
party of the second part. 

The said party of the first part hereby agrees, for and on behalf of the United 
States of America, to pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the second part, in 
such funds as may be provided by the Government for that purpose, the sum of one 
dollar and sixty-nine cents ($lf0~) for each and every bushel of fifty-six (56) pounds 
of corn delivered and accepted in accordance with the terms of this contract, as fol­
lows, to wit: As often as the quantity of corn delivered and unpaid for amounts to 
two thousand (2,000) bushels or more, certified accounts therefor shall bo issued by 
tbe quartermaster at Fort Harker, which shall be paid by the chief quartermaster 
Department of the Missouri as soon as he shall have funds for that purpose; except 
that payment for the first one thousand 0:000) bushels of corn delivered under this 
contract shall be deferred until the contract is filled: (Provided, however, that the 
said party of the first part shall have the power to retain any or all of the money 
to he paid as aforesaid until the completion of this contract according to the true in­
tent and meaning thereof.) 

It is further expressly covenanted and agreed by and between the parties hereto 
that this contract is not assignable by the party of the second part; and, in caso of 

8 
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sncl1 nssignment, the party of the :first part shall have the option to regard the same 
as an abandonment thereof, and the said party of the second part, and his sureties, 
shall be held responsible for any loss or damage that may ensue to the said party 
of tue first p:ut by reason of such abandonment; and any sum or sums of money 
dne or to become due the said party of the second part by the United States of 
America shall he lteld and applied to satisfy snch damage. 

Upon mntnal agreement this contract may be changed, altered, modified, or abro­
gated in whole or in part. 

This eontract is subject to the approval of the commanding generals of the Depart­
ment ofthe Missouri and Military Division of the Missouri. 

It is expressly understood by and between the partiP.s to this contract that no mem­
ber of Congress shall be admitted to any share or part therein, or any benefit to arise 
therefrom. 

In witness whereof the said parties have hereunto set their hands and seals, on the 
day and )·ear first above writ!ien. 

Witnesses: 
0. (). SPOOR, 
CHARLES SPRINGER. 

BENJ. c. C~D. [SEAL.] 
B'v't Brig. Gen'l TJ. S. A., Acting Chief Q)1·m'·r Dep't. Mo. 

- D. H. MITCIIELL. [SEAL.] 

[Indorsements.J 

L1119, H'dq'rs Dep't Mo., 68.] 

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE Mo., 

Fort Leavenwm·th, Kas., November 19th, 18GB. 
Approved. 
By command of Major-General Sheridan. 
(Stamp:) Received Nov. 19, H:l68, Q. M. 0 Dep't Mo. 

Approved. 

Approved. 

w. c. E:c\iBRY, 
BTev. Lient. Colonel U. S. A., Acting ..dss't Adj't General. 

HEADQUARTERS M. D. lVhssounr, 
01l'FICE CIIIEI<' Q'RMASTER, 

Saint Louis, .Jfo., Nov'1· 23, H:l68. 

L. C. EASTON, 
Dept~ty Q'1·m'r General U. S. A., Acti1tg Chief Q'nn'r M. n. Jiissom·i. 

By c. w. 'fiiOl\US, 
B'v't Lient. Col. and ..d. Q. M., U, S . .A. 

HEADQUARTERS M. D. MISSOURI, 
Saint Lonis, Mo., Nov'r 23, 1868. 

By command of Lieutenant-General Sherman. 
W. A. NICHOLS, 

Ass't Adj't Gmieral. 
Bk. 13, W. 1417 ; Bk. 13, W 1458. 
(Stamp:) Received Dec. 4, 1868, C. Q. M. 0., Dep't Mo. 

"D" C 1112. C. 11 .Jan's, '70. Contrac1.or. Contmct. B'v't Brig. Gen'l B. C. 
Card, U. S. A., Acting Chief Q'rm'r, Dep't Mo., with D. H. Mitchell, for the delivery 
of 10,000 bushels corn at Hay's City, Kansas, dated November 9, 1868; bond, $6,000; 
sureties, Lncien Scott, D. vV. Sowers, Leavenworth, Kansas. 588 M. (M. D. Mo.), 
18();j, 124-1023. 

[Stamp:] Q'rm'r Gen's office. Received .Jul. 5. 

This contract, made and entered into at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, on this ninth 
day of November, in the year of our Lorrl one thousand eight hundred and sixty­
eight, by and between Bvt. Brig. Gen'l B. C. Carel, ass't q'rm'r, U. S. Army, acting 
chief quartermaster, Department of the Missouri, for and on behalf of the United States 
of America, of the first part, and D. H. Mitchell, of the city and county of Leaven-
worth, State of Kansas, of the second part, witnesseth: · 

That the said D. I-I. Mitchell agrees to furnish and deliver to the quartermaster at 
Fort Harker, Kansas, sixteen thousand (16,000) bushels oats of the best quality, free 



10 D. H. MITCHELL. 

from dirt, chaff, or other foreign matter, and securely sacked in good sacks; that he 
will deliver one-third Ct) of the quantity contracted for on or before November 
eighteenth (18th), one-third (t) on or before November twenty-seventh (27th), and 
the remainder on or before December fifth (5th), 1868. 

And the said party of the second part further a.grees that the said oats sJ1all be sub­
ject to the inspection, acceptance, or rejection of the quartermaster at Fort Harker, 
Kansas, or such person or persons as he may designate; and further, that if the oats 
presented for deHvery under this contract shall be of an infiwior character to what is 
hereinbefore stipulated to be furnished by the said party of the second part, the said 
party of the second part shall thereupon forthwith furnish other oats of the proper 
character in place thereof; and that if default shall be made by the said party of the 
second part in the time of the delivery of the said oats, or in any of the provisions of 
this contract, the said party of the :first part shall have power to supply any deficiency 
that may exist by purchasing in open market, or iu such manner as he may eJect, and 
the said party of the second part shall be charged wHh the difference in cost. 

And it is further hereby expressly stipulated and agreed by a:qd between the par­
ties to this contract that if default shall be made, as aforesaid, or in any other way, 
the said party of the :first part shall have power to retain from the sum hereinafter 
stipulated to be paid to the said party of the second part such amount as may be nec­
essary to indemnify the said party of the :first part in the premises, and against all 
and any defects and deficiencies in the execution of the terms of this contract by the 
said party of the second part. 

'l'he said party of the :first part hereby agrees, for and on behalf of the United States 
of America, to pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the second part, in such 
funds as may be provided by the Government for that purpose, the sum of eighty­
seven (87) cents for each and every bushel of thirty-two (32) pounds of oats delivered 
and accepted in accordance with the terms of this contract, as follows: to wit: As 
often as the quantity of oats delivered and unpaid for amounts to two thousand (2,000) 
bnshels or more, certified accounts therefor shall be issued by the quartermaster at 
Fort Harker, which shall be paid by the chief quartermaster, Department of the Mis­
souri, as soon as he shall have funds for that purpose, excet>t that payment for the 
first two thonsand (2,000) bushels of oats delivAred under this contract shall be de­
ferred until the contract is filled. (P1·ovided, however, That the said party of the first 
part shall have the power to retain any or all of the money to be paid as aforesaid 
until the completion of this contract according to the true intent and meaning 
thereof.) 

It is further expressly covenanted and agreed, by and between the parties hereto, 
that this contra-ct is not assignable by the party of the second part; and, in case of 
such assignment, the party of the. first part shall have the option to regard the same 
as an abandonment thereof; and the said party of the second part and Lis suretit·s 
shall be held responsible for any loss or damage that may ensue to the said party of 
the first part by reason of such abandonment; and any sum or snms of money due or 
to becGme due the said party of the second part by the United States of America 
shall be held and applied to satisfy such damages. 

Upon mutual agreement this contract may be changed, altered, modified or abro­
gated in whole or in part. 

This contract is subject to the approval of the commanding general of the Depart­
ment of the Missouri and Military Division of the Missouri. 

It is expressly understood by and between the parties to this contract, that no mem­
ber of Congress shall be admitted to any share or part therein, or any benefit to arise 
therefrom. 

In witness whereof the said parties have hereunto set their bands and seals on the 
day and year :first above written. 

Witnesses: 
0. C. SPOOR, 
CHARLES SPRINGER. 

Approved. 

BENJ. C. CARD, rsHAL.] 
Bvt. Brig. Gen'l U. S. A., Acting Chief Q'nn'r, Dep't Mo. 

D. H. MITCHELL. LSEAL.] 

[Indorsements.] 

[1119. H'dq'rs Dep't Mo. Co.] 

11940. 

HEADQUARTERs DEPARTMENT OF TrrE Mo., 
Fort Leavenwm·th, Kas., November 19tlt, 1868. 

By command of Major-General Sheridan. 
WM. EMBRY, 

B1·evet Lieut. Colonel U.S • .A., Acting .Ass't Adj'l General. 
[Stamp:] Received Nov.20, 18GS. Q. M. 0. Dep'tMo. 



Approved. 

Approved. 
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HEADQUARTERS M. D. MISSOURI, 
OFFICE CHIEF Q'RMASTER, 

Saint Louis, Mo., Not•'?' 23, 1868. 

L. C. EASTON, 
Deputy Q'rm'r Geneml U. S. .A.. 

Acting Chief Q'rrn'r, M. D. Missou1·i. 
By C. W. '.rnoMAS, 

Bvt. Lieut. Col. and .A.. Q. M., U.S . .A.. 

HEADQUARTERS M. D. MISSOURI, 
Saint Louis, Mo., Nov'1· 23, 1868. 

By command of Lieutenant-General Sherman. 

[Stamp:] Received Dec. 4, 1868. Q. M. 0. Dep't Mo • 
.Filed May 15, 1878. 
Rec'd., M.D. Mo., Nov'r 27, 1868. 

W. A. NICHOLS, 
Ass't .A.dj't General. 

"A." C.~ 1111. C. 11 Jan'y, '70. Contractor. Contract. Bvt. Brig. Geu'l B. C· 
Card, U. S. A., acting chief q'rm'r, Dep't Mo., with D. H. Mitchell, for the delivery 
of 16,000 bushels oats at Fort Harker, Kansas, dated November 9, 1868. Bond, $5,000. 
Sureties: Lucien Scott, D. W. Sowers, Leavenworth, Kans. 595M. (M. D., Mo.), 
1868. 12-1403. 124-1023. Bk. 13, W.1417. Bk. 13, W. 1458. 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 

Before Gen. R. Saxton, chief q. m., Department of Missot_Iri. 

DAVID H. MITCHELL ~ 
VB. 

THE UNITED STATES. 

Statement of claim. 

David H. Mitchel1, claimant, complains of the United States, and says that the 
Government is indebted to him in a large amount for corn furnished to the Govern­
ment at Fort Harker, Kansas, between November 9th, 1868, and April 20th, 1869, as 
follows: 

On the 9th day of November, 1868, Mitchell entered jnto a written contract with 
the Government to furnish to the Government, at Fort Harker, sixteen thousand 
(16,000) bmiliels of oats, at eighty-seven (87) cents per bushel, of thirty-two (32) 
pounds to the bushel, a copy of which said contract is hereto attached, marked 
Exhibit A, and made a part of this statement; that, in pursuance of this contract, 
Mitchell commenced to furnish said oats; that at the time a campaign was being car­
ried ou against the Indians, and the demands and necessities of the Government 
became imperative for an increased amount of -forage; that, owing to the condition 
of the roads through the country, it was impossible for Mitchell to get oats transported 
to thu railroad track·fast enough to supply the increased demand of the Government; 
that Mitchell had at the time large amounts of corn stored at various points along 
the railroad line, and could easily procure other large amounts; that Captain Henry 
Inman was chief q. m. of the department, with headquarters at 1T'ort Harker, but 
he himself was with the forces in the field, and his duties were being temporarily 
performed by Lieutenant Cook; that Lieutenant Cook instructed Mitchell to fill his 
said oat contract with corn, at the same rate per pound that he was receiving for 
oats, it. being considered at that time that a pound of corn was worth as much as a 
ponnu of oats; that, in pursuance of such permission and instruction of said Lieuten­
ant Cook, Mitchell proceeded to furnish a large amount of corn; that he shipped 
from Fairmount Station, on the Kansas Pacific Railroad, twelve (12) car-loads of 
corn; from Williamstown thirteen car-loads; from Grantsville two car-loads, as shown 
by the statement of S. F. Smith, auditor of the Kansas Pacific Railroad Company, 
which is hereto attached, marked Exhibit B, and made a part hereof; that three 
cars were shipped by one R. S. Griffith from Lawrence in his own name, but the same 
was shippeu on account of Mitchell, and received by the Government at Fort Harker 
on account of Mitchell (see affidavit of R. S. Griffith, market Exhibit C, and affi­
davit of rsaid Mitchell, marked Exhibit D); that one--- Burnell shipped four car­
loads of corn from Grantsville in his own name, but the same was shipped on account 
of said Mitchell1 and was received by the Government at said l!.,ort Harker on said 
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Mitchell's account (see affidavit of Mitchell, Exhibit D, and copy of telegram, marked 
Exhibit E, and made a part hereof); that said cars are marked in the statement of 
the auditor of the Kansas Pacific Railroad Company uniformly at eighteerr thousand 
(18,000) pounds per car, but Mitchell says that each car contained a much greater 
1mmber of pounds than that amount; that during the time said corn was being 
shipped and furnished one Fred. Zimmerman was forage master at Fort Harker, and 
it was part of his duty to weigh and receive said corn, and he did weigh and receive the 
.same, and the cars averaged twenty-four thousand(24,000) pounds instead of eighteen 
thousand (18,000) pounds (see affidavit of said Fred. Zimmerman hereto attached, 
marked Exhibit F, and affidavit of Mitchell, Exhibit D) ; that the number of car­
loads of corn furnished by said Mitchell during said time, as shown by the above­
referred-to exhibits, was thirty-four (34), with an average weight of twenty-four 
thousand (24,000) pounds to the car, making in all eight hundred and sixteen thou­
sand (A16,000) pounds of corn furnished by Mitchell to the Government at Fort Harker, 
under the arrangement of said Lieutenant Cook, and all of said corn was received by 
the Government and used by it. 

And Mitchell further says that he has received from the Government of the United 
States payment for four hundred thousand and six hundred and sixty-six (400,666) 
pounds of said corn and no more; that this payment was made at the rate $1.25 per 
bushel of 56 lbs. This payment was made by Captain Thomas, January 9th, 1870. 
See copy of voucher hereto attached marked Exhibit I (I not herewith). But Mitch­
ell further in this connection says, that by reason of a pencil memorandum appearing 
on the purchase books of said Captain Henry Inman it would seem that he, Mitchell, 
had received payment for forty-eight thousand six hundred and :fifty-seven (48,657) 
pounds more of this corn taken according to said memorandum to fill his said oat 
contract, but Mitchell thinks and believes this is a mistake, by reason of the fact that 
from said purchase book and the facts hereinafter stated it appears that he, Mitchell, 
at the time had on hand at said Fort Harker a large amount of oats not paid for over 
and above the full amount of his said oat contract. Hence Mitchell says that all he bas 
received pay for of said corn is as above stated, the amount of four hundred thousand 
six hundred and sixty-six ( 400,666) pounds paid for -as aforesaid by said Captain 
Thomas. This leaves a balance unpaid for of 415,334 pounds of corn, which, under 
the arrangement made by Mitchell with Lieutenant Cook, was to be paid for at the 
rat.e of eighty-scyen (87) cents per bushel of thirty-two (32) pounds. In bushels it 
would amount to 12,9791;;0 , which at eighty-seven (87) cents per bushel would in money 
amount to the sum of eleven thousand two hundred and four and -A/tr (11,204.90) dol­
lars, which sum Mitchell claims is due and owing to him. 

Mitchell further sa,ys that if the Government is not bound by the said arrangement 
made by Lieutenant Cook, that still in estimating what should be paid to him for 
the corn it is just and equitable to take into consideration the cost of the corn to 
him at t,he time, and he alleges that he paid for said corn on the track, freight to Fort 
H;trker included, on an average the sum of one dollar and forty-four cents per bushel 
of fifty-six (56) pounds, and that there remains unpaid for 7,416 bushels of fifty­
six (5G) pounds to the bushel which cost him in the aggregate on the railroad track 
the sum of ten thousand six hundred seventy-nine and -Pu'tr (10,679:-0~~) dollars. In this 
sum is included the freight to Harker, but not Mitchell's personal expenses, and 
nothing for his time or for reasonable profit. 

RECAPITULATION. 

34 cars, 24,000 lbs. each ..•••. ·-----·----·------ .••••. -------·- ..•••• ·----~ 816,000 
Paid for at $1.25 per bushel of 56lbs .•••••.•••••.••••• -----· .••••• ·--· -··- 400,666 

Bal. not p'd for in los ...•• ·----· •••. ··---· .•••• .' .••••. -----·----.... 415,334 

Being, in bushels of 32 los. each, 12,879-ik, at 87 cents per bushel, $11,204.90. 
Aecording to Lieut. Cook's arrangement with Mitchell this last sum of $11,204.90 

is due to Mitchell for corn not p'd for. 
In bushels of 56 lbs. each, this 415,334 lbs. of corn not paid for amounts to 7,416 

bushels, which at cost price to Mitchell of $1.44 per bush. am'ts to the sum of$10,679.04. 
Adcl to this pay for the time of Mitchell, and his personal expenses and a very 
small am'nt for his profits, and the courn would be worth $1.52:1- per bush. of 56 lbs., 
which is the exact am't Cook agreed to pay, and would am'nt to the same as 87 cents 
per 32lbs. 

Second. And for a second and further claim against the Government, Mitchell 
alleo-es that, when Captain Thomas paid him for 400,666 pounds of corn, as stated in 
the first count in this petition, it was paid for at the rate of $1.25 per bushel of 56 
pounds, while by the arrangement and contract between Mitchell and the Govern­
ment, as made with the said Lieut. Cook, he was io receive for the corn the sum of 
87 cents per bushel of 32 pounds, or $1.5)!:1- per bushel'of 56 pounds. And when the 
same was paid it was understood and agreed by the Secretary of War that Mitchell 
~ight q,t any f!ftun~ time show what t4e corn had cost him, ~nq. ~fit 4ad-cost hi!J1-
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more than $1.25 per bushel of 56 pounds, that he should be paid the excess, including 
a reasonable amount for profits and expenses. 

Aml Mitchell alleges that said corn, including freight, cost him $1.44 per bushel 
of 56 pounds, and that a reasonable amount added thereto for expenses and reason­
able profits, would make the corn worth, at the t.ime, $1.52-l- per lmshel of fiG pounds; 
and that the number of bushels of 56 pounds each included in the 400,6 ~5(i ponnds, 
was 7, 153, which, at $l.f>2t per bushel, would amonnt to the sum of $10,890.44, 
which is the amount li tchell should have been paid, but he was only paid at the • 
rate of$1.25 per bushel, which amounted to the sum of $8,941.25, leaving a balance 
due to Mitchell on said 400,666 pounds, of the sum of $1,956.19;. that sairl com was 
worth the said sum of $1.52t and had cost Mitchell $1.44 per bushel, exclusi Ye of rea­
sonable profits and his expense. (See affidavits of Mitchell, marked ExhilJit D.) 

Recapitula~·ion of a1n't paidfo·r by Capt. Thomas. 

400,666lbb. =7,154! bush. of 56 lbs., which was paid for at $1.25 per bush., $8,941.25. 
The same number of bushels at $1.521- per bush. w'ld have amounted to $10,891.06, 
which is the amount Mitchell should have rec'd under his arrang't with Lie at. Cook; 
or on the calculation of the actual costs of the corn, with an addit-ion of a small amt. 
for expenses and profits. Deducting, then, the sum of $8,941.25, the sum actual! y paid, 
from $10,890.44, the sum actually due, and it leaves a balance due Mitchell, on the 
400,666 lbs. partially paid for by Capt. Thomas, of $1,959.19, wbich sum Mitchell 
claims. 

Third. And for a third and further claim, Mitchell says that in1875 he had a W11od con­
tract with the Government to furnish 650 cords of wood, at Ft. Wallat:e, Kansas, at 
$17.00 per· cord, and that he furnished the wood under the contract and som.:-tuiug 
over, but that when the Government paid him for said wood it det:lucted from the 
amount coming to him, for the wood furnished, the sum of $1,324.57, which sum 
he bas never received; that, as he understands it, the deduct.ion was ma.cle on 
the theory that when Capt. Thomas paid Mitchell for 400,666 lbs., he pald him for 
48,657 1bs. more than was comming to him, and in settling the wood coutract the 
Gov. deducted the sum of $1,087 i5oOt1, from the am't due for the wood, that being the 
am't that 48,657 lbs. of corn would amt. to, at $1.25 per bush. of 56 lbs.; and the Gov. 
deducted the further sum of $237.07 from the am't due on sa!d wood contract, clai.ming 
that that sum had been overpaid to Mitchell, as follows: The pencil memorandum 
on Capt. Inman's purchase book indicated that 48,657 lbs. of the com had be.en taken 
to fill the oat contract, and paid for at the rate of 87 cents per bushel of 32 lbs., or 
$1.52! per bush. of 56lbs., being 27! cents per bush. more than was allowetl for the corn 
by Capt. Thomas. This ~7t cents excess so paid was deducted from the wood eont.ract, 
as ab'v' stated, and amounted to the sum of $237.07. Thus it will be seen that the Gov. 
deducted from the amount due on the wood contract, as above stated, the sum in the 
aggregate of $1,324.57. Mitchell, therefore, claims that sum as the balance due him 
on the said wood contract. He further states that he is confident that the Gov. was 
mistaken in relation to his having rec'd any pay for the 48,657, acd in the fact of any 
of the corn being taken to fill the oat contract; that he filled the oat contract with 
oats, and had a large bal. on baud not yet paid for, as hereinaft.er stated. 

Fourth. And for a fourth and further claim against the Government., Mitchell says 
that during the years 1867, 1868, and 1869, be filled various and sundry contracts 
with Government for furnishing oats and corn at Fort Harker, Kansas, and that he 
furnished a large amount both of oats and corn that he has never received any pay 
for. That during all of said time Capt. Henry Inman was chief quartermaster of the 
department, with headquarters at Fort Harker, and that said Inman at all times 
when he was at said Fort Harker, kept a private book in which he caused to be en­
tered all purchases made by him in behalf of the Governm~nt, and also of all pa,y­
ments made in such purchases. 'l'hat said hook was so kept until np to and including 
a portion of the month of October, 1868, at which time said Inman was cal1ed into the 
field on an Indian campaign, where he rema-ined until in April, 1869. That during his 
absence said purchase book was not kept, bnt the same was attempted to be be made up 
after his return from memoranda in the quartermaster's office, but that the business of 
the office had been conducted in such a manner during his absence that it w~ts impossi­
ble to tell whether said book was rightly made up or not for the t.ime of his absence. 
That the entries appearing in said book before the date be was called into the field 
were correctly made, and at the time of the purchase, and such purchases as were 
paid for were so marked in said book. 

And Mitchell says that it appears by said book and by and from the return of saicL 
Inman made to the Department at Washington during the time, that at the time he, 
said Inman, went into the field there was a large amount due to said Mitchell from 
the Government for oats and corn that had never been paid for and the same has not 
~leen paid for yet. 

And Mitchell further alleges t4ap q.u~'in;5 t)?.e t),bs~nce of saiq. :J:nJ:J?.a:q. i:q. p4e field1 4~ 
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furnishetl to the Government, in addition to the corn specified in the first count in 
this claim, a ]age amount of oats for which he never has received any pay. That the 
business of the department at Fort Harker was conducted in such a manner as for it 
to be impossible to tell what had been received, and from whom, but Mitchell says 
that the returns of said Inman made when he left, a,nd before he left Fort Harker in 
the spring of 1869, show that there was a large amount of surplus forage on band at 
said Harker that had never l1een paid for, and said Inman could not tell to whom it 
lJClongcd nor to whom the Government was indeuted for it. nd Mitchell says that 
the same or a large portion of the s;Lme hacl been furnished by him, and that on ac­
connt of the negligent manner in wl1ich the business had been conducted, he l1ad not 
received credit for it, but that an ins!Jection of sai<l purchase book and of I he returns 
of said Inman on file in the Department will show tha-t this large surplus or a grea.t 
vortion thereof belonged to him. In this connection we call attention to the entry 
in Capt. Inman's purchase book under date of Sept. 30, 1868, of 168,000 lbs. of corn, 
and to the others entries of corn and. oats for Sept. and Oct., 1868. 'l'his large am'nt 
does not appear to have ever been pa~d for. 

Recapitulation of claim. 

1st. lTnd~r the first count in the above petition and statement Mitchell claims pa.y­
ment for 415,334lbs. of corn furnisherl in lieu of oats, under contract of Nov. 9th, 1868, 
at H7 cents per bushel of~~~ lbs., or at $1.52f per bushel of 5() lbs., which amounts to 
$11,204.90. -

2nd. Under the second count be claims payment for balance due on the 400,666, 
partly paid for by Capt. Thomas, having been paid $1.25 per bushel of 56 lbs., when 
he- sh11nl<l have been paid $1.52t. The 400,666 Ius. amounted to 7,154 bushels of 56 
lbs. Re rcceive1l $1.2G per lmshel, being $8,941.2_5. He should have received $1.521 
per bushel nf 56 lbs., which woul<l have been $10,890.44. The difference between 
t.ltese two sums is still due him, being the sum of $1,959.19. 

:lrcl. Under tho third cotmt he claims the amount still due him on his wood contract 
with'eld for the rea,smts, as he understands it, stated in said. count, being in the ag­
g:·egate the sum of $1,:3.:.:4.57. 

4Lu. U11der the fourth count he claims such sum as a thorough examinatio:H of the 
acconn1 s, vonclJers, uooks, and papers of Cap. Inman, and the files in Q'm. Off. at Ft. 
Srllith, ~wd in Washington City in the 3rd Auditor's and other proper offices, may 
show tn be due to him on corn and oats not yet paid for. 

5th. He fmther claims iuterest on all sums found to be due to him from the elate 
the same should have beeu paid, at such rate as shall be equitable ancl just. 

And Mi tche1l prays for a thorongh and impartial investigation of all the matters re­
ferr·ed to in the above petition, as he feels confident that great injustice has been done 
him in tlte premises; and be also feels that in a fair settlement with the Government 
there will be found due to him a large sum of money. He is ready and willing to 
assist in any and all investigations, and will to his utmost endeavor to furnish any 
and all test,imony t.hat may be called for. He refers to exhibits hereto attached, and 
especia]Jy to the affidavits of the jurors, which explains itself. 

Hopit.g that tho matter will receive promLlt and careful attention, he now submits 
this his claim and statement. 

D. H. MITCHELL, 
Jo. W. TAYLOR, Att'y. 

EXHIBIT D. 

STATE OF KANSAS, Leavenwo1·th County, ss: 
David H. Mitci.Jell, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that he is the claimant 

named in the above and foregoing statement and claim against the Government of 
the U.S., ancl t.hat the matters and things in statement contained are true, as far as 
they are stated of his own kuowledge, and that that portion thereof stated on in­
formation and belief he believes to be true. Affiant further says that he has shipped 
large amounts of freight of various kinds on R. R., and that it is the custom to pnt 
in the cars 2,000 to 4,000 lbs. more freight than the am'nt allowed by the R. R. co.; 
that he personally superintended shipping a large am't of the corn and oats in the 
above claim referred to, and that he believes that the cars he loaded contained on an 
Average 24,000 los. and upwards. Affiant further says that he shipped and had 
shipped, as he believes, 34 car-loads of corn on said contract of Nov. 9, '68, and that 
the same was shipped as stated in the above statement. Affiant further says that the­
corn cost him $1.44 per bushel, as above stated, witltout allowing him anything for 
his time and personal responsibility aud trouble, and that the arrangement with 
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Lieut. Cook was that he was to receive for the corn $1.52 per bushell of 56 lbs., and 
t.hat tho corn was worth that sum when the same was delivered at Ft. Harker. Affi­
ant further Haye that Capt. Thomas only paid him at the rate of $1.25 per bnshell for 
tbe 400,(iG61u~. he paid for, and his right to receive the balance, to wit, the difference 
bet. $l.::!f> and $1.5~ was left open, and he claims said balance. Affiant further says that 
this claim is honestly made, believing that it is just, and that Gov. is imlP,btecl to him 
as ahoYe stated; that the whole mo.tter was pretty well ventilated in the trial of the 
case of the U.S. Gov.vs. David H. Mitchell, in tbe U.S. dist't c't at Topeka, :-tnd the 
affidavits of the jurors, herewith submitted, recites the facts in relation thereto. Am­
ant further says that he has been nnancially ruined by these contracts and the delay 
in get.ting his money on the same, ancl that he now submits this claim, hoping that 
the Gov'm't will do him simple justice. 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me this ::lOth day of Oct., 1877. 
[sl!;AI •• ] J. M. NIEHAUS, 

Notary Public. 



B.-Statement showing No. and initial of cm·s, etc., in service of grain shipments from various stations on Kans. Pacific Railway to Fort Hm·ker, ac. of 
D. H. Mitchell, 1868-1869. 

Date. 
~ 
<;.. 
~~ 

~ 

~ 
<:) 

""' 0 

0 
~ 

""' 0 

~~ 
~C) 

~ 
From- Consigner. %-

--- ·--·--·---1 1---------
1868. 

Nov. 21 22 
Dec. 23 36 

II 31 44 
17 2 
18 3 
24 5 
23 2 
29 4 

1869. 
Jaif!'Y ~~ 56 

57 
11 3 
11 4 
11 5 
15 6 ,, 

7 
20 9 
23 11 
23 12 
5 3 

11 6 
12 7 
13 8 
24 10 
22 11 
25 12 
18 9 

Febr'y 2 2 
II 6 3 

10 4 
1 1 
2 2 

1434 
1441 
1207 

1391 
1200 
1376 
1360 
1348 

1443 
1254 
1354 
1383 
1388 
11110 
1320 
1420 
1432 
1315 
1363 
1325 
1232 
1245 
1374 
1436 
1361 
1375 
1429 
1343 
1201 
1354 
1243 

K. P. 
" 

,, 

Griffith & D .............. 

1 

................ .. 

R. S. G ............. ,...... D. H. Mitchell .. 
...... do ......................... do ..•...•. . 

Fairmount .................. D.H.Mitcbell ............................ .. 
........................ do 
........................ do 

Wi1li,~msto~~::~::~:~:::::: :::: ::~~ ..... . 

Av., 719, '76. L. 2164, '76. 

Consignee. 

Lieut. Cook ..••••....... 
Q.M ................... . 
Lieut. Cook ........... .. 

A.Q.M ............... ~ 
...... do ............... .. 
...... do ................ . 
Capt. Kendall. ......... . 
Q.M ...... 

Description. 

Articles. 

145 sacks oats. 
156 do. 
150 do. . 
1~~} sacks corn ........... .. 
165 do. 
165 do. . .•........... 
165 s'ks shell'd do ......... . 
165 " ,, " 

" oats ............... .. 

165 " 
165 " 
165 ,, 
165 " 
165 " 
165 " 

" & 30 sacks corn. 

160 " .............. .. 
160 " " ............... . 
160 " " .............. .. 
165 " " .............. .. 
165 ........................ .. 

Weight. 

Lbs. 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 

18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 

18,000 
18, OO(l 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18.000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18, 000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18, 000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 
18,000 

~ 
0':1 

~ 

~ 

Is: 
~ 

1-3 
c 
~ 
t_%j 
t-t r 
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Personally appeared S. T. Smith, who being duly sworn, says that he is the auditor 
of the Kansas Pacific Railway C., and that the foregoing statement is true and cor­
rect to the best of knowledge and belief. 

s. T. SMITH. 

Mscribed and sworn to before me this 1st day of Dec., 1876. 
fsEAL.] JonN W. Gm:FFITrr, 

Notary Public. 

Cont. dated May 1st, 1874; efpires May 1, 1878. 

True copy. 

w. D., Q. M. G. OFFICE, 
Washington, April 28, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. M. Gen'l, U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) Exhibit B. No.2. Of cars shipt by D. H. Mitchell. 1039, War Dept., 
2,1877. 4-206, Qr. Mr. Gen'l Office. Received Feb. 10, 1877, with 3-li:i5, Q. M.G. 0., 
1t:l75; 694-ltl75. 

EXHIBIT F. 

STATE OF KANSAS, Leavenwo1·th County, ss: 
Fred. Zimmerman, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he was employed in the 

quartermaster department at Fort Harker, Kansas, from July, li367, until the mid­
dle of November, 1868, and from the middle of December, 1868, until some time in 
February, 1869, and assisted in weighing and receiving the grain at said post during 
that time; was acting as forage master from October 10, 1868, to the middle of No­
vember of 11:!68, and from the middle of December, 1868, until some time in Febru­
ary, 1869, gave his personal attention to the weighing and receiving grain at the for­
age yard at said post; that the cars containing grain averaged 2,400 lbs. in weight 
per car. 

FRED. ZIMMERMAN. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence this 5th day of December, A. 
D. 1876. 

[SEAL.] 

A true copy. 

H. R. PENDERY, 
Nota?'!/ Public. 

w. D., Q. M.G. OFFICE, 
Washington, Ap1"il28, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. M. Gen'l, U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) In re. D. H. Mitchell. N. 1039. War Dep't, 4, 1877. Affidavit of 
Freel. Zimmerman. 2-206. Q'r M'r Gen'l's Office. Received Feb. lOth, 1877, with 
6-185. Q. M. G. 0., 1877, & 6\:14-1875, 

STATE OF KANSAS, Ellsworth Co., ss: 

Henry Inman, being first duly ~;worn, deposes and says that during the fall of 
1868 and winter of 1868 and 1869 and spring of 1869 he was an officer in the U. 
S. Army, of the rank of brev't lieut. col. and capt. and assistant Q. M., ancl chief 
Q. M. of the district of the Upper Arkansaw, with headquarters at Fort Harker, 
Kansas; that during the fall of 1868 he was called into the field to accompany 
General Sheridan on the Indian expedition of 1868 and 1869, and remained absent 
from Ft. Harker during nearly all the time from October, 1868, until April, 1869; 
that he knows one David H. Mitchell who was then, and still is a resident of 
Leavenworth City, Kansas, and that during the month of November, 1868, and on the 

H. Rep. 3685-2 



lH D. H. MITCHELL. 

9th day of the month, said Mitchell entered into a contract to fnrnish to the Govern­
ment at Fort Harker sixteen thousand bushels of oats, at Hi cents per l>nKhell. A 
copy of which said contract is hereto attached, marked Exhibit A, and made a part 
hereof. That in pursuance of said contract, said Mitchell fnrnished a large quantity 
of oats, but, as affiant is informed and believes, owing to the state of the roads, and 
his inability to get his oats to the R. R. track as fast as the exigencies of the Govern­
ment demanded, an arrangement was entered into between him and Lieut. L. W. 
Cook, who was, during affiant's absence, acting in his stead, to t.he effect that said 
Mitchell was to fill his said oat contract with corn, and was to receive pay for the 
same at the same rate per pound as be was getting for oats under his said contract; 
that in pursuance of this arrangement, said Mitchell furnished corn, as is show·n hy 
my purchase-book, as follows: Dec. 31st, 1868, 41,870 lbs.; Jan'y 31, lf:l69, 283,221 * 
lbs.; Feb. 27th, 1869, 20,918 lbs., or a total of 400,666 lbs. of corn; that a forage re­
ceipt was given to said Mitchell for said amount by Gren. Thompson, who was at 
that time forage-master at said post. That afterwards affiant made out a voucher 
for the amount of corn delivered by said Mitchell during said time, under said con­
tract, and in said voucher deducted 48,657 lbs., leaving a balance of 352,009 lbs., 
which amount he inserted in the voucher, a copy of which is hereto attached, marked 
D. That the reason he deducted the 48,657 lbs. was, because Mitchell was paid for 
that amount of the corn furnished as oats-that is, 48,657 lbs. was taken of the corn 
furnished and considered oats-leaving a balance of 352,009 of corn. Mitchell was 
paid for this last amount by Capt. Thomas, at Washington, D. C., ou Jan'y 12, 1870, 
as affiant is informed. Affiant further says that this corn was furnished d tuing affiant's 
absence, and he has no means of knowing the exact amount of corn furnished by 
said Mitchell; that the figures above were taken from his "purchase- book," a pri­
vate book kept by him, in which, when he was present, attending to the duties of 
his office in person, he caused to be entered a memoranda of all purchases made by 
him, on behalf of the Government, and of all property furnished to the Government 
from all sources of purchase; but that during his absence in the field, as above stated, 
said book was not kept at all, but that after his return, in the sprin·g of lSGn, and 
about the 1st of April, 1869, he commenced to attempt to straighten his accounts, 
and caused said purchase-book to be made up, and the same was made up at that 
time, and after all the corn and oats had been furnished by Mitchell, from memoran­
dums and reports found in affiant's office, and filed there by the forage-master, as 
affiant supposed; but affiant says that his accounts were kept so negligently, and such 
irregularities occurred during his absence, as to make it impossible for him ever to 
get them straightened np in any satisfactory manner, and that he can not to-day tell 
anywhere near how they do stand; that it is quite possible said Mitchell may have 
furnished large amounts of corn that do not appear in said purchase-book; the mem­
oranda and reports of the receipt of which, with weight, may have been lost or mis­
placed, and affiant does not think said purchase-book is entitled to credit as being 
proof that said Mitchell furnished no more corn than the amount therein shown. Af­
fiant further says that he was present at the trial of the case of the U. S. vs. said David 
H. Mitchell, at Topeka, in April last, and heard all of the evidence in the case, and 
that after hearing the evidence and ascertaining the number of cars shipped by said 
Mitchell to said Harker, during said time, and having thought the matter carefully 
over since, he is of the opinion that said Mitchell did furnish a large amount more 
corn than the 400,666 above named; and affiant is confirmed in this belief, and his 
belief almost made certain by the following fact, to wit: That Abstract "A" of one 
of his monthly reports for the spring of 1869", shows a large amount of corn fed out 
by the Government, and received from some person unknown to him ; affiant can not 
state the exact amount, but it was a very large amount, and the abstract will be. 
found in his reports for, probably, the month of April, 1869J in the 3rd Auditor's 
Office. At the time, affiant could not tell to whom it belonged, and has now good 
reason to believe that it may belong to said Mitchell. The amount, as affiant re­
members it, was from six to nine thousand dollars' worth; but affiant can not state 
nearer. Affiant further says that during the whole of said time, the exigencies--of 
the Government demanded a large amount of forage, and that aU of the corn and oat.s 
furnished by said Mitchell was fed to Gov't animals, as shown by affiant's paper. 
Affiant further says that after said Mitchell had furnished the corn, Col. Ea.ston re­
fused to pay for it as oats, and compelled said Mitchell to fill his contract w1th oats, 
which he did, except 48,657 lbs., which said amount was made up of corn, as above 
stated. Affiant further says that Exhibit "B," hereto attached, is a~ abstract fro~ 
affiant's said purchase-book, and shows all of the corn and oats delivered by sa1d 
Mitchell, at said Harker, at the various times therein stated, as the same appears on 
said book, and that the forage receipt for 400,666 lbs., and the voucher for 352,009 

*This delivery was, as shown by purchase-book 33l,i:i78, out of which is deducted, 
as hereinafter stated, 48,657. · 
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lbs., each comprise the same deliveries, and were each made for the said book, as 
above stated. And affiant has never given said Mitchell any other or further voucher 
for corn delivered during said time. 

HENRY INMAN. 

Subscribed in my presence, and sworn to before me, this 7th day of July, A. D. 1876. 
[SEAL. J IRA E. LLOYD, 

True copy. 

Notary Public, Ellsworth Cmmty, State of Kansas. 

'tV. D., Q'R M'R GEN'S OFFICE, 
Washington, .Ap1·il 28, 1877. 

HENRY C. HoDGEs, 
Dq1. Q. M. Gen'l, U. S. A. 



Dateofpu,. l 
chase-. 

EXHilliT B. 

P1wchases on accotmt of the United States by Brevet Major Inrnan, A. Q. JJI., U. S . .d., at JJ'm·t Leavenworth, K(tnsas. 

Ptice. .Amount. 

From whom purchased. .Articles. Remarks. 

Dolls. I Cts. ! Dolls. I Cts. 

----1 1--1--1--1---------------
1867. 

Sept. 30th 

0~·~· 
Nov. 

24" 
31" 
6" 
7" 

19" 

Dec. 

21" 
23" 
24" 
27" 
29" 
18" 

1868. 
J'an'y 16" 

" 18" 
" 21" 

Feb'y 3" 
" 5" 

March 27" 
Sept. 2" 

H 25" 
30" 
"" 

November 1 

D. H. :Mitchell ..... , 7000 bushels corn ...... 67 I 105~1 00 

D. H. Mitchell ..................... I 3000 bushels corn .................... , • • . 1 67 4509 00 
D. H. Mitchell ..................... ,133738 lbs. corn .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. • • .. .. . . .. . 1 67 358~ 43 
D. H. Mitchell .. .. .. . ... • • • • .. . .. . . 20295 '· " .... .. .. • .. .. • .. • .. .. .. .. . 1 67 605 22 

" ..................... 36880 " " ........ .... ...... .... . ... 1 67 1099 81 
D. H. Mitchell ......•...••.•..••... ,14575 " " ___ ,...... ............ .... 1 67 434 64 
D. H. Mitchell ..................... 20175 " " .. -....................... 1 67 601 64 
D. H. Mitchell . .. • .. . .. .. .. . .. .. .. . 8023 " " - •• .... • .. . .. . .. . .. . .. . .. . 1 67 239 25 

" 20250 " .. -............. .. .. .. . . .. .. 1 67 603 88 
D. H. ~itchell 

D. H. Mitchell ... .. 
D. H. Mitchell ..... .. 
D. H. Mitcbell ................... .. 
D. H. Mitchell 
D. H. Mitchell 
D. H. Mitchell 
D. H. Mitchell 
D. H. ~itchell 

D. H. Mitchell .•.•.. 
D. H. Mitchell 

. D. H. Mitchell 
D. ~· Mi:,chell ..•...•........ 

D. H. Mitchell .•... 
D. H. Mitchell ..... . 
D.H.Mitchell .................... . 
D. H. Mitchell ................... .. 
..... do .......................... . 

D. H. Mitchell ...... . 

20335 " " --~...................... 1 67 606 41 
572(} " " --........... ............ 1 67 170 57 
22570 " " -------··· ............... 1 59 640 8:3 
38530 " " --........... ...... ...... 1 59 1093 97 
22315 " " • .. . .. .. .. .. . . . . .. .. .. .. .. Bus. 1 59 633 58 
43300 " " .......................... Bus.1 59 1229 41 
203970 '.' " ---....................... 1 59 5791 29 
101140 " " ,_... ...... ....... ... .... 1 59 2871 65 
10000 " .. .................. ........ 1 59 283 93 
1716 " " .... .. .... .. .. .. .... .. .. .. 1 59 48 1 72 
28970 '' oats ....................................................... . 

38570 " corn............................ 1 59 1095 1 11 
42190 •. " ...... ..... :.......... .... 1 59 1197 89 
110882 .. " ...... ...... .... ...... .. .. 1 59 3148 25 
8172 " " .... .. ... .. .. .. .. . .. .. .. .. Bus. 1 59 232 02 
6512 '· " .. .. .. .. • . .. . .. . .. .. .. .. .. " 1 59 18·~ 90 
28970 •· " per bus . .. . .. .. . .. . .. .. .. 1 59 822 54 
54766 pounds corn, 977.54. ..... .. .. . ...... 1 28 1251 75 
21240 lbs. oats...................... . .. .. . . .. . . .. . 65 431 43 
20!80 " " ................ ............ ........ 65 416 00 
168000 " corn, 3000 bus................... 1 28 3840 00 
396-:h bush. oats.......................... ... .... . 65 257 57 

Contract dated Sept. 17th, '67, for 15000 bus.; 
10% retained. 

Contract incomplete; 10% retained. 
Contract. 
Co~~ract inco~.plete. 

Do. 
Do. 

Contract. 
Completing contract for 15000 bushels. 
Contract for 15000 bushels. 
Contract. 

" 

Contract. 
" 

On contract. 

~~ con,~ract A;pg. 1,~· 

.Aug. 17, f'r 1700 bu. new corn 
(cont. complete). 

f'..!) 

0 

!=' 
!II 
~ 
1-1 
t-3 
C':l 

~. 



November25 
December 31 

" 30 
1869. 

D. H. Mitchell············· .••..•. ·! 19580 lbs. oats, 611U bush ...•.• ·······.··· ~ -- .. ·--· ~ 87 1 532 1 33 
D. H. Mitchell ..................... 1 36100 lbs. " 1128-:~~ " .... .. .. •• • •• • • .. .. . .. . .. 87 981 47 
D. H. Mitchell . • • • • . . . • • . . . . . . . . . .. 41870 " corn, 747U " ............................................ . 

Ta,~uary 30 J• " " ..................... 331878 " corn, " 

On contract Nov. 9,16000 bush. 
" " Nov. 9, f'r 16000 bush. 

On contract Nov. 9, f 'r 16000 bush. 
L ess 48057 lbs. used to fill oat contract of 

Nov. 9. 

Feb'y 
:March 

31 I D. H. Mitnhell ..................... 

1

55654 " oats, 1739/>I " . . . . • • • • • • .. • • • • . . • • .. • .. 87 1513 09 

27 D. H. Mitchell ..•.•......••••...... 1 26918 " corn, 480U " 
31 D. H. Mitchell . .. • • .. • . .. . . .. . .. . . . 289690 " oats, 9052U 

D. H. Mitchell • • • • .. .. • . .. • • .. • • • .. 28970 " corn, 517H 

••••••••• ........ 
1·--····· l"""87" 1"'7875'1""'95'1 On contract, Nov. 9, 1868, f 'r 16000 bush. 

59 822 36 

True copy. 

W. D., Q. M.G. OFFICE, 
Washington, April28, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. M. Genl', U.S. A. 

~ 

~ 

~ 
c = t;l:j 

F 

tC ..... 
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I 
nate of pur­

chase. 

1868. -
Dec'r 30th. 

1869. 
Jan'y 30 '' 
Febr'y 27 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

EXHIBIT D.-No. 12. 

The United States to D. H. Mitchell, D1·. 

Dolls. 

For 747U bushels corn (41879 lbs.) .................... .. ....... . .. . 

5057{t (283221 lbs.) .......•.•••............... . ... . 
480H (26918) . .............. . .. . .......... . . . .. . .. . 

Purchased on account of Nov. 9, 1868 ........... . ...................... . 

-----'--- --·----------------------------· - ··-

I certify that the above account is correct and just, and that the articles b:tve been 
accounted for on my property return for the months of Dec'r, 1868, aml Jan'y aiHl 
l"eb'y, 1869. 

HENltY INMAN, 
Bvt. Lieut. Col. and Ass't Quarterrnaster. 

Received at---, the-- of---, 11:36-, ------,quartermaster United 
States Army, the sum of--- dollars and--- cents, in full of the above account.. 

D. H. MITCHELL. 
(Signed in duplicate:) 

True copy. 

w. D., Q. M. G. OFFICE, 
Washington, Ap1·il 28th, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. M. Gen'l, U. S . .A. 

(Indorsed:) No.3. Mr. D. H. Mitchell. Voucher 1039. War Dep't. 1877. With 
5-185. Q. M.G. 0., 1877. 694. 1875. 

THE STATE OF KANSAS, Leavenworth County, ss: 

We, th'e undersigned, do hereby make oath, and do under oath say, that we were 
jurors in the trial of the case of the United States against David H. Mitchell, tried 
before the district court of the United States for the district of Kansas, for the April 
term, A. D. 1876; that it was shown in that case tbat the said David H. Mitchell hacl 
delivered under contract and orders from the proper military authority at Fort Harker, 
ouring the winter of 1868-'9, a large quantity of corn, for which there did not appear 
any evidence of payment or satisfaction, to wit: There was evidence tending to sbow 
that 792,000 lbs. of corn were delivered by Mr. Mitchell during said months of No­
vember aud December, 1868, and January and February, 1869, and there was no evi­
dence produced on the trial of the payment of any amount over 400,6li6lbs. of corn; 
and the undersigned further say that the verdict in the case was based on the fact that 
the claim (for presenting and swearing to which Mitchell was indicted and tried) set 
forth the exact items for which he was previously I'aid, and which were inclu(led iu 
the payment for the 400,666 lbs. voucher or claim, and the verdict in this case was 
based on this fact, and not on any evidence that the Government had paid him for all 
the corn which the evidence showed that he had delivered to the United States at Fort 
Harker. 

The under£igned further say that there was evidence admitted by the Government 
tending to prove that Mitchell delivered the entire amount herei·nbefore specified, to 
wit, 79~,000 lbs., the evidence showing payment for 400,666lbs., and if the difference 
between these two amounts has not been paid for, we believe, nuder the evidence, 
that Mitchell has yet a just claim for that amount. We desire to ue undcr,tood plainly 
in our statements, that the result of the trial came from the fact that the claim was 
for vouchers already paid, and not from the fact that the Government was not indebted 
to him, for we believe, as before stated, that the evidence shows the Government in­
debted to Mitchell for the difference between 792,000 lbs. and 400,666lbs., which woulu 
be 301,334 lbs., less 48,657, which was shown to have been paid in the oats contract 
aud voucher. 'fhis would leave tho net difference 342,677 lbs.~ and for this amount, 
to wit, 342,677 lbs. of corn, Mitchell ha~, according to the evidence, a valid claim 
against the Government. There was uo evideace introduced on the trial tending to 
show any payment to Mitchell for this amount; whether it has lJeen paitl or uot the 
undersigned do not pretencl to know or say, bot if not paid, Mitchell, according to 
to the evidence, is entitled to payment therefor. 
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Again we desire to say, to avoid misunderstanding, that the jury did not dec~<l(J by 
their verdict thaL Mitchell had no just claim against the Government, but only tlat he 
was not entit,Jed to payment for the item~:~ specified in his voucher, and for th1: pres­
entation of wbiell he bad doubtless violated the law. 

C. Rl<:ASONER, I!'oreman Jvry. 
JOHN H. STRINGFELLOW. 

Subscriuefl in my presence and sworn to before me by C. Reasoner and J...,hn H. 
Stringfellow, t.hiH 3d day of May, A. D. 1876. 

[Sl~AL.] J. L. BERRY, 
Notm·y Public. 

CHESTER THOMAS. 
DENNIS JONES. 

Snbscribcd in my presence and sworn to before me by Dennis Jones, this 12th d"y 
of May, A. D. 187G. 

[SEAL.] HAMILTON ELLIS, 
Nota1-·y Public. 

STATE OF KANSAS, Wyandotte County, ss: 

Personally appeared before me, a notary public within and for said county and 
State, Phillip Knoblock, whose name is subscribed to the foregoing affidavit, and who, 
being first duly sworn acconling to law, deposes and says that tho affidavit thereto 
subscriucd is true according to his best knowledge and belief. 

PHILIP KNOBLOOK. 

St1bscribed and sworn to before me, this 26th day of May, A. D. 1876. 
[SEAL.] . W. J. BUCHUN, 

Notary Public. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by J. A. Fligor, this 26th day 
of May, A. D. 1876. 

[sgAL.] A. J. CAMPBELL, 
Justice of the Peace of Delaware Townsh·ip, 

Wyandotte County, State of Kansas. 
J. A. FLIGOR. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by M. H. Brown, this 27th day 
of May, A. D. 1876. 

[SEAL.l w. M. RICE, 
Notm·y Public. 

F. W. WILLARD. 

Snbscribetl in my preseuco and sworn to before me by F. W. Willard, this 29th day 
of May, 187(i. • 

[SEAL.] HAMILTON ELLIS, 
Nota1·y Public. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by A. D. Stone, this 6th day 
of June, A. D. 1876. 

True copy. 

CHARLES SHEDD, 
Nota1·y Public. 

W. D., Q. M.G. OFFICE, 
Washington, .Ap1'il28th, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. M. Gen'l, U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) No. 1. 1039. War Dep't, 1. 1877. Q'r M'r Gen'l's Office. Received 
Feb. 101ih, 1877. 5-20G. With 2-185. Q. M. G. 0., 1877, & 694-1875. Statement of 
the jury. 

STATE OF "KANSAS, Leavenworth County, ss: 
We, the 11mlerRigned, do make oath and say that we were jurors in the trial of 

the case of the United 1::\tates against David H. Mitchell, tried before the district 
court of the United States for the dio~trict of Kansas, for the April term, A.. D. 1876; 
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that since the said trial we have read the papers duly certified to by Lot M. Morrill, 
Secretary of the Treasury of the United States, dated the 27th day of July, A. D. 
1876, with the seal attached, and say, had the same been produced and read on the 
trial of said cause, we would have given a different verdict, and we would have 
found the defendant "not guilty." 

We give this statement freely and cheerfully, with a view that Mr. Mitchell may 
ohtain executive clemency from the President of United States, which we believe he 
is justly entitled to. 

JOHN H. STRINGFELLOW, M.D. 

Snbscribed and sworn to before me, this 9th day of December, A. D. 1876. 
[Sl<,AL.] PETER S. NOBLE, 

Notary Public. 

STATE OF KANSAS, Shawnee County, sa: 
W. G. Souther, being dnly sworn, says that he was one of the jurors in the case of 

the United States vs. D. H. Mitchell at the April term of the U.S. district court, A. 
D. 1876, and that the question of account between said Mitchell and the United 
States was not considered by the jury; that he has since examined certain vouchers' 
and statements furnished to said Mitchell from the Auditor's Office at Washington, 
and says that such vouchers if presented to tho jury at the time of trial would have 
causecl in affiant's mind a different view of the case, and have led him to give a dif-
ferent verdict. · 

G. w. SOUTHER. 

Sworn to this 11th day of December, 1876, before nte. 
[SEAL.] . ELIAS SHULL, 

Notary Public, Shawnee Co., Kans. 

I concur in the above statement, having also been a juror in the case, after reading 
he same. 

[SEAL. J CHESTER THOMAS. 

ELIAS SrruuJ, 
Nota1·y Public, Shawnee Co., Kans. 

The original of the above is on :file in the office of the Att'y Gen'l among the papers 
of the ap'lication of Mitchell for his pardon. 

True copy. 

w. D., Q. M. G. OFFICE, 
Washington, Ap1·il 2r3th, 1877. 

HENRY C. HODGES, 
Dep. Q. BI. Gen'l, U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) War Dep't, 5-1877. Second affidavit of jury. Q'rm'r Gen's Office. 
Received Feb. lOth, 1877. With 7-185. Q. M.G. 0., 1877 & G94-ltl75. 

(Indorsed:) D, 4831. C. Q'rm'r Dep't Mo. Received Kov. 7, 1877, October 30, 
1877. 6-1629. Q'rm'r Gen's Office. Received Dec. 4, 1877. vVith 9-621. Q. M.G. 0.~ 
1878. D. H. Mitchell, of Leavenworth, Kan. 2179. Petition and statement relative 
to amount due him for corn furnished the Q'rm'r Dep't at Fort Harker, K's, (luring 
the years of 1868-'69. 11940. Filed May 15, 1878. J. R. 

-\ 
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I hereby certified that I have personally made a comparison of the foregomg paper 
with the original record in the Book of Purchases of Captain Henry Inmau, late A. 
Q. M., U. S. A., and find that this is a true and correct extract from the said Book of 
Pnrcbases. 

[SEAL. J w. M. PINKSTON, 
Notary Public. 

Certificate of Secretary of State to official character as notary ou file iu offices of 
Qnartennastcr-General and Third Auditor 'l'reasnry Department. 

(Indorsed:) E. Q'rrn'r Gen's Office, received Dec. 4, l d77. 2-1G27 with 10- 621. Q. 
M.G. 0., 1.-·m::l. Certified extract from'' Purchase Book" of Capt. Henry Inman, late 
A. Q. M. 2179. War Dep't, 7, 1877. 11940. Filed May 15, ld78. 

LEAVENWORTH CITY, January 19th, 1878. 
The Hon. the SECRETARY OF WAn, 

Washington, D. C.: 
DEAR Sm: I snlnnitted my claim for corn furnished at Ft. Harker, Kansas, to the 

Government in lb67-'68 and '69: to the Secretary of 'Var February 5th, 1877, andre­
questing said Secretary to send the matters and things in said claim contained to Gen. 
R. Saxton, chief quartermaster, Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, to report and investigate 
tile same. 'l'bat in pursuance of said request the Secretary of War referred the mat­
ter to said Saxton. General Saxton afterwards made a report and statement and for­
warded the same the same to the Quartermaster-General at Washington. Before for­
warding said report and statement he refused to 1et me see and inspect the same, and 
has and still does so refuse to let me see the same, or furnish me a copy of the said 
report and statement, or inform me of the contents of the same. I do not know what 
the said report and statement contains, and would most respectfully ask that General 
R. Saxton be requested and instr'cted to furnish me a copy of the same, at his earliest 
convenience, so that if I should deem it necessary to offer any further evidence or 
proof in reference to the matter, that I might have an opportunity so to do. 

Please find enclosed letter of Gen. R. Saxton, which will explain itself. 
I am, sir, very respectfully, yours, &c., 

DAVID H. MITCllEJ,L. 

(Indorsed:) 8:~5. War Department. Received Jan. 23, 1878. Wit.h 621. Q. M. 
G. 0., 1d78. 1Li7. M. C. Qr Mr Geu's Office. Receiveu Jan. 29, 1878. Leavenworth, 
Kans., January 16, 1878. David H. Mitchell requests that he may be furnishr:!d with 
a copy report made by Gen. R. Saxton, dep. qr'm'r gen'l, in the matter <)f his claim 
for grain a.lleged to have been delivered at Fort Harker, Kansas, in 1867, '6t:l & '()9. 
One enc. Q. M. Gen'l. With 2179. W. D. 1877. 3619-1877. T-75--11940. .Filed 
May 15, 1878. 

The Hon. SEc. OF WAR, 
Washington, D. C.: 

LEA YENWORTH, KANSAS, J!'eb'y 18t!t, 1878. 

I have the honor to invite attention to my letter of la:st month, asking for a copy 
of the report of the investigation of my case for grain furnislled at Fort Harker rlur­
ing the years of Ul68 &. 1t:lG9, made by Geu'l Rufus Saxton, chief qr'm'r Dept. of Mo., 
in pmsuance to your orders. The copies askeu for have not been received~ antl I 
would respectfully request that the copies asked for may be furnished as soon ali 
practicable, being very anxious to settle up this business. 

I am, very respectfully, 
DAVID H. MITCH"f,LL. 

(Indorsed:) 2005. War Department. Received Feb. 21, 1878. :JGl. Q'nn'r Gen'R 
Office. Recei\'ed Feb. ~5, 1878. With 35-621. Q. M.G. 0. 1t:l78. Leavenworth, Ks., 
February 18, lt:l78. David H. Mitchell renews his request for copy of report of Genl. 
Rufns Saxton, chief (1nartermaster, Dept. of Mo., made in the matter of the inYesti­
gation of his case rel. to fnrnishing grain at Fort Harker during years ll)Gf:l-'GU. Q. M. 
Gen'l. With 2179-1877. 11940. Filed May 15, 1878. 
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Mr. DAVID H. MITCHELL, 
Leavenworth City, Kansas: 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Washington City, April, 1878. 

Sm: In answer to your letter of January 19 and February 18, requesting a copy of 
Lieut. Col. Rufus Saxton's report upon yonr claim for forage allegell to have been 
delivered nuder contract at Fort Harker, Kansas, in the years 1867, 1868, aud 186\J, 
and not paid for, I am directed by tbe Secretary of War to inform you that he has 
approved a rccc.mmendation of tbe Quartermaster-General that no copy of the report 
in question should be furnished, but that tho claim be rejected. 

It is believed that the proper tribunal before which a claim for payment for forage 
alleged to have been delivered ten years ago should have been prm;ecuted was the 
Court of Claims, and that now Congress only can properly be askeLl to entertain it in 
the absence of any special legal provision and appropriation for auditing and settling 
such a claim by executive officers. 

Very respectfully, 
HENRY GOODFEI,LOW, 

Judge-Advocate. 
(Indorse<l:) 11940. 5029. War Dep't, 1878. Filed May 15, 1878. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Q UARTERMASTER-GENEHAL1S OFFICE, 

Washington, D. G., March 29, 1878. 
To the honorable the SECRETARY OF WAR: 

SIR: I have tho honor to return the papers in the claim of D. H. Mitchell for forage 
alleged by him to have been delivered under contracts at Ft. Harker, Kansas, in the 
years lR67, 1868, and 1869, and not, as alleged by him, pa.id for. He asks for copy of 
the report of an investigation of this case ordered by the Secretary of War, March 
19th, 1877. 

The report of Lt. Col. R. Saxton, dep. q'rm'r gon'l, U. S. A., chief quartermaster 
Department of the Missouri, who made the investigation, is herewith. 

I reconllueml that he be not furnished with a copy of the report in question, and 
that the caRe be dismissed. 

1st. He does not come with clean bauds. It. is on the record that he has been al­
ready once detected, indicted, tried, and convicted of fraud in attemping to obtain 
double payments upon account of this forage bul:liness at Fort Harker; and that he 
did obtain such double payments wllich were detected in the investigation of his 
attempted fraud above referred to, the amount of which was recovered to the United 
States !Jy withholding it from money due him under a contract for wood at Ft. Wal­
lace, Kas. (made before the discovery of tbis fraud), in accordance with opinion of 
the Second Comptroller, concurred in by the Secretary of War. 

2nd. The records searched by Col. Saxton are in part those of Capt. Inman1 who ap­
pears to ha\'e matle aflidavit in Mitchell's favor. General Court-Martial Order No. 19, 
W. D., A. G. 0. of 1872, announcing the cashiering of Capt. Inman, will show that he 
is not a competent witness agaim;t the United States in these transactions, and that 
entries in his records, in wllich Col. Saxton finds errors, are not conclusive evidence 
against the United States. 

3rd. The officers of tlle United States should scarce furnish to this convicted crimi­
nal, whose claims and charges against the United States have been judicially found 
to be unreliable, evidence on which to make new claims. One overpayment made to 
Lim was made on an order from a Secretary of War whom he succeeded in deceiving. 

4th. There is no appropriation at tbe disposal of the War Department out of which 
the money which he claims could be paid, even were it proved that any was due. 

5th. Tbe proper tribunal before which to prosecute a claim for payment for forage 
alleged to have been deli vored ten years ago is the Court of Claims, or Uongress itself, 
in the absence of any special ]egal provision and appropriation for auditing and set­
tling snch a claim by executive officers. 

Very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
M. C. MEIGS, 

Qnm·terrnaster-General, Bv't Maj. Gen'l, U. S. A. 

405. Q. M.G. 0., 1877. 1627. Q. M.G. 0.1877; 167 Q. M.G. 0.1878; ::l61 Q. M.G. 0. 
1878; 4!13, 1042, 1076, and 1403. Q. M.G. 0.1876; and 18f>, and 206 Q. M.G. 0.1877, 
accompanying Cl. "Q" 1:34--1875. 31 enclosures. 

(Indorsed:) Washington, March 2D, 1878. 2179. War Dep't 9, 1877. 621. 8. Tbe 
Quartermaster-General, U. S. Army. Returns papers in the claim of D. H. Mitchell, 
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with report of investigation of Col. Saxton C. Q. M. Dep't Mo. & other papers iu the 
case. Recommends dismissal of case; also that Mitchell be not furnished copy of the 
report of Col. Saxton. T-75. File with 361 Q. M.G. 0.1878. 11940. Filed May 15,1878. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
April 3d, 1878. 

The recommendation of the Quartermaster-General is approved. 

33 enc's. 

Hon. GEo. W. McCRARY, 
Sec'y of Wa1·: 

GEo. W. McCRARY, 
Sem·eta1'y of War. 

WASHINGTON, D. C., May 8th, 1878. 

DEAR SIR : In the matter of my claim for payment for grain, furnished the Gov­
ernment at Fort Harker, Kansas, in 1868 and '9, I most respectfully request that you 
give the same most careful consideration, with the view of coming to a conclusion as 
to the amount now due me, and the prompt payment of the same. The grain fur­
nished by me, under my contract with the Government, was under great difficulties, 
and at a time when prices were high; at the same time I was furnishing corn at Fort 
Harker I was engaged in furnishing large quantities of forage at Fort Hayes, Fort 
Riley, and Fort Leavenworth, and also furnishing beef for the Army, then on the plains} 
between Fort Harker and Denver-. I was also engaged in furnishing supplies to the 
Osage Indians in southern Kansas, through the Commissary Dept. of the Army. I 
tmsted in all cases to the good faith of the Government in the matter of receiving 
these supplies, and I feel that I ought not to suffer for any neglect of the officers at 
Fort Harker, where the grain was delivered for which I now ask payment. In the con­
sideration of my case, I ask your attention to the following facts: 

1st. All the corn furnished by me at Fort Harker was shipped to that post via, the 
Kansas Pacific Railroad. 

2d. It is shown by the bills of lading in the office of the auditor of the said railroad 
co. that thirty-three car-loads of corn were shipped by me to the quartermaster at 
Fort Harker during the fall and winter of 1868 and '9. 

3d. It is further shown by the testimony of Mr. Griffith, of Lawrence, Kan., that 
one car-load of corn was shipped to Fort Harker by him intended for me, and put in on 
my contract. 

4th. A Mr. Burnell, at GrantY"ille, Kan., ship'ed in his own name intended for me, 
and put in on my contract, two or three car-loads of corn. Mr. Burnell left Kansas 
some years ago, and I have been unable to find him and obtain his testimony. I am 
confident that telegraphic or other correspondence between the quartermaster then 
at F0rt Harker and Fort Leavenworth will show that this corn was sent to Fort Har­
ker by Mr. Burnell. I paid Mr. Burnell for the corn. It was received by the quar­
termaster on my contract, and the books of the officers at Fort Harker ought to show 
this fact. 

5th. When I en ered into thf:l contract of Noyember 9th, 1868, I had on hand at 
l<'ort Harker about 16~,000 lbs. of grain, which I had shipped to that post in excess 
of the amount necessary to fill a previous contract. This grain was put in on my con­
tract of November 9th, 1868. I have already suffered on account of delay and misun­
derstanding of the facts in this case, and I earnestly ask that you order this claim to 
be paid, for such amount as may be found to be justly due me. The amount is shown 
in the papers. already submitted. I am now in Washington for the purpose of prose­
cuting this claim, and would respectfully ask the opportunity of appearing before 
you, or any officer of your Department, with the view of stating personally all the 
facts in my possession and necessary to . a full consideration of all the equities of 
the case. I earnestly urge that you favorably consider this case, as I can not well 
afiord to pay the large expense of prosecuting the same in the Court of Claims, where 
at least one-fourth of the amount would be absorbed by attoraeys' fees, and payment 
be made only after a long delay. I am, with great respect, 

Your most obedient servant, 

To the honorable the SECT'Y OF WAR, City : 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

WASHINGTON, D. c., 
414 6th street, Feb'y 2, '77. 

SIR: I have the honor to state that during the years 1868 and 1869 I delivered to 
the Quartermaster's Department, U.S. Army, at Fort Harker, Ks. (during the time 
Capt. Henry Inman, A. Q. M., was on duty at that station), a large quantity of oats 
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and corn. I think there is due me payment for about four hundred and fifty thou­
sand ( 450,000) pounds of grain so delivered. 

In the spring of 1876 I was tried at Topeka, Kansas, convicted, and fined $1,000.00 
on the charge of presenting a fmudulent claim against the U. S. for a part of said 
grain. 

Since that time I have shown by satisfactory evidence that my claim is a just one 
and have received from the President of the United States a pardon for the alleged 
offense. The papers in the case are now on file in the office of the Attorlll~y-General 
of t,be U. S. in this city. 

I would respectfully request that you will cause my claim to be thoroughly investi­
gated at an early date, to the end that I may be paid for the grain actually furnished 
byrne. 

In this connection I would state that in receiving a payment in May, 1876, on my 
contract for wood furnished the Q. M. Dept. at Fort Wallace, Ks., Lieut. Col. R. Sax­
ton, depnty-q'rm'r-gen'l at .I<'ort Leavenworth, Ks., deducted from one of my vouchers 
about $1,320 for an alleged overpayment for a portion of the grain delivered by me at 
.I<"'ort Harker. 

Of the amount of grain actually delivered by me the hou. the Sec'ty of War, in 
January, U::l70, caused me to be paid for 400,666 pounds of corn, but at a lower rate 
than that agreed upon by the receiving officer at the time of its delivery. In direct­
ing such payment he stated that the matter of the price of the corn would be left 
open for further investigation. 

Very respectfully, your ob't servant, 
D. H. MITCHELL. 

(Indorsed:) 980. War Dep't, 1, 1877. 185. Q'rm'r Gen.'s Office. M. C. Received 
Feb. 6, 1l::l77. "Q" 1~3. 

STATE OF KANSAS, Leaven1t'01'th County, ss: 
Fred. Zimmerman, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he was employed in the 

quartermaster department at F't Harker, Kansas, from July, 1867, until the middle 
of November, 1868, and from the middle of December, 1868, until some time in Feb­
ruary, 1869, and assisted in weighing and receiving t,he grain at said post during that 
time. Wa8 acting as forage-master from October lOth, 1868, to the middle of Novem­
ber, of 1868, and from the middle of December, 1868, until some time in Febru:1ry, 
1869. Gave his personal attention to the weighing and receiving grain at the forage 
yard at said post; that the cars containing grain averaged 24,000 lbs. in weight per 
car. 

FRED. ZIMMERMAN. 

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence this 5th day of December, A. 
D. 1876. 

[SEAL.] H. P. PENDERY, 
Notary Public. 

(Indorsed:) In re D. H. Mitchell, N. 4. Affidavit of Fred. Zimmerman. 1039, War 
Dep't, 4, 1877. 2-206, Q'r M'r Gen.'s Office. Rt'ceived Feb.10, 1877. With 6-1H5, Q. 
M.G. 0., 1877, and 694, 1875. ·with 30-621, Q. M.G. 0., 1878. Cls. "Q," 134, 1876. 

Report upon the claim vf D. H: Mitchell. 

WAR DEPARTMENT, 
Janum·y 11, 1870. 

Claimant asks to be paid for 400,666 pounds of corn at the rate of $1.52i per bushel 
of 1i fty-six pounds. 

Claimant on the 9th of November, 1868, at Leavenworth, Kansas, contracted witll 
Bvt. Brig. Genl. B. C. Carel, chief quartermaster Department of tl1e Missonri, to de­
liver at J<'ort Harker, on the Kansas Pacific Railroad, within four weeks from the elate 
of his contract, sixteen thousand bnshel of oats of the best quality, in sacks. He 
was to receive for the same 87 cents per bushel of ~2 pounds. 

It appears in evidence that claimant aft.er delivering <LI.Jou t :3,500 bushels of oats under 
his contract, in lieu of the 12,500 bushels of oats which remained t,) be delivered, 
did in fact deliver an equal weight of corn, being 400,666 pounds, or about 7,100 bush­
els. 

This change was permitted by the acting depot quartermaster, who appears to have 
been temporarily on duty, and the corn was in fact received and consumed. 
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What lw.u been done came to the knowledge of the chief quartermaster at Fort 
Leavenworth, by letter of March 1Uth, '()D, from the depot quartermaster at Fort 
Harker, disclosing the inconvenience occa.sioue'l at that post by want of oats. 

The trawmction was at once repndia.ted by the chief quartermaster, Gen. Easton1 

who directecl that Mr. Mitchell be Got.ificd that t.he corn delivered by him would be 
rctnmed to him on demand at Fort Hurkcr, from the corn then in store, and mean­
while would he hehl at his rislc Gen. Easton adds that he had previousl:yrefnsecl his 
assent to the clelivcry of corn in lien of oats to Mr. Mitchell, and that Mr. Mitchell 
hacl, on several occasions, when he bad contrac.ts at higher prices, delivered quantities 
iu excess of his stipulations. 

Gen. Easton, however, directe1l that M1·. Mitchell might, if he choose, be paid at the 
rate of $1(10~ per bushel for the corn he had improperly delivered. 

Various communication:'~ aftcrwarcls pasl:led between the parties without definite re­
sult, except that the corn was not ret·urued to Mr. Mitcbell. 

It appears, however, fi:om these letters that the claimant sets up that b is agreement 
with the depot quartermaster was to receive corn pound for pound in lien of oats, 
which would bring the price of a bushel of corn of 56 pounds up to $1.52t ccuts, at 
which rate claitrant askecl to be paid. 

Also, from an original contract now filed. that claimant on the same day that he 
contracted with Gen. Card to deliver oats at Fort Harker, contracted also with Gen. 
Card to deliver corn at Fort Hayes during the same period at $1.69 per lmsbel. The 
freight charge on corn from Fort Harker to Fort Hayes was 17t cents per bushel, 
which would make the coutract price at Fort Harker $1.51t cents per bushel. 

Also, from the correspondence referred to, that the rate of $1.00 per bushel was de­
rived from a. contract effected some time previously for delivery of corn at Fort Hayes 
at $l.18t per bushel. 

Also, that at the time claimant uelivered the corn, other corn was being <leli verecl 
at Fort Harker under contracts made subsequent. to claimant's contract for oats, at a 
cost to the United States of $1.2:3 and $1.27 per bushel. 

Also, that the corn last referred to was contracted for during a temporary reduc­
tion of rates by railroad to Fort Harker. 

Also, that by reason of this difference the corn delivered by the claimant cost him 
$1.35 per bushel, besides his labor and personal expense. 

On the 6th of January, 1869, a letter of Ron. Sidney Clarke, of Kansas, to the Sec­
retary of y..r ar, in relation to this case, was referred to the Quartermaster-General for 
immediate report. 

That officer returns copies of the correspondence above cited, and nud~r all the cir­
cumstances of the case recommends that Mr. Mitchell be paid an average of the two 
prices which the Government was paying for corn delivered at Fort Harker at the time 
that Mr. M. delivered his, which would be $1.27 per bushel, but that Mr. Mitchell be 
first required to deliver at the contract price the oats be failed originally to deliver. 

This last the claimant represents that he has done, of which there is some evidence 
among the papers filed. 

In relation to this case it is considered: 
1. That the agreement of the acting quaJJtermaster to receive corn in lieu of oats 

(about the extent of which there is some doubt), was in no sense binding on the 
United States. 

'fhe Court of Claims have repeatedly held that the Jaw of general and special 
agents is applicable to superior and inferior agents, in the matter of contracts, iu 
their relations to the United States and the public. The special agent can not exceed 
the regulations of his principal, nor the inferior officer t.he regulations of his supe­
rior. (Stevens' case, 2nd C. Cis., 101. Emery and Blake's case, 4 C. Cls., 401.) 

The above is conclusive in its application here. Claimant had made a contract at 
department -headquarters from which he sought to depart. Railroad and telegraph 
communication with department headquarters were fully open. If, as he states, he 
omitted to use these, and accepted the consent of a subordinate, the violation of his 
contract was at his own risk entirely. If, as Gen. Easton states, he applied and was 
refused, the aspect is decidec11y more serious. 

2. The tender of payment at a given rate, with the alternative of receiving back 
the corn, and claimant's failure to demand the corn, puts any payment beyond that 
rate on purely equitable grounds. 

In this connection claimant urges that it was habitual for contractors to make sub­
stitutions of one grain for another in deliveries, and without complaints; that bacl 
roads made it difficult for him to bring in oats for delivery; and that he did not know 
that any wrong was done or that exception would be made, and that the rate of pay­
ment asked wil1uot more than make him good., 

To all which the reply wou1dseem to be that whatever discretion may be exercised 
iu sanctioning a variation from the written contract on account of of custom or the 
circumstances of the case can be n.ot only bet.ter, but in view of precedent more 
aafely exercised upon the ground by on,. acquainted with the fact~ than here. A cus• 

n. Bcp ..-a~ 
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tom such as claimant cites may have shown clearly the necessity of an example; and 
the inconvenience which arose in this case may have dictated its selection. 

Claimant, however, states that General Easton finally consented to pay him t.he 
cost price under other contracts at the fort, and as this tallies with the view of the 
Qnartermast.er-General it is recommended that it be allowed. 

On the further representation of Mr. Clarke and the contractor that this decision 
mvolves peeuliar hardship, it is considered that the payment herein recommended 
should be without prejudice to evidence showing a right of the contractor to an in­
creased allowance and the assent of Gen. Easton to the same. 

WAGER SWAYNE, 
Col., ~ Bvt. Maj. Gen'l, U.S . .A. 

Approved. 
WM. w. BELKNAP, 

Sec'y of War. 

Respectfully I'eferred to the Quartermaster-General, who will pay the contractor 
for the corn mentioned herein at one dollar and twenty-five cents per bushel. 

W.l\:1. w. BELKNAP, 

WAR DEPARTMENT, Janua1'J) 12, 170. 
Secretary of War. 

(Indorsed:) 14-1403. Q'r M'r Gen.'s Office. Received Jul. 5, 1876. B. B. 25-546. 
C. 11, Jan., 1870. W. D. B'k 13, W.1458. Decision Bk. 9, page 97. 

EXHIBIT W. M. P., No. 11. 

Bvt. Major-General L. C. EASTON, 
AssT.--, April 26, 1869. 

Chief Qr. Mr. Dept. Mo., Fm·t Leavenworth: Kans.: 
GENERAL: I have the honor to state, in reply to yonrcommunicat.ion of July 16, '68, 

that Mr. D. H. Mitchell, in delivering grain on his contract dated November 30, '67, 
shipped to this post upwards of 100,000 pounds of corn in excess of his cootl'act. 

A part of this grain was afterwards transferred by Mitchell to Mr. H. L. Newman, 
and at t.he commencement of hostilities last fall Mitchell had stored here, subject to 
his order, 54,776 pds. corn. 

At that time I was ordered to ship a large quantity of grain to Fort Dodge, and not 
having sufficient on hand to meet the demand, the amount above stated (54, 776 pds.) 
was used in addition to what I bad on hand. 

I am, general, very respectfully, your obt. servt., 

ExHIBIT W. M.P., No. 12. 
OFFICE AssT. QR. MR., 

Bvt. MaJ. Gen. L. C. EASTON, 
Fort Harkm·, Ks., Apt•il29, 186\J. 

Chief Qr. Mr. Dep. Mo., Fort Leavenwm·th, Ks. 
GENERAL: Referring to your communication of 15 inst., I have the honor to st,ate 

that the forage master at this post report that the corn received from Mr. Mitchell in 
lieu of oats (contract Nov. 9) was entit·ely consumed by the public animals fed herr 
during my absence. I enclose his certificate to that effect. 

I am, general, very respectfully, your obt. servt., 
HENRY INMAN, 

Bvt. Maj. ~A. Q. M., U.S . .A. 

EXHIBIT W. M. P., No. 26. 

[Telegram.] 

Lieut. D. MciNTOSH, A. A. Q. M., 
FORT LEAVENWORTH, M'ch 9, 1869. 

FoTt HaTker: 
Mitchell must finish the delivery of sixteen thousand (16,000) bushels oats under 

his contract of November ninth. I have informed him that the deliverie& of corn he 
has made will not be considered p,s applicable to the fulfillment of his contract for oats. 

L. C. EASTON J. 
O.y.M. 
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EXHIBIT W. M. P., No. 31. 

LEAVENWORTH, Dec. 19th, H3()8. 
General EASTON: 
DI~AR ~m: I received your· 11otice of being behind on my contract of the 9th. I 

am doiug everythinp; in my power to get the contract filled, aud will continue to do 
l'lO until it is filled, which, I think, will be in a few days. The roadt:> are liO baLl it is 
almost impossible to haul to the line of the railroad. 

Respectfully, yours, 
D. H. MITCHELL. 

EXHIBIT W. M.P., No. 32. 

LEAVENWORTH, May 4th, 1869. 
Maj. General L. C. EASTON: 

DI<~AR SIR: If you woulu prefer to give the corn back they used at Fort Harker, 
~·on need not pay freight on it, as I do not want it there. I will take it here, and 
allow me the freight I paid. General, if they had not fed the grain, I think they 
would not be able to show any such amount of corn. There was some parties said 
they would bust me up on that contract, but, general, I feel well satisfied you will 
do me justice in the case; if you do wish to keep the corn, you can pay me when it 

- will suit you. 
I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

EXHIBIT W. M. P., No. 46. 

Bvt. Maj. Gen'l L. C. EASTON, 
C. Q. M. Dept. Mo., Fort Leav'th, Ks.: 

AssT. QR. MR. OFFICE, 
Fort Ha1·ker, Ks., April 26, ltl69. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to state, in reply to your eommunicatiou of July 16, 
'6t:l, that D. H. Mitchell, in delivering grain on his contract, dated Nov. 30, 'ti7, shipped 
by (f) this post upwards. of 100,000 pounds .of corn in excess of his contract. 

A part of this grain was afterwards transferred by Mitchell to Mr. H. L. Newman, 
anu at the commencement of hostilities last fall Mitchell had storetl here, subject to 
his order, 54,776 m corn. 

At that time I was ordered t.o ship ~t htrge quantity of grain to E,ort Dodge, and 
not having sufficient on hand to meet the demand, the amount above stated (54, 776 Jj;) 
was used in addition to what I bad on ha.nd. 

I am, general, very respectfully, your obd't serv't, 
HENRY INMAN, 

.Bvt. JJ.faj. and A. Q. M., U. S. A. 

Respectfully returned. Major Inman will issue a voucher to D. H. Mitchell for all 
the corn 1·ecei ved by him from Mr. Mitchell in excet:>s of the contracts of the latter, 
at the contract price, provided the corn was·old corn, as advertised and contracted 
for. If it was new corn, then issue a voucher at the price of the next contract made 
after that of November 30, 1867. JusticA to the Government demands that the date 
at which this surplus delivery was made by Mr. Mi tcholl jhould be taken into account 
in fixing the price. 

In addition to a receipt for 54,776 /j. corn, Mr. Mitchell presented at this office one for 
some 25,000 m, dated, I believe, in l:ieptember, 18ti8. Both receipts were returned to 
him. Attach this (original) to the voucher issued. 

MAY 3, 1879. 

L. c. EASTON, 
Dep·uty Qr. M1·. Gen'l, C. Q. M. 

EXHIBIT W. M. P., No. 47. 

• Respectfully retnrned to Major Inman. The instructions in nw endorsement of the 
3d inst. were given under a misapprehension of the facts. 

It now appears from the enclosed voucher and from his letter that Major Inman 
did not receive the corn until Dec'r 1, 1868, although it was stored at Fort Harker 

.H. Re.p. 3685-3 
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prior to tl1at time "subject to Mr. Mitchell'~> oruer" and I suppose for his conven­
ience. At the time it wa::; accepted by Major luuwn, which time appears from these 
vouchers to have beeu December 1, 1tl6t!, the Govemment was paying for corn at 
H:.ukm· $1.29 per bush. (I take the price of contract made nearest to that time.) My 
recollection also that the receipt for the smaller quantity (5l7bn~>h.) which Mr. Mitch­
ell cxhir1Jiteu here was dated September, 1868. Corn delivered at that time should 
uot lJe paid for at the price prevailing in Nov'r, 1S6i. I wish a settlement made which 
will be jnst to the Government and to Mr. Mitchell. If the corn was not received by 
Major Inman until Dec. 1, 1868, and the Government was not responsible to Mr. Mitch­
ell for it until that time, then I do uot t,hink that a rate higher than the Govern­
ment was paying at that time should be allowed Mr. Mitchell. 

Snch complications will be avoided if in future grain uelivereu without authority 
iB not received iuto Government buildings. 

L. C. EASTON, 
D. Q. M. G., C. Q. M. 

MAy 12, 1869. 

[Court of Claims. No. 11940. D. H. Mitchell v. The United States.] 

The de1JosiUon of Addison Jones, j01· claimant, taken at Omaha, Neb1·., on the 23d day of 
Februa1·y, A. D. 1883. 

Claimant's counsel, N. J. Burnham ; defendants' counsel, F. H. Howe. 
First general interrogatory on the part of the commissioner. State your name, age, 

occupation, place of residence the past year; w hcther you have any, and what interest , 
in the claim in controversy, and whether you are related to the claimant . 

.Answer. Addison Jones; age, 38; I have charge oft,he freight records ofthe Union 
Pacific Railroad Company; r c;;i<leuce, Omaha, Nebr.; I have no interest in the claim 
in cont,roversy, and am not related to the claiUlant. 

Being further interrogat,ed hy N.J. Burnham, esq., ou behalf of t,he claimant, the 
witness says: 

I have in my possession and under my charge as an officer of the Union Pacific 
Railway Company the press-letter copies and written copies of the original way-bills 
of certain cars of grain shipped from various points in Kansas to Fort Harker, Kans., 
during the fall and winter of 1868-'69 and the spring of 1869 for the account of D. H. 
Mitchell. 

Question 1. State what the paper is I hand you. 
(OlJjected to as incompetent, immaterial, and irrelevant.) 
.Answer. This is a true copy of t,lw original way· bill number 22, from Perry, Kans., 

to Fort Harker, Kans., for 145 sacks ot oats, Oriftith &. D. consignor. 
(The paper is offered iu ev·i<lenee allll hereto attached, marked Exhibit A. S. No. 1.) 
(The paper offered in evidence o!Jject,ed to as incompetent and immaterial.) 
Question 2. What are the rapers I now hand you~ 
(Same objection.) 
Answer. Forty-four copies of way-bills from various stations to Fort Harker, com-

mencing with December 17, 1868, and ending with April1::$, 1869, as follows: 
Question 3. Please descrilJe them by dates and contents. 
(Same objection.) 
Answer. 1st. December 17, 1868: 119 sacks oats, 20 sacks corn. 
2d. December 18, 1868: 165 sacks corn. 
3d. December 23, 186t;: 155 sacks oats. 
4th. December 23, 186S: 165 sacks shelled corn. 
5th. December 24, 1868: 47 sacks oats, 94 sacks corn. 
6th. December 24, 1868: 165 sacks corn. 
7th. December 29, 1868: 165 sacks shelled corn. 
8th. December 31, 1868: lfiO sacks oats. 
9th. January 5, 1869: 147 sacks oats. 
lOth. January 11, 1869: ---sacks oats and :m sacks corn. 
11th. January 11, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn, No.4, car No. 138:~. 
12th. January 11, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn, No. 5, car No. 1388. 
13th. January 11, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn, No. 3, car 1354. 
14th. Jan nary 12, 1869: 165 sacks coru. 
15th. January 1:~, 1869: IG;> sacks corn. 
16th. January 15, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn, No. G, car 1310. 
17th. January 15, 1869: 160 sacks shelled com, No. 7, car 1320. 
18th. January 18, 1869: 165 sacks corn. 
19th. January 19, 1869: 170 Backs corn, No. 56, car 144:3. 
20th. January 191 ll:l69: 170 13acke corn, No. 671 car 126-l; 
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21st. Jan nary 20, 1869 : 160 sacks shelled corn. 
2'2d. January 21, 1869: 165 sacks corn. 
23d. January 22, 1869: l()f) sac;;ks corn. 
24th. January 23, H:l6tl: 160 sacks shelled corn, No. 11, car 14:~2. 
25th. January 2:~, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn, No. 12, car 1315. 
26-th. January 25, 1869: 165 sacks corn. 
27th. February 1, l!:l69: 165 sacks corn. 
28t.h. February 2, 1869: 165 sacks corn. 
29th. February 8, 1869: 160 sacks slwlled corn. 
30th. ]<'ebruary 10, 1869: 160 sacks shelled corn. 
31st. February 20, 1~69: 160 sacks shelled corn. 
32d. March 4, 1869: 1 car oats (150 sacks). 
33d. March 6, 1869: 155 sacks oats, No. 23, car 1303. 
34th. March 6, 1869: 153 sacks oats. 
35th. March 6, 1R69: 1 car corn, in sacks. 
36th. March 6, 1869: 155 sacks oats, No. 22, car 1367. 
37th. Ma.rch 6, 1869: 155 sacks oats, No. 24, car 1239. 
38th. March 8, 1869: 160 sacks oats. 
39t.h. March 11, 1869: 41 sacks oats. 
40th. March 17, 1869: 1 car oats, in sacks. 
41st. March 18, 186~ : 1 car oats, in sacks. 
42d. March 23, 1869 : 150 sacks oats. 
43d. April 9, 1869: 145 sacks oats. 
44th. April13, 1869: 147 sacks oats. 
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The above papers are here offered in evidence by the complainant's counsel, and are 
marked respectively from A. S. No.2 to A. S. No. 45, inclusive. 

(The papers above offered in evidence are objected to by defendants' counsel as in­
competent and irrelevant and immaterial.) 

Question 4. Do you know that these are all the way-bills the company have of this 
description~ 

Answer. No, sir; there may be some more. But these are all I have been able to 
find. 

Question 5. Do you know that any have been lost? 
Answer. No, sir; I do not. 
Question 6. What was the true measure of the contents of a car at that time? 
Answer. The tariff book at that time acceptecl18,000 pounds as a car-load. They 

often put as high as 26,000 and 29,000 pounds in a car. 
Question 7. If shipments as aforesaid had not been delivered to consignee at Fort 

Harker, would t,he way-bills, copies of which are herein introduced and numbered, 
inclicate the fact; that is, would the originals 1 

Answer. The originals would indicate the fact as a matter of course; also the copies, 
which I have in my office, of which the above are copies. 

Qnestion 8. What has become of the original way-bills' 
Answer. It is reported that Fort Harker was struck by lightning, I think in 1870, 

and that. all the original way-bills of which these are copies were destroyed by :fire at 
that time. 

Question 9. Among the way-bills handed the notary I do not find shipments of fonr 
car-loads of grain from Fort Leavenworth to Fort Harker. If any such shipments 
were made on account of Mitchell by General B. C. Card, would not the wa~~-bills 
show that fact' 

(Objected· to as leading.) 
Answer. They should be in my possession. In my investigations so far I have failed 

to find any such bills. 
Question 10. What has been done with the original way-bills of which these are 

copies, and other way-bills of this character~ 
(Objected to as incompetent, irrelevant, immaterial.) 
Answer. The original press or written copies way-bills were all supposed to have 

been sent by S. T. Smith, an official of the Kansaa Pacific Road, toM. H. Goble, freight 
auditor of the Union Pacific Railroad, late in 1879, and were turned over to me to be 
filed, and since I have had them I have moved them twice. The first time I took them 
out of the boxes and filed them on the shelving in the general office. I had some men 
help me. Some may have been lost or misplaced then. These bills of November a.nd 
December, 1868, January and February, 1869, did not come in tlwir proper place, bnt 
when I received them they were in a stray box, not marked or labeled. In 1882, late 
in the fall, by order of Mr. Goble, I moved them from the office in Farnum st.reet, 
with a lot of other records, to the shop, there to be stored. I was about, i,hree weeks 
lfl this last move, and I had several men helping me. The bills were delivered to me 
at the shop in very bad shape. The distance they were moved was from a half io 
three-qHarters of a mile, I think. They were l1aulecl in company wagons, with rub her 
bands and strings around them. Some had rnbberbands a.nd somebad strings. The 
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men who helped move were laborers in the employ of the road. The bills that I have 
got are now in the record-room in the shops. The bills which I speak of were tied 
up in bundles; that is, the bills of November, December, Janua,ry, and February, 
and each month jn a separate bundle, an(l had the appearance of having been handled 
by some one for some purpose. 

(Defendants' counsel objects to the whole answer as incompetent, irrelevant, and 
immaterial.) 

Cross-examination by F. H. HowE, esq., defendants' counsel : 
Question 1. State what the paper I hand you is. 
Answer. His a press copy of way-bill No. 239, ftom Lawrence to Harker, March 23, 

18()9. 
Question 2. Look at Exhibit A. S. No. 43, and state whether it is the copy which you 

have testified as being made of the paper last handed you. 
Answer. It is, with the exception of the printed matter and the certificate signed 

by the ti·eight auditor. 
(The paper is offered in evidence by the defendants' counsel, and a copy is attached 

to this Ciepositiou, marked Exhibit A.) 
Question 3. St,ate whether all of the original papers testified about by you in your 

examination-in-chief 3tre not all substantially in the same form; that is, with the 
printing and the certificate left out. 

Answer. They are. 
Question 4. Then I understand you to say that the original papers about which you 

liave been testifying are press-letter copies of the original way-bills to which they 
!'elate. 

Answer. Some are press-letter copies, and some are written. Sometimes it was not 
convenient to take press copies, bnt way-bills were made in duplicate form. 

Question 5. Have you the original way-bills that were sent to Harker with the 
goodsf 

Answer. I have not. 
Qnestion 6. What became of them f 
Auswer. It is reported that Fort Harker, I think in 1870, was struck by lightning, 

and that these originals were burned. 
Question 7. You are unable, then, to produce the originals f 
Answer. I am. 
Qnestion 8. Would the originals in the ordinary course of business show the receipt 

of goods by the consignee, if the.r had been received by him f 
Answer. '!'hey should. 
Question 9. Do the prt}SS copies or written copies about which yon have testified 

show the 1·eceipt by the consignee f 
Answer. They do not. 
Question 10. Have you any record in your office showing the receipt of the goods 

specified in the way-bills about which you have testified f 
Answer. To the best of my knowledge, I have not. 
Question 11. How did you come to produce these exhibits before this commission T 
Answer. I was ordered here by the court, and the copies of those way-bills were 

ordered by D. M. Sells, chief clerk of the freight auditor's office. 
Question 12. Wbat court f 
Answer. I don't know; this court. 
Question 13. Did you get any subpcena f 
Answer. I did not. 
Question 14. What papers diU Mr. Sells tell you to produce f 
Answer. The press copies-or written copies about which I have testified. 
Question 15. Did he confine you to those f 
Answer. No. He told me to produce all the records in my possession for grain 

shipped for D. H. Mitchell to Fort Harker in November and Decem her, 1868, and Jan­
uaryand :February, 1869, first; and the last note that Mr. Mitchell wrote to him for 
additional copies, I think, run into May, 1!;69. And these I was also ordered to pro­
duce. 

Question 16. Have you produced them all f 
Answer. All that I have been able to find. There may have been some grain 

shipped by Mr. Mitchell to Fort Harker, bills for which I have not been able to find. 
Question 17. Have you made a pretty careful search f 
Answer. I have made a very careful search. Yet I may have missed some bills; I 

do not know. 
Question 18. Do you think you have? 
Answer. No. 
Question 19. Did you ever hear of any of these bills being lost during the various 

changes about which you have testified f I refer to these bills in which Mr. Mitchell 
is interested. 

Answer. No. 
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Re-examination·: 
Question 1. I find that in a telegram sent 'by the acting depot quartermaster, Don­

ald Mcintosh-a telegram froml!"ort Harker, of March 9, 1869, to GeneralL. C. Easton­
that Mitchell had shipped eight car-loads of oats aml three car-loads of corn. If this 
were correct, would you not have the way-bills for them~ 

Answer. I should have them; that is, the press copy. 
Question 2. Have you got them; if not, what has become of them 7 
Answer. If I have not got them I do not know what has become of them. 
Question 3. Do you not know that they have been lost 7 
Answer. No, sir. 
Qnestion 4. Have you made any search for them? 
Answer. I do not know whether I have searched for them or not. I do not know 

w h::tt the station is. Ot:tt of about ninety stations under the management of the Kan­
sas Pacific then, I have looked at eight or ten; that is, the stations I looked over at 
direction of Mr. Sells. 

Question 5. Did you look over the Leavenworth station? 
Answer. I think I did, and failed to find any shipments for Mr. Mitchell. 

Recross-examination : 
Question f. Do you know how it happened that your attention was partict1larly 

directed to these eight or ten stations by Mr. Sells 7 
Answer. I think that Mr. Gannett, the auditor, had received a communication­

from whom, I do not remembel'. It was referred to Mr. Goble, who ortlered me, 
through Sells, the chief clerk, to produce the papers. 

Question 2. Was your attention directed to those eight or ten stations by the claim­
ant? 

Answer. Yes. 
Question 3. Have you examined as to all the stations to which your attention was 

directed by Mr. Mitchell? 
Answer. Yes; I have examined all the bills in my possession as to the stations to 

which Mr. Mitchell or any one else has called my attention. 
Last general question by the commissioner. Do you know any other matter relative 

to the claim iu question f If yon do, state it. 
Answer. Nothing. 
The witness here states that he can not produce the original press copies and written 

copies about which he has testified and permit them to be atta.ched to this deposition, 
because the Union Pacific Company requires them to be retained as a part of their 
records. 

ADDISON JONES. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me this 23d d.ay of February, 1883. 

No. 1.-A. S. 

ALBERT SWENGTANDER, 
Notm·y Public. 

UNioN PACIFIC RAILWAY CoMPANY, FREIGHT AuDrriNG DEPARTMENT. 

Copy of billing. 

Fr.eight from Perry to Fort Harker; No. car, 1438; initial,--; consignor, Griffith 
& D.; consignee, Lieut. Cook; destination, Ft. Harker, Kans. 

ai ai ai 
~ ~ ~ 

ai bll bll 04 
P:i ~ ~ ~ cq ~bll = c;s 

~ ;i.l Articles. 
~ 

.<:I .<:I .<:I 

li 0 0 0 

$ 
~~ 

bll 

~ 
,!<! <t ~ 0 0 '(j,i 0 0 c;s 

~ "' 0 
A z z !XI H ~ 

--------- 1--------------1----1------ -------
1868. 

Nov. 21.. 22 145 S'ks oats . ••••..•.••..•.•...•. ___ 18,000 

OMA.HA, NEB., July 13, 1881. 

75 135.00 135.00 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight .A'uditor. 

Per F. WINNING. 



38 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 2.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL ·wAY-BILL No. 2. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1:191; initial,-. 

Local way-bill of j'l'cigitt jo1·ward('(l from Fa.i1·monut to Ft. Harlce1·, date Dec. 17, 1868 

Consignor. 
~~-Con,;gnoo and de.-

tination. 

D. H. Mitchell .... A. Q. M., Ft. Har­
kei·. 

ai 
Q;) 
bl) 
~ 

.!d 
<:;> 
Ol 

r::.. 

119 

20 

Description. 

Sacks o:1ts. 

Sncks corn ..... . 

A 1rno copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 3.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL wAY-BILL No. 3. 

ri; ri:J 
Q;) Q) 
bl) bl) 

""' 
~ 

~ Ol 

~ 
,1:1 ,1:1 rei <:;> <:;> ·a biJ a5 .!d "2 p. '@ ~ <:;> <:;> al 

~ 
~ ell 0 

~ ~ ~ H 
------- ---~--

18, IHlO ssj..... .. ...... 11"-" 

M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eight Audito1·. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1200; initial,-. 

Local way-bill of freight forwanled frmn Ji'ai1·nw1wt to Fort Harlce1·, date Dec. 18, 1868. 

-----~~------------;------------,-------,--'"'CT'"---,-----,----

Cnn•;gnoo "'" d.,.. I 
tina Lion. Comliguor. 

D. ll. Mitchell .l. Q. M., Ft .. Har­
ker. 

165 

A 1mc eopy of the original way-bill. 

Description. ....: 
,1:1 
bl) 

'@ 

~ 

ri:J ~ Q) 
bl) bl) 
~ ~ ell 

,1:1 ..c: ._; 
<:;> <:;> ·a 

~ .!d ~ p. 
<:;> <:;> <ll 

Ol Ol 0 .. 
~ ~ H ~ 

M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eight Auditor. 
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No. 4.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 3(). 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1441; initial,-. 

Loca 7 way-bill of freight fm·u•ardecl frorn. PmTy to Fm·t Hm·ker, tlate Dec. ~:~. 186~. 

-- ---~~------ ,;, ~I ~· I ~-· I ~ 
Consignor. Consigneo, :md des- g.;" Descr:ption. ....: -:::: -:::: I '"' 

1 tmatwn. « ..:::; 

1 

·@ 
I ~ .::!" a) ..!<l "" A 
I d ~ ~ g g t ~ 

R S, t:riffith for D. 
H. MitchelL I Q,!;-~8-l't n.,kec,l ~" I "''""" ----- 18~00 I ~5 --~-~13:00 ~ -~ 

·----------~----------------~--~------------~----~--~----~----~---

A true copy of the original wny-!Jill. 
M. H. GoBLE, 

Freight Anditm·. 

(In peucil): See letter of Inman to Griffith, Jan'y 27, 1869. This car contains 
19,[100 JhA. 

No. 5.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 2. 

UNION PACIJ<'IC HAlLWAY, E. D. 

Ca.r No. 1360; initial,-. 

Local way-bill of freight fot'll'arclecl jJ·mn Williamston to Ft. Hm·ker, date Dec. 2.:, lS(i~. 

Consignor. Consigne,e and des­
tmation . 

~ ~ 
tn ~ 

~n Description. ~ ~ ~ ~ 
~ ·$ cP .!<l -; s. 
~ !:: ~ ~ g ~ 

-D-. F-l -. ~~-cb_e_l_L _____ -_, ~a;-t._K_i_m_b-al_l_, %_c_D ___ -~-G5-I--S-a-ck_s_s_h_e_ll_e_d_c_oi-.n-.-I-1-8,-0-0-0 1~3~ .• ~. - ~-2-0~-.-4u- 1l -~ .. 
1

. A.M. 

-----------~--

A true copy of the original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLE, 

Freigll t .ludit01·. 



40 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 6.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 142. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. (1525, obscure); initial. 

I.ocal 'ICQ]J-bill of freight f01'1vm·ded f1'0rtt Latm·ence to Harker, date Dec. 24, 186R. 

en ci;, .., .., 
t:o bl: 

Consignee and des-
en ~ :e 

Consignor. 
Q.) 

DeRcription. -+'-' ,<:l ..<:I .a 
timttion. bl: \ Q Q 

d ..<:1 ·; 
,!<! bl: ai ,!<! ";;; .::.. <;;) 'Q) ~ 

<;;) <;;) 0 d 
~ 

<'l 0 1-< 
~ ~ i=Q H ~ 

W.&M ............ I IA·n2;·ke~-· Fort l g~} ssa~'.ks~~~~-::::< 1 18,000 80 l Shippers' count~ ' 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill. 
:M. II. GOBLE. 

F1·eight Audito1·. 

No. 7.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY·BILL No. 6. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, K D. 

Car No. 137G; initial, -. 

Local1vay-bill of freight forwarded front Fainnount to Fo,-t Hctrlw·, rtatr. Dee. 24, 18ul:l. 

I 
~ ~ 

~ ~ ~ 
Consignor. j Consip;nec and des- ~ Description. .; ~ ..<:~ ~ 

I 

tination. ll<~ f~ - 0 
·oe 

:-;: 'Ql ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
f:: ~ P=< . .3 I ~ 

-D-. -H-.-M-i-tc_h_e_l1 _________ 1 A.Q- .-1'd- .-. -F;.-H- ar_k_e_r_l_1_65- Sa~ks ·:or_n __ -----------~ -;~~ -~~~=- :~~ · 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLE, 

F1·eight Aud·itor. 
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No. 8.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 4. 

UNION PACIFIC .RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1 :~48 ; initial,-. 

Local 'Way-bill of ft·eight fm·wm·ded j1·om Will-iamstmvn to Fort Hm·km·, date Dec. ~9, l~GH. 

I 

I Consignee and des- 00 
Consignor. 

a;> 
Description . !l tination. bO 

CIS 
~ -~ <:) 

~ «! 
P-1 ..... 

--

165 1 S<Wk.,loelJO<lro>·n . D. H. Mitchell . . . . Quartermaster,Fort I 18, 000 
liarker. 

A true cop,y of t,he original way-bill. 

No. 9.-A. 8. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILI, No. 44. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, F.. D. 

Car No. 1207; initial, -. 

i ~ 
I 

bO ~IJ 
~ ~ 

..c:l ..c:l ~ 
<:) <:) ·a 

3 ~ ~ "' '-' Cli d oJ 0 ... 
~ ~ 

H I ~ - -

7G .. .. ..... . l:JG. 80 .•••• 

M. H. COJII.E, 
FreiyftJ, ~ Ludiim·. 

Local way-bill of freight fm·wm·ded j1·mn Perry to Fort Harkm·, date Dec. 31, 1868. 

00 
Consignee and des-Consignor. 

<%> Description. ~ bJJ tination. 0.: ,Cl 

~ ell 
<:) "$ 
~ 

~ i' I 

150 I S'k• ............. · , 

---

R. S. Griffith for Lieut. Cook, Q. M., is, ooo 
D. H. Mitchell .... :Fort Harker. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

00 00 
a;> Q,) 

blZ bJJ ... 
~ oJ 

..c:l ..c:l rd <:) 
<:) "@ 

c) ~ ~ ~ 

d <:) <:) Q,) r. 0 ... 
~ I=Q H P-1 

- ----- - -

75 ....... 135.00 . ........ 

I 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight A11ditor. 

(In pencil:) See lettm· Qf Inman to R. S. Griffith, of Jan'y ~7, '69; sa~· s thi:> c~~r 
cont.ains 20,110 lbs. 



42 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 10.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-lULL No. :1. 

UNfON PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1;«33; initial,-. 

Local way-bill of freight forwm·ded Jt·otn Fairmount to Fort Hat·ker, date Jan'y 5, 1869. 

o5 
Consignee a.nd des-Consignor. 

<l) 

Description. :.:l tination. b{) 
ol 

,bj b~ 

~ ·z 
~ ll1 

D. IT. Mitchell .. - _. A. Q. M., Fort liar- 147 Sacks oats._----·. 18,000 
ktll'. 

A t.nw copy of t.be original way-bill. 

Nu. 11.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No, 6. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY. 

Car No. l32G; initial,-. 

~ 
a, 
QJ 

b{) b{) ... 1e 0\l 

""' ""' ~ <.) 0 
...... 

$ ~ ~ A 
<.) QJ 

~ 0\l 0 ... 
~ ~ H p, 
---------

88 ra id. 154.40 

l\1. II. GOBLR, 
Freight Auditor. 

Localtvay-bill of ft·eight fo1'toat·ded ft·om Fairmount to Fm·t Hm·km·, da.te January 11, 18!i9. 

Consignor. Consignee and des­
tination. 

"' .; 
~c ~ 
[;l 0\l .g .g .._; 

a.i ~ Cil -~ 
~ "' g ~ 
~ ~ H p., 

D. II. Mitchell _.... A. Q. M., J<'t. Har­
ker. 

S:tcksoats....... . .. --------~--
30 Sacks corn .... ___ . . ~~. ~00. -~~. : • : : : : : : :: : : : . ~~~~ ~~ 

A trne copy of the original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLl~, 

Ft·eight Audiio1'. 



D. H. MITCHELL. 43 

No. 12.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-BIJ;L No.4. 

UNION PACU'lC HAlLWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1:~i:l3; initial, -. 

Loca.l way-bill of freight fonvm·ded from TVilliamstowrt to Pt. Hm·lcer, date Jan'y 11, 1869. 

Consignor. Consignee and des­
tinat-ion. 

1
1 

~~ ~u 
~ ~ ~ 
bC Description. ..., I ..Q ~ "t:l ce .g, . o 'C2 ·o; 

~ I ~!~ ~ ~ i f 
D. H. Mitchell . ... ·I Ak.2·. M., l<'t. Har- ~~ Sks. shelled corn .. I IS, 000 ~-7~ --= \ 136. SO ~~--~~~ 
--------'--1 ______ __c __ l_____ ' ' 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 13.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL wAy -BILL No. 5. 

UNION PACIJ<'lC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 13t;8; initial, -. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eight Auditor. 

Local way-bill of freight jorwa1·dedj1·ont Williamstown to l!'t. Harker, date Jan' y 11th, 1ti69. 

I 

Consignee and dea- l 
tination. 

1 

D. H. Mitchell .... -1-A- .- Q- .- M- ., _Ft _ __ H_ a--r--

1

1 

ker. 

Consignor. f• I D~dption. ~ ~ ~ I ~ 
~ ~ ,~ ~ l ] t! 
160 I Sk,. •belled "'".·I"· 000 

1 

~~ -.-.-.. -~~ = 
A true copy of the original way-bill. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
l.i'reigltt Auditor. 



44 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 14.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No.3. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1354; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of freight forwarded frorn Williamstown to Ft. Ha,rker, date Jtm' y 11th, 1869. 

' 

w 
Consignee and des- Q) 

Consignor. Oil Description. ~ tination. oil 
,.!<l ,;>p 

<:..> Q) 
oil 

~ ~ 

D. H. Mitchell ..... A. Q. M., Ft. Har-
ker. 

160 Sks. shelled corn .. 18,000 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 15.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No.7. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1232; initial, ---. 

ril & :)) 
ell 

'" ~ o:s 
.Q ~ ...; 

<:..> ·a; 
~ ~ "2 Po 

<:..> <:..> e ce o:s 0 p:; ~ .,J p. 
-------

76 ....... . 136.80 . ...... 

-

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight .A·uditor. 

Local way-bill of freight fortvm·ded from. Fa·i1·rno1mt to Pt. Ha1·ker, date Jan'y 12, 186\:1. 

I I Con,igooo ond doo· 
w 

Consignor. 
Q) 

Description. ~ Oil tination. oil 
,.!<l Oil 
Q ·z 
o:s 

~ p.; 
---------

D. H. Mitchell ..... A. Q. M., Ft. Har- 165 Sacks corn ........ 1, 800 
ker. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

ril 
I 

,;, 

I 
Q) a;> 
ot tJJ 
~ o:s 

.Q .Q 

• 

't:i 
Q <:..> ·; 

a$ ,!4 "@ co 
~ 

Q Q •u c3 0 "' p:; ~ H p. 
-~ = ~-~-:~ I"··~ 88 0 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight Auditor. 
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No. 16.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL w·AY-BILL No. i;. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1245 ; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of ft·eight forwarded ft·om Fairrnount to Ft. Barker, date Jan'y 1J, 186U. 

Consignor. Consi::mee nml des­
tination. Description. 

D. H. Mitchell . . . . . A. Q. M., Ft. Har­
ker. 

165 Sacks corn ......•. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 17.-A. S. 

~,. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No.6. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1310; initial, - . . 

,; 
~ 

~ 
.d 
<:,) 

~ ~ ~ 

~ ~ ~ 
~-------

18, 000 1 88 -••• -- - .. - •• - - 158. 40 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Ft·eight Attditur. 

Local way-bill of freight jonvm·ded frorn Williamstown lo Pt. Harke1·, date Jan'y 1!"1t.h, l6u9. 

Consignee and des-
,; 

Consignor. ~ 

tination. b.O 
<IS 

,..!ol 
<:,) 
til 
~ 

D. H. Mitchell ..... A. Q. M., Ft. Har- 160 
ker. 

--

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

Description. 

Sks. shelled corn .. 

I .; 
.d 

I~ 
b.O ·s 
~ 

·~ ,,. I" 
M. H. GOBLE, 

Freight Auditor. 



46 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. H3.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No.7. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1320; initial,-. 

Local tvay-bill of freight forwarded ft·orn Williarnstown to Ft. Harker, date January 1Gth, 
1869. 

Consignor. Consignee and des­
tination. Description. 

D. H. Mitchell ..... , :. Q. M .. Ft. Har­
ker. 

160 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 19.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 9. 

U]SION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No.1375; initial, -. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
~Freight Altditor. 

Local way- bill of freight jorwa1·ded jt·ont Fairmount to For~ Harker, dale Jan'y lt:l, 1869. 

<13 a.i 
Q;) Q;) 

.,; ~ ~ 
Consignee and ues-

oj 

Consignor. 
Q;) 

Description. ~ ..l:l ..<:I :;1 tination. ~c 0 <:.> oj c; 
~ 1:>1) a$ ~ "; ~ 
0 ·s ~ " <:,) Q;) 
oj 

~ 
Cll 0 

~ P-; p:j I=Q H 
--------r---------------1·--------1-----------

D. H. MitchelL... A~ Q. :M., Ft. Har- 165 Sacks corn........ 18, 000 88 .. .. .. .. • .. .. 158. 40 
ker. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLE, 

F1·eight Auditor. 
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No. 20.-A. S. 

1<,. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BIU, No. 56. 

UNION PACIFlC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1443; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of f1·eight fot·warded from Grant's to Fot·t Hm·km·, date Jan'y 19th, 1869. 

a5 I Coneign"" and dM· C1l 
Consignor. bJI Description. .;;> 

tination. "" 
,.<:I 

I ~ bt 
0 ·;p 

I ell 
~ ! ______ ~ 

D. H. Mitobell. ····I Q•. M•., Ft. Har- 170 I :::iacks corn .•...... 18,000 
ker. 

' A t-rue copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 21.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 57. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1254; initial,-. 

a5 a5 
<l> Q;) 

bl! bU ... ... 
"" ell 

~ ,.<:I '2 0 
o! 

i ~ ~ A 
0 0 C1l 

ell ell 0 .... 
p:.j ~ H ~ 

- -- -----
73 ......... 131.40 .. ......... 

M. H. GOBLI<~, 
F-reight Auditor. 

Local way-bill of freight forwarded frorn G1·ant's to Fort Hat·km·, date Jan'y 19ih, 1869. 

I 
I 

Consignee ancl des-
a5 

I Consignor. 
<l> 

Dt>scription. ~ tination. bt 

"" ~ bl! 
0 'Cil 
"" I ~ ~ 

----1--

D. H. Mitehell .... . Qr. Mr., Ft. Har- 170 j ~aoke of oorn ••.• ·I"• 000 
ker. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

H.Rep.I-36 

___ .... -~--

., a5 a5 
C1l <l> 
bl! bl! 

~ ~ 
,.<:I ,.<:I ~ 0 0 

o! s ~ ~ A 
0 0 C1l 

ell ell 0 t: ~ ~ H 
- -------
73 ···-·· 131.40 . .......... 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight Auditor. 



48 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 22.-A. S. 

l!'. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 9. 

UNION PACIFIC HAlLWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1421; initial, -. 

Local way· bill of freight forwar·ded frorn Williarnstmcn to Ft. Hm·ker, date Jan'.IJ 20th, 
18G9. 

Consignor. Consignee aml des­
tinat,ion. 

I I I ~£ 
~ I I I ~ ~c Description. E _ 

.!<l I .~v ~ I ~. ~0 
·------- ~ -------- _I_~ - .: .: ..., 

-D-.-H-.-M-it-c-he_l_L_. ___ -.-I-A-k-~. M., Fl. H~- 160 Sook.,holiO<loorn. l "_·_oo_o_.__7G--'-~-----~ ;,~, '---

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 23.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL .WAY-BILL No. 10. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1374; initial,-. 

l\1. H. GoBLE, 
FrtAght Auditor. 

Local way-bill of fr·eigl!t for·war·ded fr·ont Fairmount to Ft. Har·kcr·, date Jan'y 21st, 1SG9. 

Consignor. Conoi,noo an<l ""· ~ no...,ripLion. ~ j 1• J I o-d 
tination. _. .-. I C) ·oa 

~ ~n ~ ~ ] I ! 
D.H.Mitchell ..•.. ~~~-,;~.H-:;:~r~J~~ Sa{)kscorn .•••.••. ,lS,OOO iss=~=~~ 

A tl'lle copy of the original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLE, 

Freight Auditm·. 
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No. ~4.-A. S. 

P. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL Nn. 11. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 142G; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of freight f01'wat·ded front Fainnonnt to Fl. Harker, elate Jan'y ~2, 1869. 

rD 
Consignor. Consi.gnec and des- ~ DescripLion. bll :;:; tination. ~ 

~ 
'>.C 

'(i) 
c:l e: P; 

---- -- --- ---

D. R. Mitchell ... . . A. Q. M., Ft. Harker . 165 Sacks corn ....... 18,000 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 25.-A. S. 

P. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 11. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 14D2; initial,-. 

I 

~ ~ 
I bf. biJ 

;:; .... 
c:l 

~ 
,J:I 

I .-d 0 '@ 
$ ~ ~ ~ 

I 
~ c:l 0 
~ p;; H P; 

- ~-,--

88 - ..... . 158.4..() 

M. II. GOBLl<:, 
Freight .Auditor. 

Local way-bill of j1·eightjorwarderljrom Trilliarnstmcu to Port Harker, date ,Jan'y :!;)rd, 1HC~. 

Consignor. 
I 00 

Consignee. and des- I ~~ 
tmatwn. o; 

"" '-' 
~ 

P; 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

H. Rep. 3685-4 

Description. 

13G. 80 I 

M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eight Auditor. 



50 D. H. Ml'l'CIIEI~L. 

No. 26.-A. S. 

}'. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 12. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1315; initial, -. 

Luralu·ay-billof jrcightjorward(}(ljTorn Williamstown to Fm·t Ha1·Tcm·, dateJan'y23rd, 1369. 

ComJignor. 

D. II. Mitchell 

Consignee and des­
tination. 

A truo copy of the original way-bill. 

No. 27.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 12. 

UNION PACIFIC HAlLWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1361; initial,-. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight .Andito1·. 

Local way btll of frcigh t jonca1·dccl from Fairrnount to Ft. Hat·ker, date Jan'y 25, 1869 

Consig:nee anu des-
ai 

Consignor. 
<1l 

tination. bC 
c;l 

.!::l 
Q 
«! 
p, 

D. H. Mitchell ..... A. Q. M., Ft. Harker. 165 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

"' ai 
<1l <1> 
bfl bfl 

~ ~ 
D escription. ..;; ~ ~ ..0 

~ Q Q 
-~ 

t.IJ a) ~ 
~ p.. 

'$ ~ Q ~ <1l 

~ 
o! 0 ... 

~ ~ H p, 
1--------1------------

Sacks corn ....... . 18, COO 88 ........ . ..... HiP.40 

M. H. Gom.E, 
Freight Auditor. 
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No. 28.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCJAL WAY-BILL No. 1. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1354; initial,-. 

Local1VOlf·bill of freight jont,rwdeil j1·om Fai1·1nount to Ft. Harker, date Feb. 1, 1869. 

rn ,; 
IV IV 
biJ bl 

,; .. .. 
Consi:.:n(-c nml des· o:! ~ 

IV ..<:l .._; Consir;nor. 01) Description. ...; ..<:l 
tiuation. ol .d 0 0 -~ 

~ -~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 
0 ~ I;) OJ 
o:! 

~ 
ol 0 ~ p.; ~ p:.l H 

------·---1--------1'~--- --- ·---- --

JJ.ll.llitclH'll ····I.A.Q.:M., Fort Har­
licr. 

160 Sackscoru ........ 18,000 88 .............. 158.40 

----- -- -------

A trne l!opy of 1lw original wa-y-bill. 

No. 29.--A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 2. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1234 ; initial, -. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight A:uditm·. 

Local tvay-b·ill o.f freight furwa1'ded j'1·mn Fainnou,nt to Fm·t Ha1·ker, date Feb. 2, 1>lG9. 

Consignor. 

--

ee and des-Consign 
tin arion. 

---
I 

I 
,;, 
o:> 
b.t Desc-ri p Lion. ~ CIS 

I 
~ biJ 
0 ·a;; 
o:! 

~ p.; 

w ,;, 

I 
OJ o:> 
b~ biJ 
.... .. 
o:! ol 

..::l ..« .._; 
I;) 0 ·a 

Q;) ~ ~ p. 
~ 0 0 OJ 

ell 0 
~ ~ ~ H 

D. ll. :\fit.~hcll . . . . . A. Q. M 
ker. 

. , Fort liar-

--I Saok• Mn ..•.... ~. ;;;;- ;-1-:=: = .·.~ 15& 40 Hi5 

A tmo copy of 1 be original way-bill. 
M. H. GOBLE, 

Freight Auditor. 



n. IT. 1\HTOTfEJ.,L. 

No. 30.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

·LocAL WAY·BILL No.3. 

u:-;ION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Cnr ~o. 1:143; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of freight jol'wa.rdccl j,·om Williamstown to Fm·t Hm·ker, date Feb. 8, 1869. 

IIi 
Q) 

~ 
"' Consignor. Consignee antl des­

tim•tion. De:Jcriptitm. ~ -5 
·~ ~ ~ 

D. H. M ............ 

1 

A. Q. M., Fort Har· 
ker. 

~ p:; ~ 

S.ok,.bolled com -118, 000 --;;;- ~- · · 136.80 !·· ···· 
I 

160 

A true· copy of the original way-bill. 

No. :n.-A. s. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 4. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1201; initial, -. 

H. M. GOBLE, 
Freiglt t A udifor. 

Local way-bill of fteight fonvm·ded frmn Williamstown to Fm·t Ba1·ker, date Feb. 10, 1869. · 

----------------

Consignor. Consignee and des­
tination. 

I 
D.H.M ............ A.Q. M.,FortHar-~ 

ker, Kansas. 

A true copy of the original way-bill. 

--

I I 

00 ,;, 
Q) Q) 

t.O blJ .... 
<ll "' ascription. .p ~ -5 ~ ~ 

I 
0 

t'.(, 
~ ,.!( 

I ~ ~ "Ql 0 0 

~ "' "' 0 
~ p:; I=Q H 

·-------~--- - --· ·--- --

s shelled corn 118, 000 I 76 ......... 136 80 . ..... 

M. H. GOBLE, 
li'reight Auditor. 
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No. 32.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 2. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1429; ini.tial, -. 

Local tvay-bill of freight fm·1va1·ded f1·om Williamstown to Fm·t Hm·km·, date Fel1. 20, 18G!J. 

-

.;, 
Consignee and des-Consignor. 

~ Description. tination. bl) 

= ~ 
Q 
~ 
il; 

D.H.M ........... . A. Q. M., Fort Har-
kor. 

160 Sacks shelled corn 

A true copy of t,he original way-bill. 

No. 33.-A. S 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 49. 

I ..; ~ ~ 

I 
bl) 1>0 ... ... as <:<! 

~ ,.<:l .~ .-;: 
,.<:l Q Q I ·~ bl) ~ ,.!4 

...... 
·:p ~ p. 

~ Q ~ 

~ 
<:<! 0 ... 

~ ~ H p., 
- ----- --·-

18,000 176 ........ . 136.80 ...... .. 

I I 
I 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Ft·eight Attditm·. 

--

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 144 ; initial, -. 

Local way-bill of f?·eight fortvarded front Lawrence to Ha1·km·, date M'ch 4, 1869. 

Consignee and des-
rn 

Consignor. 
~ Description. ~ bl) tination. as ,.<:l 

~ 
bl) 

0 "8 as 
~ il; 

Wetherell-----· ... A. Q. M., Harker ... . 1 Car oats (150 sax) 18,000 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill em file in the freight auditor's 
office, Unio~ Pacific Ry. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight Auditor. 



54 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 34.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 23. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1303; initial,-. 

Local10ay-bill of f1'eight forwm·ded f1'01n Topeka to Harkm·, date M'ch 6, 1869. 

rD d; 
Q;> Q;> 
t.ll t.ll 

q, ~ '"' Consignee and des- <11 
Consignor. <1l Description. .... ..<:1 ..<:1 ..;:; 

tination. t.ll Q Q 
ol ..<:I ·a 
~ 

t.ll <l3 .!tl 
...... 
"" ::;. ·:v ~ Q Q <l) 

ol 
~ 

<11 ciS 0 
~ p. ~ ~ H 

D. H. MitchelL ..•. Maj.Inman,Ft..Har- 155 Sax oats .......... 18,000 ~=~~06.20 --
.k:er. 

I 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill on file in the freigllt auditor'tl 
office, Union Pacific Ry. 

No. 35.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 25. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1322; initial, -. 

M. H. GOBLJ<J, 
Freight Auditor. 

Local way-bill of f1'eight fm•warded from Topeka to f[m·km·, date M'ch 6, 1869. 

I Consignoo and d"-

rD -
d; 
Q;> Q;> 

bll b.C 
d; '"' ~ <11 

Consignor. <1l Description. .p ..<:I ..<:1 ~ bll Q 

1 

tination. <11 ..<:I Q 

"" ~ bll ! ~ ~ ::;. 
Q 'iii Q Q Q) 
ol 

~ 
ell ol 0 '"' p. ~ ~ H Poi 

153 1 Sax oat..-------- - ~ 1~ 000 

- -------

D. H. Mitchell ..... Maj. Inman,Ft. Har· 59 .......... 106.20 1··----ker. 
I I 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill on file in tile freight auditor's uffice, 
Union Pacific R'y. · 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight Auditm·. 



• 
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No. 36.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 65. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1235; initial,-. 

l.ocal way-bill of f?·eight fortvarded f1•om Lawrence to Hm·ker, date nlc'h fi, 1869. 

I 

Consignor. i Consignee and des 
1 1 ination. 

I 
~chweit.zet· ·------·~Major Inman, %D 

H. Mitchell,Harke 

I 

I 
I 

i·. l 
I 

,;, 
Q.l 

Description. bJl 
,;j 

..!:ol 

I ~ p.. 

I 
1 ! Car corn in sax, 

I shi~pllrs' count. 

,;, "' Q.l Q.l 
bL bJ) 
I'< I'< 
C'd 0:: 

...; ..:l ..:l .-d 

..:l <:> 0 
-~ 

e~ 
2:1 ..!:ol ell p. 

-~ <:> Q <:;> 

~ 
,;j C'd 0 I'< 
~ ~ H p.. 

I"·"'" 1-;1~-~~ 12G.CO 

--

. - ~ -- .. 

A trno copy of thA original impression way-bill on file in the freight antlitor's office, 
Union Pacific R'y. 

No. j7,-A. S . 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL WAY-:BILL No. 22. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1367; initial,-. 

H. M. GOBLE, 
F·reight .Auditor 

Local way-bill of j1·eight forwarded front Topeka to Hm·ku, date M'ch 6, 1809. 

---------~-C-on-~;~-ig_n_e_e_a_n_d_d_e-s-- Q.l~·n ~-Desct•l'pti'on. I ~ --- f I ! 
ConRignor. tination. •• .- - -

~p...:.; ~---------1--bll- <li ..!:ol "' 
:: -~ ~ ~ g 

~ ~ ~ H 
------1---------!--- -----

D. H. Mitchell _. __ . Maj. [nman, Ft.Har- 1 155 1 8ax oats .. -.---.-. 18, 000 59 . • - • - . JOG. 20 
, ker. 

-------'''------------'----'------------'-------,------'-----'---'----..l---· 

A trne copy of the original impression way-bill on file in the freight auditor's office, 
Union Pacific Ry. 

M. H. GOBLE. 
F1·eight .Auditor . 

• 



.16 D. R. MITCHELL. 

No. 38.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 24. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1239; initial, -. 

Local1Vay-bill of j1·eight forwarded j1·orn Topeka to Hm·ker, date M'ch 6, 1869. 

I oo oo 

~ I ~ ~ 
tination. <II ...::~ ~ "' ..... 

Consignor. Consi~rnce and des- bJJ Description. 

1 

..., ~ ...::~ ..::;; 

I 
~ l I ~ ~ 1 . ~ 

------- __ ----- ~ 
1 

_______ 

1

1 ~ ~ H P.. 

n.H.Mitchell ..••. l
1 

Major Inman, Ft. ~~ 155 Sax oats .......... 18,060 11--;=~= Harker. 
I 

A truecnpy 0f t Le original im,II'CS; ion way-bill on file in the freight auuitor's office, 
Union Pac .l'ie ]{y. 

. M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eight A /.tditm·. 

No. 39.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 74. 

UNION l'ACH'JC RAILW A Y 1 E. D. 

Car No. 1215; initial.-. 

Local toay-bill flj freiglltjm·wm·dtdjrom LauTcncf to Hm·ker, dale ~I'ch 8, 1RG9. 

Consignol'. 

WetlJercll ........ . 

c ••• ; ..... n ..... I ~ Descriptiun. 
tination. I ~ 

--- ---- '-~-1------·-
.A. Q. M., Harker .. -1160 I Sax oats, l'lhipper's 18, 000 

1 
count.. 

I 

A t Tnn cop,v of t.he original impression way-bill on file in the freight auditor's office, 
Union Pacific Ry. 

• 

M. H. GORLE, 
F1·eight Auditor . 



D. H. MITCHELL. 57 
No. 40.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 109. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1331; initial, -. 

Local 1vav-bW of j1·eightjorwm·dedf1'0in Law1·ence to Ha1·km·, date M'ch 11, 186~. 

Cont~ignor. 
Consignee and des­

tination. Description. 

--------------l---------------1----l---------------l------l---l-------------

Wetherell _ ... . . . _ A. Q. M., llarker .. _ 41 Sax oats, shipper's 4, 670 113 52.77 .•••.• 
count. East end 
of car. 

* Order of gen'l supt. 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill on file iu the freight auditor's office, 
Union Pacific Ry. 

No. 41.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 167. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. 1304; initial, --. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
F1·eiglzt Auditor. 

Local way-bill of freight fonvm·dedfrom LauTence to Harker, date M'ch 17, 1869. 

riJ ri I "' Ill 

riJ ~ l'.' 
Consignee and des- c:e c:e 

Consignor. "' Description. ~ ..0 ..0 ..r;; bt tination, c:e <:) 0 ·; 
~ .;:.tl c5 ~ ~ p. 
<:) 0 ~ <:) <:) "' tiS f:: tiS 0 

~ P-1 ~ P=l H 

[ "· 000 

- ---- ----- ---

Sohwnit•e< · ·· · ····[ Majodnm,n, R.,. 1 Car oats in sax, 70 ....... . 120.00 

1 

..... 
ker; %D.H. M1tch- shipper's count. 
ell. 

A true copy of the original impression way-bill on :file in the freight auditor's office, 
Union Pacific Ry. 

M. II. GOBLE, 
F-reight Auditor. 



58 D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 42.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LOCAL \VAY-BILL No. 192. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY, E. ». 

C2.r No. 1387; mitial, -. 

Local way-bill of fteight forwm·ded f1·ont Law1·mwe to Harke1·, elate M'ch 18, 1869. 

Consignee and des-Consignor. tination. 

Schweitzer . . . . . . . . 'Maj. Inman, Har­
ket·; % D.H.Mitch­
ell. 

ari 
<V 
O(j 
0! 

.!<I 
Q 

"' p, 

Description. .... 
.d 
bt 

'Ql 
~ 

ari ciJ 
cp cp 
to.O bD ... ... 
"' "' ~ .d .-d 
Q Q ·; 

~ .!<I c:;: ~ 
Q Q Cl 0:: aS 0 ... 

~ ~ H P-1 

1 • Car .oats in sax, ~- 18,000 .--;~= 131.40 =~ 
shipper's count. l 

--------------~--------·------~----------------------~--.C------------

A trnc copy of the original impression way-bill ou :file in the freight auditor's office, 
Union Pacific Ry. 

No. 43.-A. S. 

F. A. 701. 

LOCAL WAY-BILL No. 239. 

UNION PACIFIC RAILWAY. 

Car No. 1228; initial, -. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
FTeight .Auditm·. 

Local1vay-bill of f1'tightforwardedf1'0nt Law1·ence to HaTkm·, dateMm·ch j!3, 1869. 

--------------------....,-----:----:-------------,- ---------
1 ~ t 
I 

bJ) bli 

Consignee and des- ~ I ~ ~ · 
ConRig;nor. tination. ~c Description. I ; aS ~ I : I i 

I ~ I ~ I ~ ~ I j I ~ 
------, ~---k---~-c. SSacks oats, ship)---~f78( ---~--., ~--­
W. & M............ .A.. Q. M., Har er . ... , 1o.>O r~ pers' count~. 51 18, 000 !5c\ .. .. .. 133. uS L~~ 

I (!l'l'lify 1hat lhe foregoing is a true copy of the original tissue copy of the way­
llill nu file in thi~ office. 

JNO. G. TAYLOR, 
lJ'reight .Auclitm· . 

.By D. AUBRAY, 
Chief Clerk. 

(Stamped:) Union Pacific Ry., freight auditor's office, Omaha, Nebraska, Feb. 22, 
188:J. 



D. H. MITCHELL. 

No. 44.-A. S. 

F.A.l. 

LOCAL \VAY~BILL No. 15. 

UNION rACIFIC RAILWAY, E. D. 

Car No. --; initial-. 

Local ·way~bill of freight forwarded f1·om Wanmego to Fm·t Harke1·, date April9, 1869 • 

,;, .,; 
4) 4) 

bO bJj 

(TJ 
I'. ; 

Consig-nee and lles· = .d Consignor. 
Q.l rescription. ...; .d -d 

tination. b/) .d CJ Q ·o;; 01 b£ i ,!d 
,..., 

,!Ill '«) 01 A 
ii Q Q Q.l 

~ = <I) 0 ... 
~ ~ P=l H ~ 

---~-----J---------1---:------------------ ---

D. H. ·M............ Maj. Inman, Harker. 145 Sacks oats ........ 18,000 59 ............. 106.20 
Less 5 per <}t. .. . .. • .. • .. .. .. .. • • .. .. .. .. .. 5. :n 

Paid .. 100.89 

A trne copy of the original way-bill on file in the freight auditor's office, Union 
Pacific Ry. 

M. H. GOBLE, 

No. 45.-A. S. 

F. A. 1. 

LocAL WAY-BILL No. 20. 

UNION PACil<'IC RAII.W A Y, E. D. 

Car No. --; initial -. 

Local way-bill of freightfonvardedfrOJn Wamego to Hm·km·, dale April13, 1869. 

I ri .,; 
Q.l <l) 

b/) b/) 

Consignee and des-
.,; ~ ~ 

Consignor. Q.l Description. ~ .d .d -d 
tination. bll Q Q 

-~ CIS 
,!d b£ .;l .!4 <e A 
'-' ·;p Q CJ Q.l 
CIS 

~ 
C:l CIS 0 ... 

~ H P=l H ~ 
-------1--------J---J--------J·--- --· --------

D.H.M ............ Maj.Inman,A.Q.M., 147 Sks.oats .......... 18,000 59 .............. 106.20 
Harker. Less 5% .. .. .. .. 5. 31 

Paid .. 100. 89 

A true copy of the original way-bill on file in the freight auditor's office) Urdu11 
Pacific Ry. 

M. H. GOBLE, 
Freight .,Judilvr. 



60 

239 
1228 

WandM AQM 

Harker 

D. H. MITCHELL. 

EXJIIBIT W.-A. s. 

Lawrence Harker Mch 23" .9 

130 sacks oats 

· shippers count 13338 13338 

The deposition of F. C. Bulkley, fo1' claimant, taken at Leavenwm·th, Kans., on the 19th 
day of Febt·ua1·y, A. D. 1883. 

Claimant's counsel, \V. C. Hook; defendants' counsel, F. H. Howe. 
First general interrogatory by the commissioner. State your name, occupation, age, 

place of residence the past year; whether you have any, and if any what, interest, 
direct or indirect, in the claim which is the subject of inquiry; and whether, and in 
what degree, you are related to the claimant. 

Answer. F. C. Bulkley; age, 50 years; occupation during the last year, farmer; 
Leavenworth, Kansas; have no interest in the claim, and am not related to the 
claimant. 

And being further examined by claimant's counsel, witness says: 
I was a Government contractor during the year 1868, ancl up to J nne, 1869. I hauled 

a great deal of grain during that time for the Government, and was familiar with the 
business. All the corn I ever furnished the Government was in gunnies. 

Question 1. State as near as yon can the average weight of sacks filled with corn 
for the Government, as above mentioned, during the time that you have specified, 
at Fort Leavenworth, or any other place within the State of Kansas or Indian Ter­
ritory, at which corn was furnished during such time. 

(Objected to by Government's counsel, that no fonndatiou has been laid to show 
tl1at the witness is competent to answer the question.) 

Answer. The sacks would average from 120 to 140 pl')tmds, owing to the way they 
were :filled. 

Question 2. State, if you know, the average capacity of sacks in use at the time 
above specified-in use hy the trade-for supplying shelled corn to the Government. 

(Same objection.) 
Answer. I do know; from 120 to 150 pounds. I have shipped and sold a great deal 

of corn during that year, and know it from the average I received from the Gov­
ernment and other parties. I furnished corn to the Government at different times 
from 1862 to 1873, and during that time the sacks in use were of the same capacity as 
before mentioned. 

Question 3. State whether or not during any of the years above mentioned you 
shipped any corn upon any railway for the Government; and, if so, state if you rec­
ollect the number of pounds that the company limited to the car, and state what 
you know as to the manner in which way-bills were made out, and whether they 
were generally corre(\t as to the number of sacks and pounds. 

(Objected to as incompetent and irreleYant.) 
Answer. I can only answer as to the shipments made by myself. At that time the 

ca1·s were generally billed at 18,000 pounds, and we were charged by the car, but we 
always put on what we could get on, and got paid by the Government for what we 
hacl on the car. We frequently put on more sacks than the way-bill showed. 

Cross-examination: 
Being interrogated by the Government counsel, the witness says: 
The capacity of sacks spoken of in my direct examination referl:l to shell corn. 

If ear corn was packed in the same sack you could not get more than 70 pounds in a 
sack. The testimony I have given relates to my own experience. I have no knowl­
edge of any corn delivered to the Government by the claimant. 

Redirect: 
Of any corn other than shelled corn being delivered to the Government in gunny 

sacks I have no knowledge. 
"F'. C. BULKLEY. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day of February, A. D. 1883. 
W. M. PINKSTON, 

Notary Public. 
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1he deposition of Owen Duffy, for ctai1nant, taken at Leavenworth, Ka'Jts., on the 19th day 
of Febru-ary, A. D. 18t:l3. 

Claimant's counsel, W. C. Hook; defendant's counsel, F. H. Howe. 
First general interrogatory by the commissioner. State your name, occupation, age, 

place of residence the past year; whether you have any, and if any what, interest, 
direct or indirect, iu the claim which is the subject of inquiry; and whether and in 
what degree you are related to the claimant. 

Answer. My name is Owen Duffy; age is 47 years; occupation, woolen business 
and handling grain; reside at Leaven worth, Kans. ; have no interest in the claim, 
and am not related to the claimant. 

Being examined by W. C. Hook, esq., counsel for claimant: 
I have been in the grain business since 1867. I have shipped grain to the Govern­

ment and private parties, and to the markets. I have had contracts with the Gov­
ernment for furnishing shelled corn during the years stated. 

Question 1. Stat~, if you know, the average capacity of sacks used by the Govern­
ment and by private persons for 8helled corn during the time that you were in the 
grain business. 

(Objected to by the Government's counsel, because the witness has not been shown 
to be competent to answer the question.) 

Answer: I do not know. By refreshing my memory from looking over my books, 
I find that in the month of March, 1870, I shipped fourteen cars of corn to Saint 
Louis, containing 3,967 sacks, which netted 10,824 bushels and 30 pounds of corn, 
which appears to make about 150 pounds of corn to the sack. It was shipped to 
J. W. Booth & Son, of Saint Louis. I think the sacks used in this shipment were 
the ~runny sacks in use at that time. I think there can be no doubt about it, as I do 
not know of any other kind of sack being in use at that time, nor for two or three 
years prior thereto-! mean sacks for shipping corn. There might have been a three­
bushel sack in use at that time, but I do not know that it was in general use. 

(The whole of the above testimony is objected to by the Govemment cotmsel as 
being incompetent and irrelevant, and as not tending to prove the question at issue.) 

Cross-examination: 
Witness being examined by Government counsel : 
In 1868 and 1~69 the sacks in use would hold 150 pounds, if filled as stated in the 

shipment above referred to. The last I have seen, according to my book, is about _126 
pounds to the sack. If it was ear corn these sacks would contain about half of the 
weight stated above, but I never heard of any being shipped that way to the Gov­
ernment. 

OWEN DUJ.<'FY. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19th day of February, A. D. 18~3. 
W. M. PINKSTON, 

lfotary Public. 

[Court of Claims. No. 11940. D. H. Mitchell v. The United States.] 

Deposition of F1·ed Zirnmerman, for claimant, taken at Lea1•enworth, Kans., on the 14th 
day of December, A. D. 1880. 

Claimant appeared on his own behalf; defendant's coun~el, R. A. Orbison. 
First general interrogatory by the commissioner. Please to state your name, your 

occupation, your age, your place of residence the past year; whether you have any, 
and if any what interest, direct or indirect, in t.he claim which is the subject of in­
quiry; and whether and in what degree you are related to the claimant. 

Answer. My name is Pred Zimmerman; my occupation is United States internal­
revenue ganger; my age is forty y_ears; my place of. residenc~ the l!ast. year is ~ea­
venworth City, Kans.; I have no mterest whatever m the claim whwh IS the subJect 
of inquiry; I am no relation whatsoever to the claimant. 

Being interrogated by DAVID H. MITCHELL, the claimant, the witness says: 
Question 1. State where you were in the winter of 1868-'69. 
Answer. I was at Port Harker, Kans. 
Question 2. State what capacity you were acting in at Port Harker. 
Answer. J was a forage-master. 
Question 3. I'll get you to state if you knew of D. H. Mitchell shipping corn to 

}'ort Harker that winter. 



62 D. H. MITCHELL. 

Answer. I did. 
Question 4. State, if you know, the average weight of the cars shipped there by 

D. H. Mitchell, during the winter of 1868-'6t). 
Answer. I don't remember whether Mr. Mitchell was the only contractor that de­

livered there or not, consequently I don't know whether they were his cars or tha 
other party's cars, if any other party was there. The cars that were received there 
about that time-the weight of the grain that was received in those cars-was about 
24,000 pounds, on an average, per car-load. 

Question 5. State if you have any recollection of car-loads of corn that were 
shipped that winter weighing 28,00() and 29,000 pounds. 

Answer. I don't recollect of any cars weighiog 28,000 or 29,000 pounds, but I do 
recollect of one car-load of either corn or oats weighing 27,800 pounds. 

Question 6. State, if you know, how many cars of corn were shipped there that 
winter l1y D. H. Mitchell. 

Answer. I don't know. 
Question 7. What became of the books that you kept as forage-master during the 

winter of 1868-'69, at Fort Harker, Kans. f 
Answer. I turned them over to my successor, Groan M. Thompson. 
Quf'stion 8. Do you know whether or not there was a large amount of corn and 

oats shipped to Fort Harker the winter of 186fl.,...'69 f 
Answer. I know there was a large amount of grain at Fort Harker that winter. 

Some of it was taken from the cars and stored there, and other was taken directly 
from the cars and loaded on wagons, taken to the forage-yard, weighed, and distrib­
uted from there to other posts. 

Question 9. Was Fort Harker a distributing point for other frontier posts that 
winterY 

Answer. It was, in the first part and middle of the winter of 1868-'69. 

Cross-examination: 
Being cross-examined by R. A. Orbison, esq., for the United States, the witness 

says: · 
Cross-question 1. How far was Fort Harker from the railroad station f 
Answer. The fort itself was very near a quarter of a mile, and the forage-yard very 

near three-quarters of a mile. 
Cross-question 2. Did you see the grain unloaded from the cars shipped by D. H. 

Mitchell, during the winter of 1868-'69 f 
Answer. I did not. 
Cross-question 3. Where did your duties require you to be at that time? 
Answer. At the forage-yard, hay-yard, and wood-yard. 
Cross-question 4. How was the grain transported from the cars to the forage-yard T 
Answer. If you refer to the grain that was to be stored in the forage-yard, it was 

hauled in Government teams. · 
Cross-question 5. How was that transported which was not stored at the forage­

yard T 
Answer. Part of it was hauled up from the depot to the forage-yard by Govern­

ment teams and weighe(l there at the scales, and reloaded in contractors' wagons, 
and part of it-the contractors' wagons-were first weighed at the scales, driven down 
to the depot, loaded, and reweighed at the scales, to ascertain the weight of the 

grain. t' 6 D'd f h · · th · · h d Cross-ques 10n . 1 yon see any o t e cars contammg e gram wmg e , or 
did you see the grain weighed as it came out of the cars f 

Answer. No; I weighed the grain at the scales at the forage-yard myself. 
Cross-question 7. How was the corn which Mr. Mitchell shipped received that 

winterY 
Answer. The corn that was received at the forage-yard at Fort Harker that winter 

was shelled, and received in gunny sacks. 
Cross-question 8. Is it not a fac~ that those gunny sacks contained about two 

bushels and a peck of corn f 
Answer. The sacks contained all the way from 118 to 155 pounds of corn, but the 

average was 127, 128, or 129 pounds. I speak in general terms; this does not refer 
particularly to the winter of 1868-'69. 

Cross-question 9. Did not the corn received during the winter of 1.868-'69, from Mr. 
Mitchell, average about the same weight per sack as you have stated in your laHt 
answerf 

Answer. To my recollection they were heavier. 
Cross-question 10. Do you not know that those cars containing the corn that Mr. 

Mitchell shipped during the winter of 1868-'69, on the Kansas Pacific Railway to Port 
Harker, were billed at 18,000 pounds. 

Answer. I do not. 
Cross-question 11. How can you recollect at this date that those cars that we:re J,'e· 
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ccived twelve years ago from Mr. Mitchell or any one else at Fort Harker averaged 
24,000 pounds¥ 

Answer. It is my general recollection. 
Cross-question 12. Can you state the number of sacks of corn that were received 

from any one car during that winter T 
Answer. I can not. 
Cross-question 13. Can you state the average number of sacks per car received that 

winter ~~ 
.Answer. I can uot. 
Cross-question 14. State briefly how the accounts of corn and oats received were 

kept by you and to whom you accounted. 
Answer. I kept a book in which I kept an account of grain recei \'ed and issued 

daily, and I made a daily report of grain received and issued to the qnar~ermaster or 
acting quartermaster at Fort Harker, who, during the winter of l<l6t3-'69, were l\faj. 
Henry Inman, Lieut. L. W , Cook, Capt. John F. Rogers, United St.a"!;cs military 
store-keeper; and I think Lieutenant Mackintosh, I think, of tht) Seventh Cavalry. 

Cross question li. When did you leave l<'ort Harker f 
Answer. I think February or March, 1869. 

Redirect examination: 
On redirect examination by the claimant, the witness says: 
Redirect question 1. State if you haven't heard this matter spoken of ever since the 

winter of 1868-'69. 
Answer. I think it was 18i2 or 1873 that the matter came prominently before me. 

Recross-examination: 
Recross-question 1. Were you not absent from ~,ort Harker from the middle of No­

vember, 1868, to the middle of December, 1868 'I 
Answer. Under Lieut. J.. W. Cook's administration, I was away a week, ten, or 

fourteen days, but just when it was I don't know, and how long. 
Recross question 2. Did you not make an affidavit on the 5th of December, 1876, 

before H. R. Pendery, that you were absent from J!'ortHarker from the middle of No­
vember, 1868, to the middle of December, 1868¥ 

Answer. I do not recollect, but the pay rolls at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, will 
show exactly the time I was away. 

(Paper marked "A, Henry Wollman, notary public," shown witness.) 
Recross-question 3. Is the signature Fred Zimmerman on this paper yours f 
Answer. Yes. 
8econd general interrogatory by the commissioner. Do you know of any other matter 

relative to the claim in question¥ If you do, state it. 
Answer. I don't know anything else. 

l<'RED. ZIMMEIU\fAN. 
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 14th day of December, A. D. 18~0. 
[SEAL.) HENRY WOLLMAN, 

Notary Public, Commissioner. 

Deposition of John A. Gaston, fo ·r clairnant, taken at Deadwood! Dakota Territory, on thB 
14th day of Decernber, A. D. 18tH. 

Claimant's counsel, A. R. Z. Dawson; defendants' counsel, A. J. Plowman. 

And thereupon the said John A. Gaston was examined by the counsel for the claim­
aut and, in answer to interrogatories, testified as follows: 

Question 1. State your name, age, residence, and occupation. 
Answer. John A. Gaston; am forty-seven years old; reside at Deadwood, Dak., and 

am a broker by occupation. 
Question 2. State where yon resided and what business you were engaged in during 

the fall of 1868, and the winter of 18l58 and 1869. 
Answer. I ref:lided in Leavenworth, Kans., and was engaged in the grain and pro­

dnee business. 
Qnestion 3. State whether or not you shipped any corn from Leavenworth, Kans., 

to the quartermaster at Fort Harker, Kansas, daring that time. 
('I'his question is objected to upon the ground of immateriality.) 
Answer. I <lid. 
Qne:;tion 4. State for whom you shipped such corn. 
Ammer. I<'or David H. Mitchell. 
QuPHt.ion 5. State as near as you can the number of car-lo~da shipped and the time 

when shipped. 
11. Rep. l-37 
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Answer. In answer to this I'must rely solely upon memory, as all my books and paper 
were uestroye(l by fire. I should judge, however, that I shipped seven or eight car­
loads, and I think it was in December, 1868. I think it was before January 1 of 
1869. 

Question 6. State whether or not David H. Mitchell paid you for such corn, and 
state whether or not you received pay therefor from the United States Government 
or any other person than David H. Mitchell. 

Answer. Yes, sir; David H. Mitchell paid me. No one else ever paid me for it; the 
Government never paid me. 

Question 7. State if you can what price per bushel said Mitchell paid you for said 
corn. 

Answer. I will say, as near as I can recollect, about 85 cents; it was about that; it 
may have been more than that; t.hat. was for corn shelled, sacked, and on board the 
Ca"S, 

Qnesticn 8. State what, if any, interest, direct or indirect, yon have in the claim 
which is tl:.:e subject of inquiry, and whether you are related to the claimant, David 
H. Mitchell; and, if S<J, in what degree. 

Answer. I have no in+,erel:lt in the claim whatever; there is no relation between the 
claimant, David H. Mitchell, and myself; this was purely a business transaction be­
t\veen us. 

Question 9. State whether you know of any other matter relative to the claim in 
question; and, if so, state it. 

Answer. No, sir; I do Ht-t. 

The said w1t.ness was then cros1'1-£xamiaed by the special counsel for the United 
States af1d, in auswer to interrogatorH•s, testified as follows: 

Cross-q nestion 1. St,att'· the exact times you l:lhipped corn to 1.he q nartermaster at 
Fort Harker, in the State of Kansas. 

Answer. I can not give the days, for the reason, as I have stated, that my books 
and papers were burned up. 

Cross-question 2. Can you state the month positivelyf 
Answer. I think it was in December, 1868. 
Cros~S-question 3. State who was the quartermaster at Fort Harker, Kansas, at that 

time. 
Answer. I do not know h1s r!-l.me. We always shipped to the quartermaster. 
Cross-questiu::::t 4. By what railroad did you ship this corn f 
Answer. The Kansas Pacific. 
Cross-question 5. Did you ship the corn in sacks or in bulk f 
Answer. In sacks and shelletl. 
Cross-question 6. How many lmshels in a sack f 
Answer. As near as I can recollect there was 2i bushels. 
Cross-question 7. How many sacks to the car-load f 
Answer. Don't remember. 
Cross-question 8. Are you positive as to the number of car-loads you shipped f 
Answer. Nv, sir; as I said before, I think there were sev-en. or eight. 
Cross-question 9. Might it not have been less than seven¥ 
Answer. No; sir; I think that if it is anything it was more. 
CrollS-(plestion 10. If the books of the Kansas Pacific Railroad showed that you had 

only shipped five car-loads, what woulcl you say as to your memory being correct? 
Answer. I think the books of the railroad company ought to show, but I think I am 

cor-rect. 
Cross-question 11. Where was this corn shipped from? 
Auswi3.L'· The most of It was shipped from Leaven worth. I think I shiJ?ped a couple 

of car loa.d~5 from Fairmount, but as to this I am not positive. 
Cross-question 12. How many did you ship from Leavenworth 1 
Answer. I t.hink seven or eight. 
Cross-question 13. Are you positive you shipped this amount from Leavenworth, 

Kans.¥ 
Answer. No, sir, I am not; but this is correct to the best of my belief. 
Cross-question 14. Do you rely entirely upon your memory in making this state­

ment'/ 
Answer. Yns, sir; I have nothing else to go by. 
(The attorney for the claimant here states that as the attorney for the defendant 

has stated to the witness that the railroad statements show no (lorn shipped from 
Leavenworth by the witness, that the witness's reply to this statement is in answer 
to a question and should be here incorporated, which is as follows: I state positively 
tbu.t I did ship corn to C]_uarterrnaster at Fort Harker, Kans. 

Defendant objeets to thil:l statt1ment of counsel as being improper, and should be 
brought out by him in rebuttal-not being an answer to any question by defendant's 
counsel.) 

Cross-question 15. What dici. you say Mitchell paid you pe1· bushel for this cornY 
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Answer. Well, as near as I can remember, it was 85 cents. It might have been 90. 
Cross-question 16. Do you state this upon your own knowledge or upon information 

recently acquired from others? 
Answer. It must have been from a message I received. I want jt understood 

that this man I telegraphed to has nothing whatever to uo with the case. 
Cross-question 17. Isn't it a fact that you solu some of this cvrn to Mitchell, t,he 

claimant, for 60 cents per bushel? 
Answer. I think not, sir. That was less than I could buy it for. 
Cross-question 18. Are you positive you diu not? 
Answer. No, sir; I don't think I did. I am not positive of anything except that I 

shipped corn ti·om Leavenworth. 
Cross-question 19. How many bushels of corn did you ship to the quartermaster at 

Fort Harker, Kans., for the claimant, Mitchell, during the winter of 1868 and 1r:l6D 'I 
Give me the total number of bushels. 

Answer. I don't know. 
Cross-question 20. State the total amount of money paid to you by Mitchell for the 

corn shipped by you for him to the said quartermaster. 
Answer. I don't know. 
Cross-question 21. How long have you known the claimant, Mitchell? 
Answer. About twenty-four years. 
Cross-question 22. Do you know whether or not he has been convicted of fraud in 

presenting this claim for payment by the Government? 
Amnver. No, sir; I know nothing about it. 
Cross-question 23. How long were you in the grain business in Leavenworth, Kans., 

and during what years? 
Answer. I should judge it was about six months. That was in 1868 and 1869, to the 

best of my belief. 
Cross-question 24. Dit1 you ever ship any oats for the claimant during this time? 
Answer. I don't think I did. 
Cross-question 25. Might not some of these car-loads of grain you shipped have 

been oats-those you shipped to Mitchell? 
Answer. I don't think they were. 
Cross-question 26. Was there at this time, and is there now, any friendship existing 

between you and the claimant? 
Answer. Nothing but what may be called a" business friendship." 
Cross-question 27. Have yon not sent telegrams to get information in his behalf in 

support of this claim? 
Answer. No, sir ; not in his behalf. 
Cross-question 28. Did you not telegraph to Leavenworth, Kans., yesterday to as­

certain the price of corn there during Ul68 and 1869, the time you were in the grain 
business there ? . 

Answer. I telegraphed to ascertain the price of corn in 1868. 
Cross-question 29. Do not you base the price (85 cents) to which you testified above 

upon the answer to your telegram 'l · 
Answer. I relied both upon my own recollection and the information in the tele­

gram. 
Cross-question 30. Could you have fixed the price at 85 cents without the informa­

tion you got in the telegram ? 
Answer. I don't think I could. 
Cross-question 31. Have you not employed counsel for the claimant in this exami­

nation? 
Answer. Mr. \Vashabaugh, the clerk of the court, came to me and told me to get lln 

attorney to ask these questions. 

The examination by counsel being concluded, the witness, in compliance with the 
rule of the court requiring him to state whether he knows of any other matter rela­
tive to the claim in question, and if he does to state it, says that he does not . 

• JOHN A. GASTON. 
Subscribed and sworn to before me, December 14, 1881. 

FRANK J. W ASHABAUGH1 
United States Commissioner. 

Deposition of J. H. Stringfellow, for claimant, taken at Saint Joseph, Mo. 

Claimant appeared in his own behalf; defendants' counsel, Silas Woodson. 
Pirst general interrogatory by the notary public. Please state your name, your occu­

pation, your age, your place of residence the past year; whether you have any, and, 
if any, what, interest, direct or indirect, in the claim which is the subjec~ of inq,tliry1 
n.nd whether, and in what degree, you &>re rela.teQ. to t4e cla.imn.q.t, " 

H. Rep, 3685-5 
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Answer. My name is John H. Stringfellow; I am a physician; my age is sixty-two 
years; I have resided in the city of Saint Joseph, in the State of Missouri, during 
the past year; I have no interest, direct or indirect, in the claim which is the subject 
of this inquiry, and I am in no degree related to the claimant, D. H. Mitchell. 

Being interrogated by D. H. MITCIIELL, the claimant, for himself, the witness 
says: 

Question 1 (by claimant). Where did you reside in the year 18761 
Answer. In the city of Atchison, in the State of Kansas. 
Question 2. I'H get you to state if yon was one of the jury at the April term of the 

United States district court held at the city of Topeka, in the State of Kansas, in the 
year 1876. 

Answer. I was one of the petit jury of the United States district court at the city 
of Topeka, in the State of Kansas, at the April term of said court in tho year 1876. 

Qtwstion :L I'll get you to state if you sat in the case as a juror in tho case of the 
United ~tates agai·nst D. H. Mitchell, which was tried at that term. 

Answer. I did. 
Question 4. What was the nature of the charge in that case i 
Answer. Upon an indictment for presenting a fraudulent claim against the United 

States. 
Question 5, 6. I'll ask the doctor to state, if he recollects, on what evidence the jury 

found the verdict of guilty against the defendant. 
(Counsel for the United States objects to the witness answering the question be­

cause it is immaterial and irrelevant to any issue involved in the trial, that being a 
criminal case and this being a civil case.) 

Answer. I do not recolJect all the evidence that was introduced, but their verdict 
was bas~d on testimony showing that the defendant had presented a claim for pay­
ment of certain corn which had previously been paid for by the Government. 

Question 7. I'll get yon to state if that verdict of the jury was on the evidence in­
t,roduced from the books as kept by the Government at Fort Harker. 

(Objected to on the part of counsel for the Government, because it is not competent 
for the witness to state what evidence is shown by the books kept by the Government, 
and because it is not competent for the witness to detail the whole or any part of the 
eviaeuce given on the trial at Topeka, and because the question is leading.) 

Answer. My verdict was based on the fact that it was shown· in the testimony 
that the amount claimed in the voucher presented by Mitchell for payment had been 
previously paid for by the Government in another voucher taken up by the Govern­
ment for the same identical grain, but it was not intended by that verdict to state 
that the Government was not indebted to the defendant, Mitchell, for an amount of 
grain greatly in excess of the amount asked for by the fraudulent voucher; and that 
it was proven, and not denie(l by the Government, that said Mitchell had delivered 
an amount of corn equal to nearly 400,000 pounds, for which he had received no pay­
ment from the Governmt'nt. 

(Counsel Oil the part of the Government objects to the answer to question 7, be­
cause it is not 1·esponsive to the question and states a great many irrelevant and im­
matedal matters.) 

QuestionS. You may state if the Government on that trial claimed to have paid on 
contract of November 9,1868, for more than 400,666 pounds of corn. 

(Objected to on part of counsel for the Government because incompetent and ille­
gal.) 

Answer. The Government <?nly proved upon that trial payment to Mitchell for 
400,666 pounds of corn under that contract. 

Question 9. I'll get you to state what months in 1868 and 1869 that 400,666 pounds 
of corn was delivered to the Government. 

Answer. It was-in November and December, 1868, and January and February, 1869, 
to the best of my recollection. 

Qtwstion 10. I'll get you to state if the evidence shown by D. H. Mitchell didn't 
show, during those same months of 1868 and 1869 a much larger amount than tho 
books of the Government. 

(Objected to by counsel for the Government because the question is leading, calls 
for hearsay evidence, and that which is wholly immaterial and irrelevant.) 

Answer. It was proven to the satisfaction of the jury that during those months of 
November and December, 1868, and January and :February, 1869, said Mitchell deliv­
ered to the Government at Fort Harker 792,000 pounds of corn, while the quartermas­
ter's books at Port Harker, which were in evidence, only showecl a credit to Mitchell 
for the receipt of 400,666 pounds of corn. 

Question 11. I'll get yon to state if that amount included any corn delivered during 
the month of March, 1869. 

Answer. My recollection is that it did not. 
Question 12. I'll get you to state if the verdict of the jury was not for asking pay 
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for corn delivered on the same dates that it appeared had been paid for, and not that 
the jury decided the Government was not indebted to claimant for a large amount of 
grain furnished the Government. 

(Objecteu to by counsel for the Government because it is leading and irrelevant, 
and because the witness has no right to explain or speak of the intention ofthejury 
as indicated by their verdict.) 

Answer. I will state, in answer to that question, that during President Grant's ad­
ministration and subsequent to Mitchell's conviction, I made an affidavit, when the 
facts were all fresh in my memory, and I am of tho s~tme opinion still, that tbe ver­
dict of that jury was for the reason that a demand was made upon the Government 
for payment the second time for grain already paid for by them, and not that he still 
(lid not have a valid claim against the Government for the amount of nearly 400,00(11 
pounds still unpaid for by the Government and due said Mitchell. The affidavit re­
ferred to is printed on pages 82 and 83 of what purports to be the printed evidence in 
this case, and the proceedings therein, in the words and :figures following, to wit : 

'l'HE STATE OF KANSAS, Leavenworth County, ss: 
We, the undersigned, do hereby make oath, and do under oath say that we were 

jurors in the trial of the case of the United States against David H. Mitchell, tried 
before the district court of the United States for the district of Kansas for the April 
term, 1876; that it was shown in that case that the said David H. Mitchell bad de­
livered under contract and orders from the proper military authority at Fort Harker, 
during the winter of 1868-'69, a large quantity of corn, for which there did not appear 
any evidence tending to show that 792,000 pounds of corn were delivered by Mr. 
Mitchell during said months of November and December, 1868, and January and Feb­
ruary, 1869; and that there was no evidence produced on the trial of the payment of any 
amount over 400,666 pounds of corn; and the undersigned further say that the verdict 
in the case was based on the fact that the claim (for presenting and swearing to 
which Mitchell was indicted and tried) set fort4 the exact items for which be was 
previously paid, and which were included in the payment for the 400,666-pounds 
voucher or claim, and the verdict in this case was based on this fact, and not on any 
evidence that the Government had paid him for all the corn which the evidence 
showed that he bad delivered to the United States at Fort Harker. 

'l'be undersigned further say that there was evidence admitted by the Government 
tending to prove that Mitchell delivered the entire amount hereinbefore specified, to 
wit, 792,000 pounds, the evidence showing payment for 400,666 pounds, and if the 
difference between these two amounts has not been paid for we believe, under the 
evidence, tha,t Mitchell has yet a just claim for that amount. We desire to be un­
derstood plainly in our statements that the result of the trial came from the fact that 
the claim was for vouchers already paid, and not from the fact that the Government 
was not indebted to him, for we believe, as before stated, that the evidence shows 
the Government indebted to Mitchell for the difference between 792,000 pounds and 
400,666 pounds, which would be 391,334 pounds, less48,657, which was shown to have 
been paid in the oats contract and voucher. This would leave the net difference 
34~,677 pounds, and for this amount, to wit, 342,677 pounds of corn Mitchell has, ac­
cording tfo the evidence, a valid claim against the Government. '!'here was no evi­
dence introduced on the trial tending to show any payment to Mitchell for this 
amount. Whether it has been paid or not the undersigned do not pretend to know 
or say; but if not paid, Mitchell, according to the evidence! is entitled to payment 
therefor. Again, we desire to say, to avoid misunderstanding, that the jury did not 
decide by their verdict that Mitchell bad no just claim against the Government, but 
only that be was not entitled to payment for the items specified in his voucher, and 
for the presentation of which he bad doubtless violated the law. 

C. REASONER, 
Foreman Jury. 

JOHN H. STRINGFELLOW. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by C. Reasoner and John H. 
Stringfellow this 3d day of May, A. D. 1876. 

LSEAL.] J. S. BERRY, 
Notary Public. 

(Counsel for the Government objects to the answer to question 12 because the evi­
dence therein is illegal, incompetent, hearsay, and irrelevant.) 

Question 13. Now I'll get you to state if you made an affidavit on the 9th day of 
December, 1876. 

Answer. Yes. 
Question 14. I'll get you to staile the contents of that affidavit. 
(Counsel for the Government objects to question 14 because it is illegal, irrelevant, 

and asking him to state the contents ot a document that is not before him.) 
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Answer. The said affidavit is printed in what. purports to be a copy of the printed 
evidence in this ca&e on page 92, and is in the ·words and figures following, to wit, 
which I believe to be the exact language used by me in said affidavit: 

STATE OF KANSAS, Leavenwm·th Cmtnty, 88: 

We, the undersigned, do make oath and say that we were jurors in the trial of the 
case of the United States against David H. Mitchell, tried before tbe district court ot 
the United States for the district of Kansas, for the April term, 1876; that since the 
said tritLl we have read the papers duly certified to by Lot M. Morrill, Secretary of 
the Treasury ofthe United States, dated 27th day of July, 1876, with the seal attached, 
au<l say had the same been produced and read on the trial of said cause we would 
have given a different verdict, and we would have found the defendant not guilty. 
We give this statement freely and cheerfully, with a view that Mr. Mitchell may ob­
tain Executiye clemency from the President of the United 13Lates, which he is justly 
entitled to. 

JOHN H. STRINGFELLOW, M. D. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 9th day of December, A. D. 1876. 
[SEAL.] PETER S. NOBLE, 

Notm·y Public. 

Question 15. I see here in your affidavit of November 9, 1876, you stated, after tlw 
trial, after seeing papers certified to by Lot M. Morrill, Secretary of the Treasury of 
the United States, dated July 27, 1876, with the seal attached, yon state that bad the 
same been produced on the day of the trial you would have given a different verdict: 
and found the defendant not guilty. I'll get you to state what there was in that certi­
fied paper, certified to by Morrill, Secretary of the Treasury, that caused you to chauge 
your opinion. 

(Objected to by counsel for the Government because the evidence sought is illegal, 
is not applicable to any issue involved in this case, and is wholly irrelevant to the 
points at issue between the parties.) 

Answer. I hardly know how to answer that question. I have not seen those papers 
from that day to this, and I can only suppose that the papers alluded to m that 
affidavit contained some facts in connection with the delivery of grain by Mitchell at 
Fort Harker that tended to show or did show that the voucher alleged to be fraudu­
lent and upon which he was convicted was for a valid delivery of grain not accounted 
for by the quartermaster. 

Question 16. After looking over all reports and telegrams from Major Inman to 
General Easton, chief quartermaster of the Department of the Mississippi, if you 
would give much credit to Henry Inman's private books of purchase that was intro­
duced at trial as evidence. 

(Objected to by counsel for the Government because it is uncertain aud indefinite, 
and also irrelevant and incompetent evidence.) 

Answer. I will answer by stating that at the trial, and subsequently from reading 
Major Inman's deposition touching this case, that during the time when this corn was 
bei11g (lelivered, from November, Hl68, to Ji-.ebruary, Hl69, inclusive, the officers in 
charge of the Government depot at Fort Harker being changed Yery frequently, Major 
Inman being absent in the field with General Sheritlan, the books were so loosely kept 
as to have been entirely unreliable as evidence, as was shown by the testimony in 
the case at the trial, and subsequently by Major Iuman's affidavit. 

Being cross-examined by SILAS WooDSON, counsel for the Government, the witness 
says:· 

(Not having time to complete the taking of the evidence, an account of the close of 
the day, the further taking of this deposition was continued to February 9, 1882, at 
nine o'clock a. m.) 

[SEAL.] JOHN M. STEWART, 
Nota1·y Public. 

FEBRUARY 9, 1882. 
Met pursuant to adjournment. The cross-examination of John H. Stringfellow, wit­

ness, being commenced on the part of Silas Woodson, counsel for the Government, 
the witness says : 

Question I. State if the claimant, D. H. Mitchell, to your personal knowledge, ever 
delivered any corn or oats, in November and December, 1868, and January and Feb­
ruary, 18t19, for the benefit of the Army of the United States at Fort Harker or else­
where. 

Answer. I never saw any such delivery personallY. 
Question 2. In yonr deposition yesterday, upon your examination-in-chief, when 

you spoke of corn having been delivered by him, did you or not speak from informa­
tion derived from others, and not from personal know ledge f 
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Answer. I spoke from facts testified to by witnesses in the case of the Government 
against Mitchell at the April term of the United States district court, held at Topeka 
in 1876, for presenting a fraudulent claim against the United States, I being one of 
the jurors in the case, antl not from any per.:;onal knowledge that I had from the facts 
in the case. 

Question 3. Were you at Fort Harker in the fall or winter of 1868, or winter or 
spring of 18G9' 

Answer. I was not. 
Question 4. When you spoke yesterday in your examination-in-chief of the frequent 

change iu officers in the United States Army at Fort Harker, and the manner in which 
the books were kept there by Acting Quartermaster Major Inman and others, did 
you speak from, personal lmowleJge or information derived from others? 

Answer. I spoke from the testimony of Major Inman himself and otbcr employes of 
the Government at that post during said time given in the trial at Topeka, above 
referred to, and not from personal knowledge. 

Question 5. Did you have any conversation with Major Inman, or any other officer 
stationed at Fort Harker, respecting the corn claimed to have been deliveretl by 
Mitchell to the Government at Fort Harked If so, state when and where and what 
was said. 

Answer. I never had any conversation with any officer of the Government in con­
nection with this mat'ier, unless it was as a juror when questioning the saicl persons 
upon the trial against said Mitchell. To the best of my recollection, I never spoke to 
any officer of the Government on this subject outside of the trial; all tbat I heard 
was in open court on the trial above referred to. And further this deponent saith not. 

Second general interrogatory by the notary public. Do you know of any other 
matter relative to the claim in question? If so you do, state it. 

Answer to second general interrogatory by the notary public. I do not. 
JOHN H. STRINGFELLOW. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 9th day of February, 1882. 
[SEAL.] JOHN M. STEWART, 

Notary Public. 

DcpoBition of H. W'ingfield, fm· clainwnt, taken at Lawrence, Kans., on the 27th day of 
January, A. D. 1882. 

Claimant appeared on his own behalf; defendants' counsel, John Hutchins. 

H. WINGFIEI,D, being duly sworn, deposes as follows: 
Question 1. Please to state your name, your occupation, your age, your place of 

residence the past year; whether you have any, and, if any, what, interest direct or 
indirect in the claim which is the subject of inquiry, and whether and in what degree 
you are related to the claimant. 

Answer. My name is 0. H. Wingfield; my age is forty-four; occupation, a laborer; 
my place of residence is Williamstown, Kans.; I have no interest in this claim ; I aru 
not related in any degree to the claimant. 

Being interrogated by claimant, witness says : 
Question 2. State where you lived in the fall and spring and winter of 1868 and 

1869. 
Answer. I lived in Willamstown, Kans. · 
Question 3. State what you were engaged in at that time. 
Answer. Shelling corn. 
Question 4. For whom were you shelling corn f 
Answer. For this claimant. 
Question 5. What .did you get per bushel for shelling corn that winterY 
(Objected by defendant on the ground that it is immaterial and incompetent, not 

tending to prove the value of the corn.) 
Answer. I shelled and loaded for 4t cents per bushel. 
Question 6. State, if yon know, about how many sacks of corn were put in a car. 
Answer. I think about 175 to the car. 
Question 7 . . State about the average weight of the sacks. · 
Answer. We calculated to get in about 2t bushels to the sack. I couldn't say 

whether I did or not, but that was what I got pay for. 
Question 7t. To the best of your recollection, do you think the sacks would have 

averaged 2t bushels to the sack? . 
(Objected to by counsel for defendant-on the ground that the witness should be re~ 

quired to give his knowledge, artd not what he thinks.) 
Answer. I expect they would; I think so. 
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Question 8. I would ask you, Mr. Wingfield, if we did not weigh, to start out with, 
some of those sacks? 

Answer. We did. 
Question 9. I want you to state if I did not pay you about the average weight of 

the sacks that we weighed f 
(Objected to by the counsel for defendant on the ground that the answer sought is 

immaterial aml irrelevant.) 
Answer. Well, I stated before I was paid for 2t bushels to the sack. 
Question 10. Did you get pay for about what the average weight of the sacks was 

that we weighed? 
(Objected to by counsel for defendant as immaterial and irrelevant; it makes no 

difference what the witness was paid for his services. Such evidence is incompetent 
as even tending to prove either the quantity or value of the corn.) 

Answer. Yes, sir; what sacks we weighed then averaged about 2! bushels to the 
sack, and he afterward paid me at that rate. 

Question 11. Yon may state what I paid for corn there that winter, if you know, 
pGr bushel. 

(Objected to by defendants' counsel as immaterial and incompetent, the market 
value should be given, and not what the defendant paid.) 

Answer. Well, from 75 to 77t per bushel is what the men said they got. 
Question 12. State if that was as cheap as corn could be bought at that time and 

place in any quantity. 
(Objected to as immaterial and incompetent.) 
Answer. That was what it was bought at at that place. I can say nothing more 

about the price. 
Question 13. I would ask you if you did not see my clerks pay for corn up there 

that winter at the rate of from 75 cents to 77t cents per bushel in the ear '/ 
(Objected to by defendant's counsel: }"irst, -because it is a leading question; second, 

because it calls for immaterial and irrelevant testimony; third, because the testimony 
called for is incompetent to prove the value of corn, the actual market value should 
be given.) 

Answer. I see them pay money for corn, they said, at the rates of 75 cents and 771 
cents per bushel. 

Question 14. I see the papers reported corn sold in Lawrence during that winter of 
1868 and '69 for less money than what I paid up there. State, if you know, whether 
there were any buyers for any quantity of corn buying corn in Lawrence during that 
time. 

(Objected to by counsel for the defendant on the ground that the inquiry is wholly 
immaterial.) -

Answer. I do not know whether there was or not. 
Question 15. State, if yon know, if a man had been here and was compelled to have 

a large amount of corn on short notice if he could have got it for any less than what 
it sold for at Williamstown? 

(Objected to by counsel for defendant as immaterial and irrelevant; the evidence 
called for is incompetent, not tending to prove value.) 

Answer. I wouldn't have supposed he could. 

_Being cross-examined by JOHN HuTCHINGS, on behalf of the United States, witness 
says: 

Question 16. Where do you now reside f 
Answer. Williamstown, Kans. 
Question 17. How far is Williamstown from Lawrence? 
Answer. Ten miles, I believe, from Lawrence. 
Question 18. Have you resided in Williamstown ever since 1868 and '69? 
Answer. No, sir; not all the time. 
Question 19. What business were you engaged in in the winter of 1868 and '69 be­

sides shelling corn for claimant f 
Answer. I was working around at daily labor until I commenced that job. 
Question 20. All the shelling you did was for the claimant, Mr. Mitchell, was it 

notf 
(Objected to by claimant as immaterial whether he shelled for any one else or not.) 
Answer. Yes, sir. _ 
Question 21. How long were you shelling 1 
Answer. About four months; four or five months. 
Question 22. All you know about what was paid for the corn was what Mr. Mitchell's 

clerks told you, was it not f 
Answer. Well, what them and the men that sold told me. 
Question 23. You had no other information except what you got from them T 
Answer. No. 
Question 24. You bought none of the corn, did you f 
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Ans<ver. No, sir. 
Question 25. How was the corn that was purchased there brought in f 
Answer. Brought in by wagon in the ear. 
Question 2(). Was it bought by weight! 

71 

Answer. Yes, sir; it was weighed in the wagon. 
Question 27. Do you know how many pounds were counted as a bushel of your own 

knowledge T 
Answer. AU I know is from what corn would weigh; they said they got so much 

per bushel, and weighed it. 
Question 28. You don't know when they figured up the weight how many pounds 

were counted as a bushel, do you f 
Answer. I never took any notice. 
Question 29. You say that some of the aacks were weighed after they were filled 

with corn f 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 30. Who weighed them f 
Answer. Myself and one of the clerks. 
Question 31. Who took the weight from the scale f 
Answer. The clerk. 
Question 32. How many sacks did you weigh f 
Answer. Nine ; three at a time. 
Question 33. Were those all that you ever helped weigh out of the whole lot Y 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 34. Did you know of any others being weighed at that place Y 
Answer. No, sir. 
Question 35. Who figured up the number of pounds in the weight of these nine sacks T 
Answer. The clerk figured and I watched him. 
Question 36. Did you keep any memorandum of the weight of those sackR f 
Answer. I kept none no more than in my head, and shelled the balance accordingly. 
Question 37. What do you mean by shelling the balance accordingly f 
Answer. That I averaged the balance by what they weighed. 
Question 38. Do you know where Fort Harker is f 
(Objected to by claimant as immaterial.) 
Answer. I have never been there; I have an idea where it is. 
Question 39. What direction is it from Williamstown where you shel1ed the corn f 
Answer. West; I suppose that was the way the trains was headed and went out. 
Question 40. Is Fort Harker nearer to Williamstown than it is to Lawrence Y 
Answer. Yes, sir; about 10 miles. 
Question 41. What railroad is Fort Harker on f 
Answer. Kansas Pacific; now called the Union Pacific. 
Question 42. Lawrence and Williamstown are both on the same road, are they not f 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 43. You stated that yon thought the number of sacks put in a car to be 

about 175. Did you keep any memorandum of the number of sacks loaded in each 
cad 

Answer. I kept none, only in my bead. 
Question 44. Who helped load these cars f 
Answer. Different ones I had hired. 
Question 45. Did you hire the men to help load the corn f 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 46. Did you always help load every car f 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 47. How many men did you have hired f 
Answer. I generally had about three men and a boy. 
Question 48. Did they frequently load sacks into the car while you were doing 

something else f 
Answer. No, sir. 
Being interrogated by claimant, witness says : 
Question 50. You stated that you and the clerk weighed 9 sacks of corn in the start, 

Do yon think that those 9 sacks were a fair average of all the sacks that you shelled 
and shipped that winter to Fort Harker for claimant f 

(Objected to by counsel for defendant as immaterial and incompetent.) 
Answer. I think they were a fair average. 
Question 51. You stated that you and theclerkweighed those 9sacks, and the clerk 

figured the weight of them, and that you looked on and saw him figure the weight of 
the sacks. Did the clerk figure correctly Y 

After an adjournment of an hour the witness replied to the last above question. 
(Objected to by defendant's counsel as immaterial.) 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 52. The balance of the corn that you shelled and sacked that was consigned 
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to the quartermaster at Fort Harker would have averaged as much as the nine sacks 
that were weighed by you and the clerk, would it not~ 

(Objected to by defendant's attorney, because the question calls for mere opinion of 
the witness as to the weight of the corn; he has already stated that he did not weigh 
it.) 

Answer. We supposed so, we took it that way, as I said before. 
Question 53. I would ask you, then, if the sacks that were shipped after the weigh­

ipg of the nine sacks were as large as the nine sacks that you weighed, and if they 
were as well filled as the nine sacks. 

Answer. They were as large and as well filled. 
Being recross-examined by JOHN H"C'TCIIINGS for the United States, witness says; 

Question 54. How do you know that the clerk figured up the weight of the nine 
sacks correctly f 

Answer. I watched him figure. 
Qnestion 55. Did you fig.ure it all over after him 'I 
Answer. No, sir; I didn't take a pencil and figure. 
Question 56. In what months was that corn principally brought in there? 
Answer. I think they began to brillg it in about November, and continued till the 

first of March. 
Question 57. When was the most of it brought in f 
Answer. I had all I could shell the most of the time ; the largest portion was 

brought in the first two months. 
Question by the officer. Do you know of any other matter relative to the claim iu 

question f 
Answer. No, sir. 

his 
0. H. + WINGFIELD. 

mark 
Witnessed by-

GEo. J. BARKER. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 27th day of January, A. D. 1882. 
[SEAL.] SOLON T. WILLIAMS, 

Nota1·y Pnblic. 

Deposition of George ..d. Ege, for claimant, taken at Topeka, Kans., on the 25th day of Jan­
uary, A. D. 1882. 

Claimant appeared in his own behalf; defendant's counsel, Charles B. Smith. 

GEORGE A. EGE, having been produced as a witness on behalf of the claimant, was 
by me sworn, before any question was put to him, to tell the truth, the whole trut.b, 
and nothing but the truth, in relation to the said cause; and thereupon deposed and 
said that his name is, George A. Ege; that his occupation is that of a clerk; that he is 
thirty-nine years of age; that his place of residence is Topeka, Kans. ; that be has no 
interest, direct, or indirect in the claim which is the subjectof inquiry in said cause; 
and that he is not related to the claimant. 

And thereupon the said George A. Ege was examined by the claimant, and in answer 
to interrogatories testified as follows: 

Question 1. State, Mr. Ege, where you were during the winter of 1868 and '69, and 
the spring of 1869. 

Answer. At Fort Harker, Kans. 
Question 2. State what you were engaged in at Fort Harker during that time. 
Answer. Agent for the Kansas Pacific Railroad. 
Question 3. You may state what your duties were while you were there. 
~Objected to by counsel for United States as incompetent, irrelevant, and imma­

terial.) 
Answer. General duties of freight and ticket agent for the corporation. 
Question 4. State if it was your duty to inform the officers at Port Harker when 

there was a car-load of grain received there for the Government. 
(Objected to by counsel for United States, same reason as above.) 
Answer. It was. 
Question 5. Did you so inform the officers when there was grain received f 
(Objected to by counsel for United States, same reason as above.) 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Question 6: You may state, Mr. Ege, if the officers of the Government did receivB 

the grain received consigned to the quartermaster. 
(Objected to by counsel for United States, same as above.) 
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Answer. They did. 
Question 7. You mny state, Mr. Ege, if you know, how many acting quartermaster~'! 

there were at Fort Harker during the winter of 1868 and '69 aml tho spring of 1869. 
Answer. I do not recollect. 
Question 8. I would ask you, Mr. Ege, if you recollect if there were more than one? 
Answer. There was. 
Question 9. I will get you to state, if you kuow, in what manner the business was 

conducted on the part of the Government at Port Harker during that time. 
(Objected to by counsel for tho United States as incompetent, irrelevant, and im­

material.) 
Answer. I do, as far as the receipt and delivery of freight was concerned. Upon 

receipt.of freight fi·om the Government it was the rule of the company to notify the 
quartermaster, thrqugh his receiving and shipping clerk, of the arrival of such freight; 
the shipping clerk then received tho freight on the part of the Government, and sent 
it to the destination ordered by the quartermaster; in some cases it waR directed to 
the forage yard, ancl in others he would load it directly into wagons to be transported 
to distant posts or forts; in some cnses the freight was uot unloaded at Fort Harker, 
but would be reshipped to points west on the line of the road. 

Question 10. I will get you to state if there was not teams sent to the cars and 
loaded up with grain to be sent to other points and not go to the forage yards to be 
weighed. · 

(Object~ed to by counsel for the United States as leading.) 
Answer. My recollection is there was grain loaded for shipment by wagons to 

frontier posts without having been weighed at the forage yard. 
Question 11. I wonM like you, Mr. Ege, to state i u what manner the Government 

officials conducted their business at Port Harker during the wint~r of 1868 an(l 'G9. 
(Objected t.o by counsel for the United States as irrelevant, incompetent, and im­

material.) 
Answer. I can not give a detailed statement. 
Question 12. State, if you know from your knowledge, if the business was conducted 

in a proper or loose manner. 
(Objected to by counsel for the United States for reasons as above.) 
Answer. I should judge in a rathel' loose manner. 
Qnestion 13. I will ask you, Mr. Ege, if all the cars shipped to Fort Harker during 

tho time yon were there weighed exactly 18,000 pounds? 
Answer. Eighteen thousand pounds was the usual billing weight, but in most all 

cases the actual weight was in excess of that weight. 
Question 14. The bills show just so many sacks to the car. State if that represents 

the exact number of sacks in a car. 
Answer. Not in all cases. 
Qu('stion 15. State, Mr. Ege, if you know, how often tl1e general frei~ht office of the 

Union Pacific or the Kan~as Paciiic then has been t1oveu ttp to the pmsent time. 
Answer. It has been moved twice; from Lawrence to Kansas City, and from Kan­

sas City to Omaha. 
General q nest ion. State if yon know of any otl1er matter relative to the cl::tim in 

question; and, if you do, state it. 
Answer. I do not. 

GEO. A. EGE. 

I, W. A. S. Bird, a notary public in and for Shawnee County, Kansas, certify that at 
the time and place aforesaid George A. Ege, a witness on behalf of the claimant in 
the above-entitled cause, was "by me sworn, before an.v question was put to him, to tell 
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing hut the truth relative to said eanse, and that 
his answers were taken down in my presence and his deposition as above set forth 
was read over to and signed by him before me at the time and place aforesaid. 

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my band and notarial seal this 25th day of 
January, A. D. 1882. · 

[SEAL. J w. A. s. BIRD, 
Notary Public. 

Deposition of Col. Htm·y Inman,fm· claimant, taken at Topeka, Kans., on the Gth day of 
Decembel', .A. D. 1881. 

Claimant's counsel, A. B. Jetmore; defendant's counsel, R. A. Orbison. 

HENRY INMAN, having "been produced as a witness on behalf of tlJe claimant, was 
by me duly sworn, before any question was put to him, to tell the truth, the whole 
truth, and nothing but the truth, relative to the said cause; and thereupon deposed 
and said that his name is Henry Inman; that his occupation is that of a journalist; 
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that be is forty-four years of age; that his place of residence is Ellsworth, Kans.; 
that he 'has no interest, direct or indirect, in the claim which is the subject of inquiry 
in said cause, and that he is not related to the claimant. And thereupon the said 
Henry Inman was examined by the counsel for the claimant and, in answer to inter 
rogatories, testified as follows : 

Question 1. State what position you held on April 2, 1869, in the Army of the 
United States, and, if an officer, how long you held the office, and when it terminated. 

Answer. I was captain and assistant q nartermaster in the United States Army, and 
held said position from March, 1864. I was stationed at Fort Harker, Kans. rand left 
there in May or J nne, 1869, I think. 

Question 2. State when you went to Fort Harker. 
Answer. I took charge at Fort Barker about September 15, 1867. 
Question 3. State if you wrote a letter of date April 2, 1869 (a copy of which is 

marked Exhibit A and presented to witness), and made a part of this deposition. 
Answer. To the best of my recollection, I did. 
Question 4. State if you wrote letter of date April 19, 1869 (a copy of which is 

ma1·ked Exhibit B and presented to witness), and made a part of this deposition. 
Answer. To the best of my recollection, I did. 
Question 5. State if you wrote letter of date April 29, 1869 (a copy of which is 

marked Exhibit C and presented to witness), and made a part of this deposition. 
Answer. To the best of my recollection, I did. 
Question 6. State if you wrote letter of date April 17, 1869 (a copy of which is 

marked Exhibit D and presented to witness), and made a part of this deposition. 
Answer. To the best of my recollection, I did. 
Question 7. State if you were absent from the fort during the time so stationed there; 

and, if so, when and how long t 
Answer. I was absent in the field with General Sheridan from about October 20, 

1868, to about the 1st of April, 1869, in service against the hostile Indians. 
Question 8. State whether or not during the time you were stationed at Fort Har­

ker, D. H. Mitchell, the claimant, furnished the Government corn and oats, and if so, 
state all you know about the same. · 

Answer. D. H. Mitchell and others frequently furnished corn and oats as Govern­
ment contractors. To the best of my recollection and belief, on the 9th day of No­
vember, 1868, and from a copy of my affidavit of date July 7, 1876. which is now be­
fore me, which I believe to be correct, the data for which were taken from the data 
in my purchase book, the said Mitchell entered into a contract to furnish the Gov­
ernment 16,000 bushels of oats at 87 cents per bushel, but as I was informed and 
believe-[Counsel of the United States objects to the witness giving any hearsay 
testimony]-tbe said Mitchell could not and did not, in consequence of the condition 
of the roads, furnish the oats as rapidly as the exigencies of the Government de­
manded. Therefore, Lieut. L. Wesley Cook, who was acting for me during ruy ab­
sence in the quartermaster's department, permitted said Mitchell to :fill his oat con­
tract with corn, and was to receive for pay the same rate per pound that be was 
getting for oats, and it appears from my purchase hook that he did at the following 
dates, namely, December 31, 1868, January 21, 1869, February 27, 1869,400,666 pounds 
of corn. The receipt for this delivery was given to Mr. Mitchell by Green Thompson, 
who was forage-master at Harker at the time, from which receipt a voucher was 
given to Mr. Mitchell for 352,009 pounds of corn. The balance of 48,657 pounds, 
which made up the aggregate of 400,666 pou1,1ds, was deducted, having been paid for, 
leaving a balance of 352,009 pounds, said Mitchell Laving been paid for said amount 
of 48,657 pounds by Captain Thomas, of Washington, as I am informed. 

Question 9. When you speak of having been informed, in your last answer, as to 
the amount of corn furnished by claimant, state from whom you received that in­
formation. 

Answer. From Lieutenant Cook, who acted for me, from the forage-master's report, 
from the chief clerk, from the reports of the shipping clerks, and from the reports of 
the clerks in charge of the property department. 

Question 10. State whether or not you kept a purchase book, a private memorandum, 
in which you keep the receipt of grain of your department. 

Answer. I did. What I mean by private book is one which was not required by 
tht' Government, as only the official blanks furnished by 1 he various departments are 
the required official papers kept for the Government. This book, however, together 
with many other bookA, so-called private, was subject to inspection by the proper 
officers of the Government. 

Question 11. State whether or not that purchase book was kept up for you during 
your absence, and if not, what you did on your return by way of perfecting the 
same T -

Answer. !think it was not, but was made up after my return, from memoranda in 
the office which had aggregated in my absence. 

Question 12. State whether or not that purchase book, of your own knowledge, 



D. H. MITCHELL. 75 

contained the deliveries of all the corn and oats furnished from time to time by the 
claimant to the Government in your department. 

Answer. Substantially correct up to the time of my departure; after that I know 
nothing about it, positively. 

Question 13. In your answer to your eighth question, you state that the claimant 
Mitchell furnished the Government in December, January, and February the aggre­
gate amount of 400,666 pounds of corn; do you know from your own knowledge that 
is the total amount that the claimant furnished the Government on his contract of 
November 9, 1868. 

Answer. I don't know; I don't know anything about it. I was not there. 
Question 14. State what was the conuition of the official papers in your department 

on your return to Fort Harker on the 1st of April, 1869, and how many officers 'vere 
concerned in keeping the same in your absence. 

Answer. They were partly made up and partly not. Three officers, I think, acted 
during my absence. Condition of p:tpers was \'ery much mixed; they were not kept 
as they should have been, and not as they would have been had I been at the post. 

Question 15. State what was the condition of the accounts in your department on 
your return with reference to irregularities and negligence, and whether or not that 
they were satisfactorily regulated and arranged. 

Answer. On my retum I found that gross irregularities had obtained in my whole 
department, and negligence seemed to have been the rule. The papers were made up 
from memoranda in the office; I don't know whether theywere positively correct 
or not, they were not satisfactory to me. 

Question 16. State whether or not you know of any grain being on hand on your 
return or having been delivered in your absence to your department, the names of 
the deliverers unknown, and which had not been settled for by the Government. 

Answer. I think there was-it was a large amount. I have an impredsion that it 
was. 

rAt this point the taking of this deposition was, by consent of the parties, adjourned, 
to be continued at 1.15 o'clock p.m. at the same plact:'.] 

Question 17. State if you were acqp.ainted with Donald Mclntosch in March, 1869; 
and, if so, state what official position he held, if any, at Fort Harker, Kansas. 

Answer. He was lieutenant in the Seventh United States Cavalry, and acting for 
me as depot quartermaster at that date, having relieved Lieutenant Cook temporarily 
or permanently, I don't know which. 

Question 18. Now, in a telegram of March, 1869, to General L. C. Easton, dated at 
Fort Harker, March 9, 1869, said Mcintosch informed said Easton that the claimant 
Mitchell had shipped eight car-loads of oats and three of corn, and asking for infor­
mation what he should do with the same, of which the following is a true copy, which 
is marked Exhibit E, and presented to the witness: State if any portion of the grain 
named in said telegram was included in the amonntof corn furnished by said Mitchell 
of dates December the 31st, 1868, January 21,1869, February 27, 1869, of a total amount 
400,666 pounds of corn, was included in said amount. 

Answer. I don't know~inferentially (which is only an opinion), based upon the 
fact that the telegram is dated subsequent to the alleged reception of the 400,666 
pounds of corn, that it was not included in the same. 

Question 19. State if the accounts in your department were correctly kept1 and the 
date of that telegram is true; if any portion of the grain referred to in said telegram 
was included in the 400,666 pounds by you testified to. 

Answer. If the accounts were correctly kept, and the 400,666 pounds of corn was 
received on the date specified, and the corn was received to which the telegram refers, 
it was not included in the 400,666 pounds. 

Question 20. State if you were at Fort Harker on the 17th day of April, 1869. 
Answer. I think I was. 
Question 21. In speaking of the 400,666 pounds of corn having been delivered to the 

Government by the claimant, yon stated that 48,657 pounds thereof was considered 
as oats and taken in lieu thereof; state if you have any personal knowledge of that 
fact. 

Answer. I have none. I was absent when it is alleged to have occurred. 
Question 22. I see from the report of R. Saxton, of date November 19, 1877, and the 

abstract filed therewith, that he finds from your report, for the month of January, 
1869, that you credit the claimant Mitchell with 283,221 pounds of corn; now, state 
what was thetrue amount by you reported for said month. · 

(Objected to by counsel of United States, for the reason that the abstract referred 
to does not show the fact as stated in the question.) 

Answer. From a paper which I hold in my hand, purporting to be voucher No. 14 
to Abstract N to the property report for the mont,h of January, 186D, there appears to 
have b_een 349,744 pounds of corn received from D. H. Mitchell, in lieu of oats, on a 
contract for the delivery of 16,000 bushels of oats. 

(Instrument referred to by witness marked Exhibit F, and made a 11art of this dt>• 
position.) 
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Question 23. Mr. R. Saxton, in his report of date November 19, 1877, used the fol­
lowing language in reference to your making affidavit for the claimant; "Mention 
in this connection may be made of the fact that Captain Inman acknowledged in court 
of having been paid by Mitchell to make an affidavit in support of his claim (for the 
presentation of which Mitchell was on trial); and I should hesitate for this reason 
to give much credence to his affidavit, which is attached to this claim." Now, sir, 
state, in connection ·with that, whether or not, ever Mr. Mitchell paid, or attempted 
to pay, you to make said atl1davit in any other way than what the facts warranted. 

Answer. It is as false as it is malicious in the sense which General Saxton intends 
to convey. 

Question 24. Judge-Advocate Henry Goodfellow, in his communication of date 
January 18., 1876, referring to an investigation had by the Quartermaster-General, 
of date December 17, 1875, claims that in the said report made by said Quartermaster­
General uses the following language: '' Cr1ptain Inman informs this office, through 
Mr. Sprigg·, that he would not hav-e made his affidavit of December 29, 18741 which 
is among these papers, had he known that Mr. Mitchell had been paid for this corn; 
at the time of making said affidavit he was totally unaware that Mitchell had ever 
been paid anything for it." Now, state if you ever authorized, through Mr. Sprigg 
or otherwise, any such statement, or ever made any such statement. 

Answer. There appears to have been an investigation by the Quartermaster's De­
partment, at which I was not present, in some correspondence between the depart­
ment and Mr. Sprigg. I did not make that statement to Mr. Sprigg; and if at any 
subsequent time to Mr. Mitchell's trial I should have been asked, I could have made 
the same answer. I made the affidavit from the books upon the theory that tho claim 
had not been paid, whereas Mr. Mitchell's trial developed that Mr. Mitchell had re­
ceived payment, and then I stated to Mr. Sprigg thai; if I had known it at the time I 
would not have made it. 

Question 25. From your last answer, state whether or not we are to understand that 
you mean that there is nothing due the claimant Mitchell from the Government for 
grain fnrnishell? 

Answer. I do not say that; I do not know; there rna;y be and t,here may not. 
The said witness was then cross-examined by the counsel for the United States, and 

in answer to cross-interrogatories testifies as follows: 
Cross-question 1. On what railroad is Fort Harker situate? 
Answer. On the Kansas branch of the Union Pacific (formerly known as the Kan-

sas Pacific). 
Cross-question 2. How far is ib from Lawrence 7 
Answer. About 183 miles. ' 
Cross-question 3. Prior to October 20, 1868, did claimant have any contracts for 

furnishing corn or oats at Fort Harker f 
Answer. I believe he had. 
Cross-question 4. Were you acquainted with claimant prior to October2, 1868; and, 

if so, how long 'I 
Answer. I presume I made his acquaintance the first time a little more than a year 

prior to that date. · 
Cross-question 5. From the time you became acquainted with claimant until June, 

1!::169, were your relations with him friendly 'I 
Answer. I presume they were, as with other contractors. 
Cross-question 6. In your answer to question No. 8 of your direct examination, did 

yon make your statement from your recollection or from the copy of your affidavit of 
7th of July, 1876, handed you by claimant's attorney. 

Answer. Wholly from the said affidavit, presupposing that it was a true copy of 
my affidavit, sworn to at said date, which I know to be correct, having been taken 
from my books, provided said books were correct, or, in other words, made from my 
predecessors and clerks at Fort Harker, presented to me as a correct record. 

Cross-question 7. Had you personal knowledge of any arrangement made by Lieu­
tenant Cook with claimant to take corn instead of oats? 

Answer. No absolute, positive, personal knowledge. 
Cross-question 8. If there was any such arrangement made, was it not made when 

you were absent from Fort Harker and in the field 'I 
Answer. Yes, sir. 
Cross-question 9. State what usual proceedings were had by the forage masters and 

your clerks upon the receipt of grain from contractors. 
Answer. There was a thorough system of checks and counterchecks, and the method 

of procedure of forage was as follows: The corn or oats or other grain were received 
by the receiving clerk at the depot, weighed, transported by wagons to the office of 
the forage master, where it was again weighed and stored, and every morning reports 
were made from both offices to my office, entered into books and verified, and was 
only fed out or delivered for transportation to other posts upon a proper requisition, 
the order of the issua.uce of which was signed by me, · 
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Cross-question 10. When forage was received and weighed by the forage master, 
would ho not give the contractor or his agent a receipt for the amount so received? 

Answer. Yes. 
Cross-question 11. When you returned from the :field on the 1st of April, 1869, had 

not books or papers been kept by the acting assistant quartermaster who had charge 
during your absence showing the amounts of forage received from contractors T 

Answer. Yes; after a fashion. 
C1;oss-question 12. While you were absent in the :field were not the monthly reports 

and the abstracts accompanying them for December, 1868, January and February, 
1869, ~ade up by the clerks and acting assistant quartermasters in charge? 

.Answer. No, sir; for the reason that the operations in the :field and the business 
transacted at the fort were but one series of papers; the whole :five months' report 
were made up after I returned from the :field. 

Cross-question 13. In your affidavit of July 7, 1876, found on pages f:l6, 87, 88, 89, !JO, 
91, of papers received from the War Department. you have an extract copy, on page 
89, of your purchase book; please look at this copy and state when the entries from 
December 31, 1868, to March 3, 1869, were made. 

Answer. Some of the entries referred to in the said purchase book were made 
during my absence, and others after my return; in another sense this book, so far as 
its dates and entries are concerned, was filled from memoranda to complete the record. 

Cross-question 14. Were the memoranda which you referred to the reports of the 
forage master ? 

Answer. They were made up principally, so far as Fort Harker was concerned, from 
the morning reports of the forage master, if I recollect aright. 

Cross-question 15. What three officers acted as quartermaster during your absence? 
Answer. Lieutenants Cook and Mcintosh, of the Third Infantry and Seventh Cav­

alry, respectively, and Captain Rogers, military storekeeper, U. S. A., I think. 
Cross-question 16. You have stated that a large amount of corn was received at 

Fort Harker without invoice, from parties unknown, and unsettled for by the Govern­
ment. When was this corn received¥ 

Answer. It must have been.received during my absence. 
Cross-question 17. If it was received during your absence, did you account for it 

on your monthly return T 
Answer. It was so accounted for. 
Cross-question 18. If it was so accounted for, upon what abstract did yon take it 

up? 
Answer. Abstract N. 
Cross-question 19. If such corn was received, would it not appear on your abstract 

N from October, 1868, to April, 1869¥ 
Answer. It should appear there if ever accounted for. 
Cross-question 20. Look at abstract N, from December, 1868, found 011 page 58 of 

papers received from the War Department, and voucher No. 4, on page preceding, 
and state if that does not show a large amount of corn received without invoice and 
credited in the vouchers to contractors. 

Answer. In this instance it does. 
Cross-question 21. Look at abstract N, for January, 1869, fo11nd on page 60 of papers 

received from the War Department, and voucher No.4, on page preceding, and state 
if that does not show a large amount of corn received without invoice and credited in 
the voucher to claimant. 

Answer. Yes, sir; to a larger amount than the other. 
Cross-question 22. When was abstract N, for January, 1869, made up by you T 
Answer. My judgment is that it was made up after April 1, 1869. 
Cross-quest.ion 23. Look at abstract N, for Pebruary, 1869, on the page following 

that of Jaunary, 186U, and state when that abstract was made by you. 
Answer. My judgment is that ·it was made after April1, 1tl69. 
Cross-question 24. Were the abstracts for those two months and the other months 

while you were in the field made up at the same time? 
Answer. In refreshing my memory from papers banded to me as true copies, I think 

I am certain they were. 
Cross-question 25. Look at copy of voucher No.12, on page 91, annexed to your affi­

davit, July 7, 1tl76, and state whether or not you gave the original voucher to claim~ 
ant; if so, when' 

Answer. I did, and after April 1, 1869. 
Cross-question 26. Where did you get the number of pounds of corn from, with the 

dates of purchase? . 
Answer. From my purchase book, based upon returns from the forage master, or 

receipts certified to by the forage master to the contractor. 
Cross-question 27. Look at your abstracts N, for December, 1868, January and Feb­

ruary, Hl69, above referred to, and state how WlJQlt corn is shown by t~eQJ, to have 
beeu delivereq br claim~11~, · 
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Answer. Three hundred and forty-nine thousand seven hundred and forty-four 
pounds. 

Cross-question 28. How many pounds of corn did you give him credit with in your 
voucher for December, 1868, and January and February, 1869 f 

Answer. Three hundred and :fifty-two thousand and nine pounds. 
Cross-question 29. Can you account for the discrepancy between the 352,009 pounds, 

as contained in the voucher, and 349,744 pounds, as shown by abstract N, for Janu­
ary, 1869f 
An~wer. I can not now, except it may be a clerical error. 
Cross-question 30. Look at the copy of extract from your purchase book, on page 

89, annexed to copy of your affidavit of July 7, 1876, and state what corn, as is shown 
to have beeu received therein, was certified to Mitchell in voucher on page 91. 

Answer. December 30, 41,tl70 pounds; January 30, 331,878 pounds, less 48,657 
pounds used to fill out oat contract of November 9, making 283,221 pounds; February 
'47, 1869,26,918 pounds. 

At this point the taking of this deposition was, by consent of the parties, adjourned, 
to be continued at 7 o'clock p. m., at the same place. 

Cross-question 31. Please explain the entry in your purchase book of January, 1869 
D. H. Mitchell, 331,878 pounds of corn, less 48,657 pounds used to :fill out contract of 
November 9; and why was the 48,657 pounds deducted f 

Answer. Because it appears from the copy of what purports to be the official record 
of the controversy of Mitchell's claim that this 48,657 pounds had been paid for as 
oats by General Easton, all of which transaction, so far as the oats and corn is con­
cerned, based upon the statement of Lieutenant Cook that he permitted Mr.l\fitchell 
to turn in corn in lieu of oats. 

Cross-question 32. At the time you gave claimant the voucher for the 352,009 
pounds of corn~ after April1, 1869, did he claim that there was any amount due him 
for corn delivered which was not included in that voucher f 

Answer. My recollection is that he was not perfectly satis:fierl. a"!; that time, but was 
not persistent in claiming a large amount until a long time after. 

(Question and answer objected to by counsel for claimant as irrelevant and incom­
petent to cross-examination.) 

Cross-question 33. At the time you gave that voucher did claimant produce receipts 
of the forage master showing that he had delivered more corn than the amount for 
which the vouchel' was given T 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant as being incompetent and irrelevant to cross­
examination.) 

Answer. My impression is that he did not, because it would have been my duty to 
investigate .it then and there. My impression is that he did not. 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant to all that portion of the answer after the 
word "duty'' in the answer, because it is not germane to the question.) 

Cross-question 34. While you were stationed at Fort Harker, was it not customary 
for claimant, when he had contracts for forage, to ship to that point more forage than 
was necessary to :fill his various contracts ¥ 

Answer. I can't say that it was a custom, but it was done several times by Mr. 
Mitchell and other contractors. 

Cross-question 35. Did he ever ship corn to Fort Harker which you refused tore­
ceive T 

Answer. There was a case of that kind once, but I don't know whether it was Mr. 
Mitchell or somebody else. 

Cross-question 36. Did he not, ou his contract of November 30, 1867, ship upwards 
of 100,000 pounds of corn in excess of his contract, a part of which was afterward 
transferred by him to Mr. H. L. Newman? . 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant as incompetent and irrelevant as cross-exam­
ination.) 

Answer. It appears from what purports to be a copy of a letter written by myself 
to General Easton, dated April 26, 1869, that he did ship to Fort Harker upwards of 
100,000 pounds of corn in excess of his contract; but a part of this was transferred 
by Mitchell to Newman, and at the commencement of Indian hostilities had stored at 
Fort Harker subject to his order, 54,776 pounds. 

Cross-question 37. Was this 54,776 pounds of corn afterwards received from Mitch­
ell and paid for 7 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant as incompetent and irrelevant cross-examina­
tion.) 

Answer. It appears from what purports to be a record of the case that it was, and 
I now remember that it was received. 

Cross-question 38. Had not this corn been lying at FQrt :a:~rker ~ long timB priot 
to its reception by you ¥ • -

(Same objection by claimant ~s ~hove.) 



D. H. MITCHELL. 79 

Answer. About four months, if I recollect aright. 
Cross-question 39. Look at a copy of a certified copy of your purchase book, pages 

119,120, and 121 of papers received from the War Department, and state what was 
the date of the purchase of the 54,776 pounds of corn. 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant same as above.) 
Answer. It appears to have been some time in December, 1868, but purchase book 

shows no date. 
Cross-q ucstion 40. Did you give claimant a voucher for this corn f 
(Objected to by claimant's counsel same as above.) 
Answer. }.,rom the reconl it appears that I did. 
Cross-question 41. Does it appear from the record that in the voucher which you 

gave for this corn another amount was included; if so, what additional amount was 
included Y 

(Objected to by claimant for the reasons as given above.) 
Answer. Yes; 2S,9i0 pounds. 
Cross-question 42. Look at copy of certified copy of purchase book referred to 

above and state whether it shows a receipt of this :.t8,970 pounds; if so, what is the 
date of the purchase Y 

(Objected to by claimant as above.) 
Answer. The; copy purports a receipt; it does not appear from what purports to be 

a. copy of a certified copy of the purchase book that there is any date note(l; but 
upon what purports to be a certified copy of tho voucher it is dated December 1,1868. 

Cross-question 43. Did the claimant get you to make an affidavit in support of his 
claim before tho War Department on the 29th day of December, 1874 Y 

Answer. I can't recollect the date, but I made such an affidavit for him. 
Cross-question 44. I.~ook at pages 25 all(l28 of papers received from the War Dopart· 

ment and state whether or not that is a copy of an affidavit made by you at that 
time. 

(Objected to by claimant because of reasons above stated.) 
Answer. It seems to be a correct copy as near as I can recollect. 
Cross-qnestion45. State how you happened to make that affidavit. 
(Objected to for reasons as above.) 
Answer. Because Mr. Mitchell ~old me he had not been paid the amount that was 

duo him for grain delivered at Fort Harker. 
Cross-question 4G. Had he told you that Captain Thomas had paid him on the 12th 

of January, 1870, $8,0,13.44 for 400,ti66 pounds of corn, or 7,154a bushels, for oorn 
accounted for on your property returns made while stationed at Fort Harker, would 
you h:tve mad-e that allid:tyit 1 

Answer. He tohlmo that the Government had not paid him for grain deli vored at 
~""ort Harker, aufl upon that belief I gave him that affidavit. If I had known that 
Mr. Mitchell had alreafly received the amount contemplated in the voucher to which 
my atfi<lavit specilically refers, I would not have given him that affidavit. 

Cross-question 4fi!. Did you givo claW:nant another affidavit on tho 7th of July, 
1876'1 

Answer Yes. 
Cross-question 47. Look at pages 86, 87, and 88 of papers received from the War 

Department, and state whether or not that is a copy of your affidavit. 
Answer. I _have stated that it appears to be correct. 
Cross-l)uestion 48. In that affidavit you state that abstract M of one of your monthly 

reports of tho spring of 18G9 shows a large amount of corn paid out by tho Govern· 
ment, and received from some person unknown to you; what is your recollection as 
to the time when that corn was received¥ 

Answer. If recei veclat all, it was received while I was in the field, prior to April1, 
1869. The facts stated in that affidavit are based purely upon my recollection, not 
having any written data of the same in my possession. 

Cross-question 49. After your return from tho field, on April1, 1869, did you not 
prepare your monthly reports, with tho abstracts accompanying them, from October, 
1868, up to April 1, 1860, from data and memoranda kept by your clerks, and tho act· 
ing assistant quartermasters who were in charge during your absence 7 

Answer. Yes; and a.lso from data of operations in the field Y 
Cross-question 50. Will not the abstracts accompanying your reports from October, 

1868 to April1, 1869, show all tho facts in relation to tho receipt of forage of which 
you are cognizant of at the time they wore made f 

Answer. They do, or rather they should. 
Cross-question 51. You have stated in your affidavit of July 7, 1876, tho large 

amount of corn received of some person unknown would probably be found on your 
abstract N, for tho month of April, 1869. If it should appear upon examination of 
that abstract that only 20,000 pounds were taken up during that mouth, would you, 
or not, say that your recollection was at fault when you made that affidavit 'I 

A!]swer. If that should turn out to be the case, it would show that the error of 
II. Rep. 1-38 
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recollection was a grievous one, and the premises upon which my memory was based 
were wrong, unless the fact should appear on some other abstract; then it would be 
an error of date. 

Cross-question 52. Do not the copies of abstracts N, for December, 1868, aQd Jan­
uary, 1869, show large amounts of corn received which are explained by the accom­
panying vouchers ' 

(Objected to by claimant's counsel as incompetent and irrelevant as a cross-exami­
nation and a repetition.) 

Answer. Yes, sir; they do. 
Cross-question 53. May not these abstracts contain the amounts of corn which you 

stated in your affidavits would probably be found on the abstract N, for April, 1869 T . 
(Objected to for same reason as above.) 
Answer. Within the domain of possibility, yes; but to probability, in my opinion, no. 
Cross-question 54. From the fact that in making up your abstracts N, for Decem-

ber, 1868, Jan nary and February, 1869, that you returned the 349,744 pounds of corn 
in your abstract N, for January, while a copy of your purchase book shows that this 
amount was receiYeu during the months of December, January, and February, does 
it not seem probable that all corn received from Mitchell after December 1st, while 
you were ia the field, was accounted for on the abstract N, for JanuaryT 

An~:~wer. I admit its possibility, but can not conscientiously say positively, without 
access and reference to my purchase book, or a true copy of the same, including all 
the periods covered by the time under discussion. · 

At this point the taking of this deposition was, by consent of the parties, adjourned 
to be continued at 9 o'clock a.m., on December 6, at the same place. 

Deposition of Henry Inman resumed according to adjournment, at the time and 
place fixed, the same parties present as aforesaid. 

Cross-question 55. State why the price of the corn was not inserted in the voucher 
given by you to claimant for the 352,009 pounds of corn~ 

Answer. Because the price was in cont.roversy between myself and General Easton. 
As I bad no authority tcr pay it, it was left an open question for those who did. 

And tllCreupon said Henry Inman was re-examined by counsel for claimant. 
Redirect question 1. In your answer to your tenth interrogatory on cross-examina­

tion yon were asked the question by connsel "if the forage master did not give are­
ceipt to contractors for forage furnished." Now, state if you have any knowledge of 
receipts given to Mr. Mitchell forth~ grain he furnished the Government. 

Answer. It is impossible at this late date to state positively from personal knowl­
edge all the little details in the routine of the business. I do now recollect that he 
did. 

Redirect question 2. State if you know of your own knowledge of any receipts hav­
ing been given to Mr. Mitchell for grain furnished by him to the Government during 
your absence in the field. 

Answer. I am in utter ignorance of details of that character during my absence. 
Redirect question~. In your answer to the eleventh interrogatory on your cross­

examination you were asked by counsel if you did not find on your return on the 1st 
of April, 1869, that books and papers had been kept during your absence showing 
amounts of forage received from contractors, and your answer was "Yes, after a fash­
ion." Now, what do you mean by after a fashion' 

Answer. I mean loosely, irregularly, and not with that discriminating care I should 
have exercised myself. 

Redirect question 4. In your affidavit of date 7th day of July, 1876, yon state that 
your accounts were kept so negligently and such irregularities occurred during your 
absence as to make it impossible for you ever to get them straightened up in any 
satisfactory manner, and that you could not then tell anywhere near how they do 
stand; that it is quite possible that said Mitchell may have furnished large amounts 
of corn that do not appear in said purchase book; that the memoranda and reports 
of the receipts of which, with weights, may have been lost or misplaced; and that 
you did not think said purchase book is entitled to credit as being proof that said 
Mitchell furnished no more corn than the amount therein shown. Now, state if that 
is still your opinion of the facts in the premises. 

Answer. So far as possibility is implied in the question, I am of the same opinion, 
but it applies to other contractors as well as to Mr. Mitchell. 

Redirect question 5. What do you say as to the irregularities in the accounts kep$ 
and in the purchase-book above referred to~ 

Answer. In this particular my opinion has not been changed one iota. 
Redirect q uestiou 6. In your answers to interrogatories 13 and 14 on your cross-ex­

amination you stated that your purchase-book was made up from memoranda, which 
memoranda were made up from forage masters' report. Now, state if said reports 
constituted a part of the accounts and proceedings kept in your absence, referred to 
above in my question 4. · 

Answer. Yes; the whole time of my absence was included. 
Redirect question 7. In your answer to interrogatory 26 in your cross-examination 
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you said, voucher No. 12, on page 91 of the papers of the War Department, that yon 
gave tlw original to the claimant. Now, state what personal knowledge, if any, sou 
have of the fact. 

Answer. My memory of the occurrence at this time, the facts having been brought 
to my notice at the time of my first affidavit, and still further fortified by what pur­
port to be true copies of the papers in the transact.ion in the records in this examina­
tion, are positive proof to my mind, as near as anything may be, and that my personal 
knowledge is complete. 

Redirect question 8. State, as nearly as you can, the date that you issued &aid 
voucher No. 12, and whether it was so issued after April, U369. 

Answer. I can not state the date at all; but it was after April, 1869; in fact, after 
October 19, 1869. 

Redirect question 9. In said voucher you 1·ecite, ''purchased on contract November 
9, 1868." St. ate what you mean by that recitation, and whether there was a, contract 
for corn of that date by Mitchell. 

Answer. It was for corn received; while, in fact, said corn was delivered in lieu of 
oats, on a contract dated November 9, 1868, having been authorized by L. W. Cook, 
who acted for me in my absence. 

Redirect quest.ion 10. Was said Mitchell present at the time, or did you send to him 
said voucher No. 12 ? 

Answer. I sent it to him by mail. 
Redirect question 11. In your answer to question 32 of your cross-examination, in 

referring to said voucher No. 12, in speaking of the claims of Mitchell against the 
Government, you said: "My recollection is that he was not perfectly satisfied at that 
1 ime, but was not persistent in claiming a larger amount until a long time after." 
State what explanation you have to give of that answer. 

Answer. When I answered that interrogatory yesterday I was strongly under the im­
pression that the vouchers had been delivered to Mr. Mitchell before my departure from 
Harker, which was effected a few weeks after my return from the field, but to-day, 
iu examining the record from the War l)ep artment, I find conclusively that the 
VI)Uchers were not delivered to Mr. Mitchell until some six month after the date first 
impressed upon my mind; and at the date of the delivery of said voucher, an<l pre­
vious thereto, Mr. Mitchell became persistent fora larger amount than the voucher 
called for. 

Redirect question 12. In your answer to question No. 55 of your cross-examiHation 
you say the reason you did not insert the price for the corn in said voucher No. 12, 
that there was a controversy between General Easton and yourself with reference to 
the price to be paid therefor; state tll.J3 nature of that controversy. 

Answer. It grew out of the fact that General Easton would not admit the legitimacy 
of the substitution of thl:' corn for oats. 

Redirect question 13. State whether or not said corn to be substituted tor said oats 
pouiHl for pound the Government would have suffered any injury or loss. 

Answer. No injury whatever, in my judgment. 
Redirect question 14. State how long yon had served or been connected with the 

Quartermaster's Department of the Army. 
Answer. At that time, more or less on duty in the Quartermaster's Department for 

fifteen years. 
Redirect question 15. State whether or not this was the only instance where corn 

was taken in lieu of oats on contracts of this kind. 
Answer. This was not an isolated instance; it had been done before and probably 

since. 
Redirect question 16. From your examination of the abstract of the papers from the 

War Department, state whether or not, from the best of your judgment and belief, 
they contain full and complete copy of your purchase-book by yon made up covering 
the time in which the claimant haJ. been delivering grain to the department under 
your charge. 

Answer. They do not. 
Redirect question 17. State whether these abstracte, as submitted to you from the 

War Department, contained the record of any grain furnished by unknown parties, 
and not accounted for by the Government. 

Answer. They do not, as a whole. 
Redirect question 18. In your affidavit you state that you were present at the trial 

of the Un~ted States against David H. Mitchell at Topeka in April, 1876, and heard 
all the evidence in the case, and that after hearing the evidence and ascertaining the 
number of cars shipped by David H. Mitchell to said Harker during said time, and 
having thought the matter over since that, you were of the opinion that said Mitchell­
did furnish a large amount more of corn than the 400,666 pounds; now state what 
you have to state about that fact now. 

(Objected to by counsel of the United States on the ground that counsel is asking 
for an opinion of witness.) -

H. Rep. 3685---,6 -----
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Answer. If at the present moment the same evidence in relation to this matter were 
presented to mo as it was at that time and to the jury by the defense on th::Lt trial, 
without any controversion, I should be inclined to admit the possibility of the alleged 
fact. 

Redirect question 19. In said affidavit you state that in your reports for the spring 
of 1869 there is &hown a large amount of corn that was fed out by the Government and 
received from some person unknown to you; that you could not state the exact 
amount; that at the time you could not tell to whom it belonged, but that you had 
good reason to believe that it may have belonged to said Mitchell; the amount as 
you then remembered it was from $600,000 to $900,000 worth. Now, sir, state what 
you have to say about said facts. 

Answer. At the time I made the affidavit under consideration, I was fully impressed 
from memory that the statements contained therein were true, and that my papers 
or records, upon examination, would bear out this statement; but upon reviewing 
the copies of the records from Washington I am staggered, because there is a paper 
contained therein that comports with my statements only partially, but destroys the 
main fact. The paper I refer to is voucher No.4 to abstract N, of December, 1868. 
I am compelled, therefore, to state that this paper may have been true. The one 
upon which I based my belief, or that there may still exist a paper, not shown here, 
that does carry out the fact, and only an examination of the whole record will deter­
mine the truth of the matter. 

At this point the taking of this deposition was, by consent of the parties, adjourned 
to meet at 1.30 o'clock p.m. at the same place. 

Deposition of Henry Inman resumed according to adjournment at the time and 
place fixed; the same parties preRent as aforesaid. · 

The said witness was then recross-examined by counsel for the United States, and, 
in answer to interrogatories, testified as follows: 

Recross-question 1. You stated in your affidavit July 7, 1876, that a forged receipt 
was given to claimant by Green 'fhompson, forage master at Fort Harker, for 400,666 
pounds of corn delivered in December, 1868, and January and February, 1869. State 
whether or not that is a fact of your own knowledge. 

Answer. I think Ica.n state positivelythat it is. 
Recross-question 2. Was not the voucher for the 352,009 made out by you in April, 

1869 ~ 
Answer. Yes, sir; to the best ofmy recollection it was. 
Recross-question 3. How do you know that it was made out in April, 1869? 
Answer. My memory is refreshed by what purports to be a letter written by myself 

to General Easton, containing the fact embodied in the question. 
Recross-question 4. What is the date of that letter f · 
Answer. April17, 1869. 
Recross-question 5. In that letter, what do you call the voucher f 
Answer. "My certified account in duplicate No. 44.'~ 
Recross-question 6. Did you ever show claimant that voucher prior to leaving 

Fort Harker in the summer of 1869 f ' 
Answer. Of course. I can not state positively, but have no doubt that he did. 
(Objected to by claimant's counsel as the opinion of witness.) 
Recross-question 7. If claimant had furnished more than 400,666 pounds of corn 

during your absence in the :field, would you not have reported the fact to General 
Baston on April2, Ul69, when you informed him of the receipt of the above amount T 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant because tho same is not relevant to recross-
examination and is repetition.) 

Answer. I can not state positively that I should have done so in that particular 
letter, because it was the custom to confine letters to one subject; this has only refer­
ence to November 9, 1868, but I think I should have done so in another. 

Recross-question 8. Do yon not know that at that time that claimant had no other 
contract for furnishing forage at Fort Harker, except that of November 9, for furnish­
ing oats T 

(Objected to by counsel for claimant for the reasons above given.) 
Answer. I think the record will sustain that fact so far as the date of April 2 is con­

cerned. 
Recross-question 9. Do you say that it would not be a loss to the Government to 

,_; 

pay the same price per pound for corn as for oats, making the cost of corn per bushel -
$1.5~ when corn could be bought for $1.25 1 

Answer. As a question of simple mathematics it would, but when the practical re­
suitt~-of an important Indian war is at stake money value does not enter as a factor. 
As a question of utility, it was better in the field than oats would have been for 
horses, in my judgment. 

Question. Do you know of any other matter relative to the claim in question 7 and, 
if so, eta.te it. -

Answer. No. HENRY INMAN. 
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Deposition of Sidney Clarke, fo1' claimant, taken at Topeka, Kan1., on the 5th ilay of 
Decernber, A. D. 1881. 

Claimant's counsel, A. B. Jutmore; defendant's counsel, R. A. Orbison. 

The witness deposed that his name is Sidney Clarke; that his occupation is that of 
a lawyer; that he is forty-nine years of age; that his place of residence is Lawrence, 
Kans. ; that he has no interest, direct or indirect, in the claim which is the subject of 
inquiry in said cause, and that he is not related to the claimant. 

And thereupon the said Sidney Clarke was examined by the counsel for the claim­
ant, and, in answer to interrogatories, testified as follows: 

Question l. State if you were present in Washington, D. C., in January, 1870, when 
the claimant, Mitchell, received payment from the Government for grain furnished at 
Fort Harker; and, if so, what did yon do in the premises by way of securing said pay 
mentT 

Answer. I was a member of Congress from Kansas in 1870. Some time in the latter 
part of December, 181)9, or 1st of January, 1870, Mr. Mitchell came to Washington and 
ealled upon me, and asked me to assist him in collecting a claim which he held against 
the Government for sup~lying forage or gra.in at Fort Harker. He said to me in sub­
stance that some difference had arisen between the officers at the fort and General 
Easton in regard to prompt payment for the forage supplied, and that, as he was en­
gaged in filling his various con tracte he then had with the Government, he needed the 
money to carry out his obligations. 

After consulting about the matter I went with him to the Secretary of War, and 
presented in his behalf a letter, of which the following is a copy: 

To THE SEc'Y OF WAR: 

UNITED STATES SENATE CHAMBER, 
Washington., D. C~, Jan. 6th, 1870 

In behalf of one of my constituents, Mr. D.II. Mitchell, of Leavenworth, Kansas, I 
have the honor to submit the following statement offacts, and to ask for .vour decision 
thereon: On the 19th of November, 1868, he made a contract with Gen'l B. C. Card, 
acting chiefQ. M. at Fort Leavenworth, to furnish at Fort Harker 16,000 bu!ihels of 
oats, as per contract herewith enclosed, marked A. After the delivery of about 
111,000 lbs. of oats, the acting quartermaster at Fort Harker, Lt. Cook, signified his 
willingness to receive·corn in lieu of oats on the aforeltaid contract, and did receive 
400,(i66 lbs., as shown by the receipt of the fomge master, herewith enclosed, markecl 
B, which was used by the Government at that post, and accounted for, as shown by 
letter of Quartermaster-General, marked C. The understanding with Lt. Cook was 
that he should receive the same numberoflbs. ofcorninlieu of the same number oflbs. 
of oats, and he did eo. This would make the price of the corn $1.521 cents pel' bushel, 
which Mr. Mitchell now claims. It will be seen by a contract of the same date 
(marked D) that he was receiving $1.69 cents per bushel for corn delivered at Fort 
Hayes, which is seventeen and one-quarter (17t) cents more than the price claimud 
for the corn delivered at Harker, with only about 16 cents difference in the freight 
per bushel. 

There is no question about the delivery of this corn, the number of pounds, and Hs 
use to the Government, 

Mr. Mitchell asks to be paid $1.52:! cents for the corn. Gen'l Easton offered to 
pay $1.27 centsperbnshel, which is much less than the cost of the same. I think Mr. 
Mitchell's claim iR right, and I ask that you direct that he be paid. He has waitnd 
for his money for about one year, with loss of interest, while there is no complaint 
against him as a contractor, having furnished many supplies to the Government for 
the last five years. I earnestly urge prompt action in this case. 

Respectfully, yours, 
SIDNEY CLARKE, M. C., 

Kansaa. 
w. A. s. BIRD. 

The Secretary took the matter under immediate consideration; referred the letttlr 
to the proper officers, and in the course of a few clays the claim was pa.id in :part, the 
rate being fixed at $1.25 per bushel for the corn. · 

Question 2. State what occurred at the time between your.Relf and the Secretary of 
War with reference to the price per bushel to be paid and any other forage furnished 
the Government by said Mitchell. . 

Answer. My recollection is that there was a question about the price of said corn 
per bushel. I :find by referring to my letter, now before me, that Mr. Mitchell claimed 
$1.521 per bushel, and that General Easton offered to pay $1.27 per bushel. We dis­
cussed this question of price with the Secretary, and in the payment of the claim the 
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rate of $1.25 per bushel was fixed, with the understanding, however, that its au;ept­
ance by Mitchell should not prejudice any future claim for increased allowance, and 
this is substantially reciteu in the last paragraph of the report of General Swayne, of 
date January 11, 1870, made on said claim to the Secretary of War. 

Question 3. State what was said by Mr. Mitche11, if anything, at the time, about 
any other or further claim for additional grain furnished the Government at Port Har­
ker. 

Answer. I cannot state the exact language used; but I distinctly remember that 
Mr. Mitchell stated in substance that he had additional claims against the Govern­
ment for large amount of forage furnished same at Fort Harker about same time. It 
is my impression that this fact was mentioned incidentally in our conversation with 
the Secretary of War. I am confident that it was understood in said conversation 
that the payment of the claim in hand was not to prejudice in any way any other or 
additional claim. 

The witness was then cross-examined by the counsel for the United States, and, in 
-answer to interrogatories, testified as follows: 

Cross-question 1. At the time claimant representerl to the Secretary of War, what 
evidence was presented by Mr. Mitchell of his claims? 

jAnswer. I have no very distinct recollection as to the form of papers presented. I 
th nk they are all referrerl to in my letter to the Secretary, included in this deposi­
tion. 

Cross-question 2. Look at certificate of G. M. Thompson, forage master, dated April 
29, 1869. indorsed B, found on page 46 of papers secured from War Department, and 
state whether or not that is a copy of the receipt of t!Je forage master which you pre-
sented to the Secretary of War with your letter of July 6, 1870. , 

Answer . .As the voucher of pounds stated of the corn corresponds with the exact 
number of pounds for which Mr. Mitchell was paid at that time, it is undoubtedly a 
copy of the receipt of the forage master, marked B, ~nclosed in my letter. 

Cross-question 3. At the time you presm'lted this claim to the War Department did 
the claimant show you a vouchr,r given to him by Maj.Henry Inman for 352,009 pounds 
of corn delivered by claimant during the month of December, 1868, and January and 
February, 1869, to.said .Inmau? 

Answer. I have no recollection that he did so. It has been so long since that it is 
irup<'ssible for me to recollect the form of the papers which I then presented. 

Cross-question 4. Ifbe did show this voucher to you, was it presented by you on the 
6th day of .July, 1870, to Secretary of War in support of his claim? 

Answer. I have no recollection of seeing or presenting any such voucher. My be­
Jief is that all the papers I presented to the War Dep:.>xtment were numbered in my 
letter making application above set out. 

General question. Do you know of any other matter relative to the claim in ques­
tion? and, if so, state it. 

Answer. No. 
/ SIDNEY CLARKE. 

STATE 01!' KANSAS, 
County of Shawnee, 88: 

I, W. A. S. Bird, a notary public in and for said county and State aforesaid, hereby 
certify that at the times and place aforesaid. Henry Inman and Sidney Clarke, wit­
nesses on "behalf of the claimant in i1he above-entitled cause, were by me sworn, be­
fore any question was put to them, to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 
the t1;uth, relative to the said cause; and that the answers of each of said witnesses 
were taken down by me, and the deposition of each of them, as above set forth, was 
read over by them and signed by them, before me, at the time and place aforesaid. 

In witness whereof I have hereunto set my band and notary seal this 6th day of 
December, A. D. 18Rl. 

[SEAL.] w. A. s. BIRD, 
Nota1·y Public. 

EXHIBIT A. 

Bvt. Major-General L. C. EASTON, 
Chief Q'rm'r Dept. Mo. : 

DEPOT QuARTERMASTER's OPPICE, 
F(wt Ha1·ker, Kan., April 2n, 1869 

GENERAL: I have the honor to inform you that D.' H. Mitchell delivered at this de~ 
pot 400,666 pounds of corn in lieu of oats,·called for by his contract of NoY. 9, 1868. 

A portion of this corn was used during my absence, and as the amount now on hand 
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at this post is insuffic)ent to enable me to return to Mr. Mitchell the fu1l amount cle~ 
livered by him, I respectfully request instructions in the matter. 

If it is coucluded to keep the corn remaining, please notify me of the rate per 
bushel to be allowed Mr. Mitchell in settlement of the same. 

Very respectfully, your ob't serv't, 

Bvt. Maj. General L. C. EASTON, 

HENRY INMAN, 
Bvt. Maj. 9· A. Q. M., D. S. A., Depot Q'rm'r. 

EXHIBIT B. 
OFFICE Ass'T Q'RM'R, 

Fort Ha1·ker, Kansas, ApTil 19, 18G9. 

Chief Q'nn'r Dept. Mo., Fm·t Leavenworth, Kansas : 
GENERAL: Referring to your communication of the 13th in st., I have the honor to 

state that the 400,666 lbs. corn delivered ut this point by Mr. Mitchell was all con­
sumed during my absence in the field; tnat Mr. H. L. Newman has delivered here 
382,000 lbs. corn, of which quantity 236,280 lbs. remain now on hand and might be 
turned over to Mr. Mitchell in part payment, leaving 164,~86 lbs. to be paid for in 
cash.; but a,s there is a constant demand for corn at this post, I would respectfully 
suggest that the entire quantity delivered by Mr. Mitchell be purchased a,t market 
rates prevalent at date of delivery. 

I am, general, your ob't serv't, 

H. 527, '69. 
(Indorsed:) E. No. 669. Bk. 82, R 156: 

HENRY INMAN, 
Bt. Major ~A. Q. ]ltf., U. S. A. 

EXHIBIT C. 

Bvt. Maj. Gen. L. C. EASTON, 

OFFICE Ass'T Q'RM'R, 
Fm·t Harker, Ka's, Ap1·il 29, 1869. 

Chief Q'rm'r Dep. Mo., Fm·t Leavenworth, K's: 
GENERAL: Referring to your communication of 15th inst., I have the honor to state 

that the forage master at this post reports thM the corn received from Mr. Mitchell 
in lieu of oats (contract Nov. 9) was entirely consumed by the public animals fed 
here during my absence. I enclose his certificate to that effect. 

I am, general, very respectfully, your ob't serv't, 

L. B. I., 232, 1 enclo. 

HENRY INMAN, 
Bvt. Maj. g· A. Q. M., U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) C. 11, Jan'y, '70, 8. 1403. Q'rm'r Gen's Office. Received Ju]y 5, 1876. 
Mk.13, W. 2417; Uk. 13, W. 1458. 124-1023. 

Bt. Maj. Gen'l. L. C. EASTON, 
Chief Q'1·m'r Dept. Mo.: 

EXHIBIT D. 

OFFICE Ass'T QuARTERMASTER, 
Fort Eadem·, K's, .April ~7, 1869. 

GENERAL: I have the honor to transmit herewith my certified account in duplicate 
No. 44, in favor of Mr. D. H. Mitchell for the amount of corn delivered at this depot, 
viz, 400,666lbs., as reported by my communication of April 2. 

Please notify me of the price you may conclude to allow Mr. M., so that I may 
properly enter the transaction on my books. 

Very respectfully, &c., 
HENRY INMAN, 

Bt. Major g· A. Q. M., U. S. A. 

(Indorsed:) 11940. FiledMay15, 1878. With51-1403 (Q.M.G.O.), 1876. 464 (Q. 
M.G. 0.), 1875. 
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EXHIBIT E. 

[Telegram.] 

'To Gen'l L. C. EASTON: 
FORT HARKER, Mm·c!t 9th, 1869 . ... 

Mitchell has shipped eight (8) car-loads of oats and three (3) of corn. 
He has no contract here that I am aware of. 
Shall I receive it f 

U.129, '69. 

DONALD MCINTOSII, 
Lt. <f' A. D. Q. M. 

(Indorsed:) E. No. 669, B'k 82, R.l56. 
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